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Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (Chairman)
(Ms. So Tsz Kwan as his alternate for the period from 14 September 2023
to 14 October 2023)

Mr. Lam Wai Tong (former Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned with effect from 20 January 2024)

Non-executive Director
Ms. So Tsz Kwan CPA
(appointed with effect from 25 September 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau CPA (Australia)
Mr. Liu Ying Shun crA

Ms. Dong Jian Mei

Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond
(appointed with effect from 20 January 2024)

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi FCPA (Practising), ACA, FCG, HKFCG

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi
Ms. So Tsz Kwan

(appointed with effect from 20 January 2024)
Mr. Lam Wai Tong

(resigned with effect from 20 January 2024)

Audit Committee

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Ying Shun

Ms. Dong Jian Mei

Nomination Committee
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau
Ms. Dong Jian Mei

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Ms. Dong Jian Mei
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Moore CPA Limited (formerly known as Moore Stephens CPA Limited)
Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditors

registered in accordance with

the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

LEGAL ADVISOR
Patrick Chu, Conti Wong Lawyers LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

THE CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A

Block 3, Building D, P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court, Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100, Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit D, 7/F, KC100

100 Kwai Cheong Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
932

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.shunten.com.hk
(the contents of which do not form part of this report)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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2024 2023 Change
e ST = a1
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#T T# 7T
Results — Continuing Operations ¥ — FHRREEY
Revenue Wi 4
— Health and beauty supplements and — fRAE S Al
products business JEE i S 230,580 215,920 +6.8%
— Property investment business — WA GRS 5,006 207 +2,318.4%
Total st 235,586 216,127 +9.0%
Gross profit EAF 184,212 166,310 +10.8%
Gross profit margin (%) E K (%) 78.2% 77.0% +1.2%
Results — Continuing and #EH — FHERER
Discontinued Operations DA IR
Profit for the year 4F 1A ¥ ) 518 40,753 —98.7%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company A/ @l #E AT A JE AL Vs Al 571 41,036 -98.6%
Adjusted profit for the year attributable to AN A A N A AR A
owners of the Company R R s ) ([ 8
(the “Adjusted Net Profit”)* BRI ) = 15,571 24,847 -37.3%
Financial Position R L
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KRB a5 EY 12,700 13,108 -3.1%
Net assets B R 171,608 143,410 +19.7%
Total equity attributable to owners of the EN/NGIE? XN ALY
Company Fska] 172,887 146,007 +18.4%
Number of shares in issue (in thousands) BT B (T 3,107,893 3,107,893 Nil
Net assets per share (HK$) g [ G T () 0.06 0.05 +20.0%
The adjustment process of Adjusted Net Profit: AR R R B R R R
2024 2023
R SECEAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company AR A R N AF A i 571 41,036
Adjustments: e
Government subsidies R Al Bl — (3,758)
Gain on disposal of equity instruments at fair value B R A EFE AR G A RE AR TR
through profit or loss Wi 4 — (531)
Fair value change of investment properties BEWEZ N TEET 15,000 (11,900)
Adjusted Net Profit FSEER eI ] 15,571 24,847
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The Adjusted Net Profit is arrived at by deducting the non-recurring items including the
government subsidies and gain on disposal of equity instruments at fair value through
profit or loss and unrealised item relating to the fair value change of investment properties.
The management of the Group considers that these adjusted items are not related to our
daily operations and does not track such adjusted items as key operating or financial
metrics internally when reviewing our performance. Therefore, by eliminating the impacts
of such items in the calculation of Adjusted Net Profit, it could better reflect our
underlying operating performance and could better facilitate the comparison of operating

performance from year to year.

The Adjusted Net Profit is not the measures of performance under Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”). These measures do not represent, and should not be used
as substitutes for, net profit or cash flows from operations as determined in accordance
with HKFRSs. These measures are not necessarily an indication of whether cash flow will
be sufficient to fund our cash requirements. In addition, our definitions of these measures

may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies.
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS
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Board lot size

4,000 shares

As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2024:

* Shares outstanding
* Market capitalisation

* Closing share price

» Latest time for lodging transfer documents for

3,107,893,440 shares
HK$180,257,820
HK$0.058

4:30 pm, 27 August 2024

registration in order to qualify for attending

and voting at 2024 annual general meeting

* Closure of register of members
for 2024 annual general meeting

* 2024 annual general meeting

Address

Telephone
Fax
E-mail
Website

28 August 2024—
2 September 2024
2 September 2024

: Unit D, 7/F, KC100, 100 Kwai Cheong Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

1 (852) 3700 7300
1 (852) 3700 7301
. ir@shunten.com.hk

: www.shunten.com.hk

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of

name or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in

writing to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address

Telephone
Fax
E-mail
Website

. 17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

1 (852) 2980 1333
1 (852) 2810 8185
: is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com

: http://www.tricoris.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Shunten
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased to present to
you the annual report of the Company together with its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

During the Reporting Period, our healthcare business in Hong Kong has
witnessed a steady growth in revenue, driven by the surge in demand for our
products following the complete opening of borders in Hong Kong and
mainland China and the series of activities such as the “Night Vibes Hong
Kong” launched by the Hong Kong Government to revitalise the economy.
Our total revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period reached HK$235.6
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.0% from HK$216.1 million.
Even though the Hong Kong retail market is recovering gradually,
unfavourable conditions including the global rise in interest rate, the
continuous slump of the local stock and property markets, the weakened
consumer sentiment of local consumers coupled with the increase in operating
costs and penetration of new market competitors have put pressure on our
pricing strategies and profit margins, which weighed on our operating results

for the Reporting Period.

Health is the foundation of wealth. With the aim of embracing our mission of
“Being the Guardian of Your Health” to better serve our customers, the Group
will continue to pursue the initiative in strengthening the research and
development of high-quality healthcare products. We recognise the importance
of continuous innovation and meeting the needs of both local Hong Kong and
mainland China consumers. With this in mind, we are investing in research
and development to introduce a diverse range of new products that cater to the

evolving demands of our target markets.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to develop and enhance its core
business in the health and beauty supplement segment. Also, the Group is
taking proactive steps to diversify and expand its existing core business
geographically in order to maximise shareholders’ returns. We believe that
customer spending in the mainland China is ripe for growth. In order to tap
into the mainland China market, we have formally established a flagship store
on Tmall in June 2024, and in the progress of establishing a e-shop in
Douyin, both of which are popular cross-border e-commerce platforms in
Mainland China. We believe that this expansion will enable us to reach a
larger consumer base and capitalise on the immense potential that the

mainland China market offers.

Customer satisfaction is our top priority. In June 2024, we have introduced a
dedicated customer loyalty membership program mobile application to offer a
comprehensive digital service experience to our customers. Members will be
able to conveniently check their point balances, learn about the latest
promotional activities, and manage their point redemption through the mobile
app. This will significantly enhance the member usage experience and boost

their engagement towards promotion activities.

In terms of research, development and production, the Group will continue to
strengthen the research and development of high-quality and innovative health
and beauty supplements and products, enrich the product lines and improve
product quality. The Royal Medic Research and Development Centre
established by the Group will continue to support the research and
development of new products and upgrade our existing products. This is to
ensure that the Group is always ahead of its competitors in terms of product

quality and innovation.

Our success in navigating these challenging times would not have been
possible without the dedication and hard work of our employees. I extend my
heartfelt gratitude to the Board, the management team, our frontline staff and
colleagues for their dedication to enable the Group to forge ahead in the
highly competitive market. I also express sincere appreciation to our
shareholders, customers, business partners and suppliers for their continuous

trust and support to the Group.

Cheung Siu Fai
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution of
health and beauty supplements and products and property investment in Hong

Kong.

The Group’s revenue recorded an increase by approximately 9.0% or
approximately HK$19.5 million to approximately HK$235.6 million for the
Reporting Period as compared to approximately HK$216.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023. Overall, the Group generated a profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$0.6 million (2023: HK$41.0
million). Despite for the non-recurring items in respect of government
subsidies and gain on disposal of equity instruments at fair value through
profit or loss and the unrealised item in respect of the fair value change of
investment properties, the Group recorded an Adjusted Net Profit of
approximately HK$15.6 million (2023: HK$24.8 million).

Market overview

In February 2023, the border between Hong Kong and mainland China has
been fully reopened, the tourism and retail industries in Hong Kong have been
rebounding. With reference to the Hong Kong Tourism Board, the total visitor
arrivals in the Reporting Period recorded a significant increase of 715% to
approximately 40,814,000 as compared to 5,008,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023, of which tourists from mainland China accounted for a
considerable portion. Although the tourist arrivals and the consumption
spending of the tourists have not fully recovered to the pre-pandemic levels,
the increase in number of tourists show a sign of improvement in the Hong

Kong economy.

To stimulate the post-pandemic economic recovery, the Hong Kong
Government has launched a series of promotional activities, including the
“Night Vibes Hong Kong” as well as the new rounds of consumption voucher
schemes in April 2023 and July 2023, which increased visitor arrivals to
Hong Kong and boosted the consumption sentiment of local residents, thus
fostering a gradual improvement in the overall business environment of Hong
Kong. However, global inflation, fierce market competition and changes in
consumer consumption patterns of local customers and tourists undoubtedly

pose various challenges to the retail industry.

According to the statistics from the Census and Statistics Department of Hong
Kong, the overall retail sales in Hong Kong recorded a growth of 9.6% for the
Reporting Period as compared to the year ended 31 March 2023. This
demonstrated the gradual stabilization and recovery of the Hong Kong retail

industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PH R W w52 00

Health and beauty supplements and products business

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products are sold under the
proprietary brands developed and managed by the Group and a private label
brand specifically developed for and owned by a renowned retail chain of
health and beauty products in Hong Kong and Macau. The major proprietary
brands include “Royal Medic”, “Legend”, “MeltyEnz”, “CleansingEnz”, “La
Gusto”, “HARUKA” and “Mr. 757, and the major private label brand is
“Health Proof”. The Group mainly sells and distributes its products through a
renowned local retail chain distributor, our special designated counters, the
Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo and our own e-commerce online

platform.

In terms of marketing, in addition to Ms. Michelle Yim Wai Ling (KZ5) and
Mr. Michael Miu Kiu Wai (¥ fff%) who are the existing spokespersons of
“Royal Medic” brand, the Group has invited Mr. Hins Cheung (5R#{%F), a
popular idol singer who has been famous in the Hong Kong’s entertainment
business for more than 20 years, to be the spokesperson of newly launched
nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) product of the Group. Mr. Hins Cheung
is well-known for his positive image and pursuance of quality, which is in
line with our mission of manufacturing and providing high quality healthcare
products to the public. Mr. Hins Cheung also has a fanbase with wide age
groups that range from 20 to 60 years old, which will undoubtedly help to
attract customers from different ages. Besides, the Group will continue to
strengthen its promotion plans to reshape the brand image of “Royal Medic”
and capture the market of young consumers of healthcare products ahead of

other competitors.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has increased the intensity to promote
our brands and products through social media platforms including Facebook,
Instagram, YouTube and Xiaohongshu and make commercial advertisements
on the major television channels in Hong Kong. The management of the
Group believes that the advertising and promotion activities will help to

enhance the brand image and awareness of the Group and our products.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 61 special designated counters (as at
31 March 2023: 55 special designated counters) in Hong Kong and Macau.
The Group will continue to explore the opportunities to expand our sales
channels and identify suitable locations for our special designated counters in

order to enhance the shopping experience of our customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property investment business
As at 31 March 2024, the Group continues its property investment business by

owning:

@) a 5-storey tenement building located at Sham Shui Po of Hong Kong
being occupied for commercial and residential use. The property was
purchased by the Group through acquisition of a property holding
company on 13 March 2023;

(ii)  a residential property located at mid-levels of Hong Kong. The property
was transferred from owner-occupied property to investment property
during the Reporting Period following the change in use; and

(iii) industrial properties located at Kwai Chung of Hong Kong. The
properties were transferred from owner-occupied properties to
investment properties during the Reporting Period following the change

in use.

Despite the downward valuation of the investment properties during the
Reporting Period, the Group remains committed to prudent investment
strategies in the property investment business. The Group will continue to
closely monitor the conditions of the property market in Hong Kong and
implement appropriate strategic initiatives to optimise the performance of the
investment properties with the aim to deliver sustainable returns in the years
ahead.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Revenue
The revenue of the Group represents income from sales of health and beauty
supplements and products business and property investment business. An

analysis of revenue is as follows:

L&
A G 0 B A AR 1 S DR B 5 Al i 2
ST LA W) BB S RO o AR BTN

For the year ended 31 March
MEZA=Z+—HIEFE

2024 2023
Ry —E A
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T T

Continuing operations R R
Health and beauty supplements and products R A T 55 5 Al i B i 230,580 215,920
Property investment WERE 5,006 207
Total revenue A 235,586 216,127

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business in Hong
Kong has witnessed a steady growth of approximately 6.8% increase in
revenue from approximately HK$215.9 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$230.6 million for the Reporting Period, which was
driven by (i) the recovery of the tourism industry in Hong Kong following
gradual easing of the travel restrictions which was taken place from February
2023; (ii) the new rounds of consumption voucher schemes in April 2023
and July 2023 launched by the Hong Kong Government which led to
improvements in retail market sentiment; (iii) the reopening of special
designated counters located at the immigration control points including the
Hong Kong International Airport and cross border regions such as Lok Ma
Chau mass transit railway station; and (iv) the increased intensity in
advertising activities to enhance brand recognition and products promotion to

the general public.

Revenue from the property investment business increased by 24 times from
approximately HK$0.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$5.0 million for the Reporting Period. This change primarily
reflected the full year rent received from the 5-storey tenement building
located at no. 127 Kweilin Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong during the Reporting
Period as compared to the rent received for half month after the completion of
acquisition of the property holding company on 13 March 2023 which holds

the relevant property in the corresponding period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of sales

The cost of sales from continuing operations increased by approximately
HK$1.6 million or 3.2% to approximately HK$51.4 million for the Reporting
Period (2023: HK$49.8 million). The increase was mainly due to the rise of
revenue for the Reporting Period. The gross profit margin remained relatively
stable with a slightly increase of 1.2% to 78.2% for the Reporting Period
(2023: 77.0%).

Other income, gains or losses

The other income, gains or losses from continuing operations decreased by
59.0% to approximately HK$1.6 million for the Reporting Period (2023:
HK$3.9 million). The decrease was mainly due to the absence of one-off
subsidies under Employment Support Scheme of the Hong Kong Government
during the Reporting Period as compared to one-off subsidies of
approximately HK$3.8 million recorded during the year ended 31 March
2023.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses from continuing operations of the Group
increased by 15.0% to approximately HK$54.5 million for the Reporting
Period (2023: HK$47.4 million). The increase was primarily due to the
increase in commission expenses to promoters as a result of the Group’s

progressive commission policy.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses from continuing operations of the Group
increased by 21.7% to approximately HK$103.8 million for the Reporting
Period (2023: HK$85.3 million). The increase was mainly due to the increase
in rent from special designated counters located at the stores of a renowned
retail chain distributor which is in line with the growth in revenue from the
special designated counters as the rent calculation is related to the gross sale

proceeds from special designated counters.

Fair value change of investment properties

The Group recorded a fair value loss of investment properties of
approximately HK$15.0 million during the Reporting Period (2023: fair value
gain of approximately HK$11.9 million) as a result of the recent deterioration
of property market condition in Hong Kong. The investment properties were
fair-valued by reference to the valuation reports prepared by Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent professional qualified valuer not
connected with the Group.
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Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs from continuing operations for the Reporting
Period amounting to approximately HK$7.8 million (2023: HK$5.0 million)
represented interest on bank borrowings amounting to approximately HK$5.7
million (2023: HK$3.3 million), interest on other borrowings amounting to
approximately HK$0.2 million (2023: HK$1.4 million), interest on amount due
to a shareholder amounting to approximately HK$1.3 million (2023: HK$0.2
million) and interest on lease liabilities amounting to approximately HK$0.6
million (2023: HK$0.1 million). The increase in finance costs was mainly due
to the increase in new bank borrowings and amount due to a shareholder
during the Reporting Period in relation to financing the acquisition of a
property holding company completed on 13 March 2023 which holds an
investment property located in Hong Kong.

Taxation

Taxation from continuing operations for the Reporting Period amounting to
approximately HK$4.1 million (2023: HK$2.6 million) comprises the current
tax of approximately HK$3.7 million (2023: HK$4.6 million), overprovision in
respect of prior years in the amount of approximately HK$0.4 million (2023:
HKS$2.0 million) and the deferred tax expense of approximately HK$0.8
million (2023: deferred tax credit of approximately HK$0.03 million). The
overall increase in taxation was principally due to the net effect of the
decrease in current tax which is in line with the overall decrease in taxable
operating profits of subsidiaries of the Company; the decrease in
overprovision of Hong Kong profits tax as compared to the previous year; and
the increase in deferred tax expense from accelerated tax depreciation for the
Reporting Period.

Profit for the year and Adjusted Net Profit

As a result of the above factors, the Group recorded a profit for the Reporting
Period from continuing operations of approximately HK$0.5 million (2023:
HK$41.2 million) and the Adjusted Net Profit of approximately HK$15.6
million (2023: HK$24.8 million).

The Adjusted Net Profit is arrived at by deducting the non-recurring items
including the government subsidies and gain on disposal of equity instruments
at fair value through profit or loss and unrealised item relating to the fair
value change of investment properties. The Group’s management considers
that these adjusted items are not related to our daily operations and does not
track such adjusted items as key operating or financial metrics internally when
reviewing our performance. Therefore, by eliminating the impacts of such
items in the calculation of adjusted profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company, it could better reflect our underlying operating performance
and could better facilitate the comparison of operating performance from year
to year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Adjusted Net Profit is not the measures of performance under HKFRSs.
These measures do not represent, and should not be used as substitutes for, net
profit or cash flows from operations as determined in accordance with
HKFRSs. These measures are not necessarily an indication of whether cash
flow will be sufficient to fund our cash requirements. In addition, our
definitions of these measures may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures used by other companies.

As at 31 March 2024, the intangible assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$16.3 million (2023: HK$7.4 million). Intangible assets

mainly include computer softwares and club membership.

As at 31 March 2024, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$12.7 million (2023: HK$13.1 million) and the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was approximately
0.5 times as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 0.5 times). The Group’s gearing ratio,
representing total borrowings (including bank and other borrowings and
amount due to a shareholder) divided by total equity, was approximately
79.8% as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 111.3%). In view of the Group’s current
level of cash and bank balances, funds generated internally from operations
and the unutilised banking facilities available, the Board is confident that the
Group will have sufficient resources to meet its financial needs for its
operations. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had unutilised general banking
facilities of approximately HK$40 million (2023: HK$20 million).

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The management of the Group reviews the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of
this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and appropriate. The Group also
monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio. The Group’s overall

strategy remains unchanged throughout the Reporting Period.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 247 employees (2023: 276). For the
Reporting Period, staff costs including directors’ remuneration from continuing

operations were approximately HK$78.8 million (2023: HK$72.1 million).

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in the
form of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with reference to
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance
of the Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses, which are
necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group
or executing their functions in relation to the operations of the Group. In
addition, the Company adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible participants, the particulars of which are set out in the
sections headed “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” to the report of
the directors and in the note 40 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report. The Group regularly reviews and determines
the remuneration and compensation package of the Group’s Directors and
senior management, by reference to, among other things, market level of
salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the

Group’s Directors and the performance of the Group.

The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business growth and
also recognises its employees as its valuable assets. The Group considers that
it is crucial to maintain a competitive remuneration package and fringe
benefits for our potential and existing employees. In this regard, the Group
provides comprehensive remuneration package includes salary, discretionary
bonuses and other cash subsidies to attract, motivate and retain appropriate
and suitable employees to serve the Group. In general, the Group determines
employee salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position and
seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of our decisions with
respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions. The Group also provides
on-the-job training and development opportunities to enhance its employees’

career development and learning.

The Group is committed to providing high-quality products and services to its
customers. Through on-site visits and major customers satisfaction surveys, the
Group reaches out for its existing and prospective customers to understand
their needs and collect their feedback for identifying areas of improvement

and advancing the Group to achieve excellence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group values mutually beneficial long-term relationships with its
suppliers. Their steady supply of raw materials and products in high quality
are crucial for the Group. The Group is committed to developing stable and

sustainable partnership among its suppliers.

The Group has kept pace with market development trends of the health and
beauty supplements industry by improving the operational efficiency and
market responsiveness through optimization on the internal workflow of the
Group and implementation of effective operating and marketing strategies to
better meet customer needs and further consolidate its market position in the
health and beauty supplements and products industry. The Group will continue
to focus on reshaping its existing brands and launching new products in order

to capture the market of new customers from different ages and gender.

To capitalise on market opportunities and cater to evolving consumer needs,
we will further expand our business through the cross-border e-commerce
platforms to capture customers from mainland China. In June 2024, we have
formally established a flagship store on Tmall. We believe that the cross-
border e-commerce platform will help us to reach a broader spectrum of
customers in the mainland China market and capitalize on the immense

potential that the mainland China market offers.

To cope with the trend of global digitalisation, the Group is also actively
investing in information technology tools to improve work efficiency, which
not only reduces costs but also improves the Group’s ability to respond to the
ever-changing changes in the market. In June 2024, the Group has officially
launched a new customer relationship management system and a new App for
members of our customer loyalty membership program, the “RM Club”, which
offer a comprehensive digital service experience to our customers. Members
will be able to check their point balances and manage their point redemption
through the mobile app conveniently. On the other hand, the new App will
help the management of the Group to understand the customers base more
effectively through data analysis, which help to facilitate the Group to
establish a more inseparable customer relationship. The Group’s management
believes that the new App will help us to thoroughly understand the
consumption characteristics of customers, which is essential for us to
formulate more targeted marketing strategies and product development

proposals to enhance the profitability of the Group.
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In terms of research and development, the Royal Medic Research and
Development Centre (the “R&D Centre”) which is located at the Hong Kong
Science Park has been committed to improving the quality control standard of
our existing products, assisting in the research and development of new
products and promoting academic exchange between Royal Medic and local
universities. The primary scope of business of the R&D Centre covers
chemical analysis of product ingredients, which develops rapid and accurate
ingredient testing methods utilising an advanced chemical analysis platform to
improve product safety and reliability. The high calibre product development
team that operates the R&D Centre will continue to develop new products and
upgrade the existing products to satisfy the evolving demand of our

customers.

Looking forward, in this rapid changing business environment, changes in the
consumption patterns and habits of customers have brought new opportunities
and challenges to the health and beauty supplements and products industry.
The Group will continue to forge ahead and strive to consolidate its position
in the industry. The Group is ready to grasp for new business opportunities
arising from the gradual recovery of the retail market to facilitate the steady
development of the Group and create higher and long-term value for our

shareholders.

There was no material disposal and acquisition of subsidiaries, associated

companies and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

As at 31 March 2024, there was no significant investment with a carrying

amount accounting for 5% or more of the Group’s total assets.

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the audited consolidated financial statements
in this annual report, the Group did not have significant capital commitment
as at 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy with respect to the
foreign exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases, which give rise to receivables and payables and
cash balances that are denominated in foreign currencies, other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollar (“US$”)
and Renminbi (“RMB”). In order to manage and minimise the foreign
currency risk, the Group’s management will continue to manage and monitor
the foreign currency exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented

in a timely and effective manner.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had secured bank borrowings of
approximately HK$111.0 million (2023: HK$61.7 million). The banking
facilities are secured by the Group’s leasehold land and buildings and
investment properties with carrying amount of approximately HK$7.5 million
and approximately HK$207.1 million respectively as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
leasehold land and buildings with carrying amount of approximately HK$66.1

million).

There is no other significant event occurring after the Reporting Period up to

the date of this annual report.

Based on the Group’s risk management system, the Group has examined all of
the possible risks and uncertainties that might affect the Group and considered

that the most important risks and uncertainties would include:

Regulatory risks

The health supplement industry in Hong Kong generally believes that changes
in regulatory policies and laws in respect of the monitoring and control of
food and health supplement products which include Chinese medicinal
ingredients may be proposed and implemented by the authorities concerned in
the coming years. Significant effect may impact on the future development of
health supplements as well as the food industry. If the Group fails to keep up
and comply with these changes, such factors would affect the Group’s
success.

The Group has closely monitored the regulatory changes, strengthened its
interpretation and analysis capability of regulatory policies and would adjust

strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PH R W w52 00

Prolonged economic downturn

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business is closely
related to the economic conditions of Hong Kong. Slowing economic growth
or a recession may affect consumers’ preferences and spending which in turn
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results
and financial conditions. In response to these challenges, the Group will
closely monitor the changing economic conditions and also actively implement
effective measures to control the administration and production costs. The
Group will also continue to roll out more new products and open up more
distribution channels, and diversify its business to improve the Group’s overall

performance.
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Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, aged 54, is the chairman of the Board and an executive
director of the Company. Mr. Cheung joined the Group on 24 January 2022.
Mr. Cheung holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Electronic
Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Cheung
founded Hammer Capital Group Limited in 2013. Prior to founding Hammer
Capital Group Limited, he was the director in Capital Markets of Merrill
Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited (“Merrill Lynch”). Prior to his position at
Merrill Lynch, Mr. Cheung was the Head of Strategic Equity Solutions of Asia
Pacific of Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited. Mr. Cheung had also held
key positions in various major investment banks in Asia Pacific such as
Calyon Corporate & Investment Bank (presently known as Crédit Agricole
Corporate & Investment Bank) and Jardine Fleming Holdings Limited (a
member of JPMorgan Chase & Co.).

Mr. Cheung was an executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited
(“CTEG”) between 3 August 2020 and 10 November 2020 and was appointed
as an executive director again and the chief executive officer of CTEG
between 19 April 2021 and 19 January 2022, and the shares of CTEG were
delisted from the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 10 September 2021. He is currently
the chairman and executive director of Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited
(stock code: 524), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Ms. So Tsz Kwan, aged 42, is the non-executive director of the Company.
Ms. So joined the Group on 14 September 2023. She has 19 years of
experience in audit and investment management. Since 2018, Ms. So has been
serving as a vice president at Ruima Hong Kong Limited, a company
controlled by Ms. Leung Lisa, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
which provides research and consultancy services on customized structured
financing and corporate solutions. From 2011 to 2018, Ms. So worked as a
manager, who was responsible for project management of the water sector at
NWS Infrastructure Management (HK) Limited, a subsidiary of NWS
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) (stock code: 659). She had also previously worked at Grant
Thornton and PricewaterhouseCoopers for over 6 years. Ms. So graduated
from the Hong Kong Baptist University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Business
Administration (Accounting) in 2004 and has been a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2010. Ms. So was an
independent non-executive director of the Company during the period from 24
January 2022 to 23 June 2022 and alternate director of Mr. Cheung Siu Fai,
chairman of the Board and executive Director, for the period from 14
September 2023 to 14 October 2023. She was also an independent non-
executive director of MIE Holdings Corporation (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1555) during the period
from 31 August 2021 to 4 April 2022.
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Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, aged 38, is an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. He joined the
Company on 24 October 2016 and was appointed as the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company on 6 December 2016. Mr. Leung is currently a
senior director of Global Business Development at TMF Group, a leading
global services provider of high-value business services to clients operating
and investing globally. Before joining TMF Group, he served as the financial
controller of an international investment management company focusing on the
market of the Greater China. Mr. Leung has worked for different international
audit firms including KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers over the past eight
years from October 2008. Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Commerce (Accounting and Finance) from Monash University in Australia in
2008 and has been a member of the CPA Australia since 2011.

Mr. Liu Ying Shun, aged 40, is an independent non-executive director, a
member of the audit committee and the chairman of the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Liu joined the Company
on 1 July 2022 and was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company on 14 September
2022. He has more than 15 years of experience in the field of audit and
assurance. He founded Zhong Pu Risk Management Limited (“Zhong Pu”), a
company which provides business advisory, consultancy and taxation services
for clients ranging from private entities to listed companies in Hong Kong, in
2017 and has been serving as a director at Zhong Pu since then. Mr. Liu has
been serving as independent non-executive director for MIE Holdings
Corporation (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
(stock code: 1555) since August 2021 and Magnus Concordia Group Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code:
1172) since November 2022. Since November 2019, Mr. Liu has also been
serving as the company secretary of Polyfair Holdings Limited (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 8532). Prior to founding
Zhong Pu, Mr. Liu worked as an assurance manager and senior associate at
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2014 to 2016 and 2010 to 2012, respectively, a
finance manager at Wong’s Kong King International (Holdings) Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 532)
from 2012 to 2013, and also at Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA
Limited (an accounting firm which has since merged into BDO Limited) from
2006 to 2009, with his last position as a senior associate. Mr. Liu obtained a
Bachelor of Business Administration from Lingnan University in Hong Kong
and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.
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Ms. Dong Jian Mei, aged 50, is an independent non-executive director and a
member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Dong joined the Company on 1
July 2022. Ms. Dong has approximately 26 years of experience in the field of
natural resources economics and business management. Since January 1996,
Ms. Dong has been working as a researcher at the Chinese Academy of Land
& Resource Economics (' T &AW S BE) and was mainly
responsible for researching on the reform and development of the national
geological exploration industry and management of geological data. In 2018,
she has received a Certificate of Senior Qualification issued by the Chinese
Academy of Land & Resource Economics. Ms. Dong obtained a Bachelor of
Economics and a Master of Economics from Renmin University of China (1
B N BRKE) in 2004 and 2011 respectively. Ms. Dong has also obtained a
Certificate of Accounting Professional in the PRC in 1999.

Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond, aged 56, is the chief executive officer of the
Company. He has extensive managing experience in food and beverage
business. Mr. Yeung joined the Company as the deputy chief executive officer
on 25 September 2023 and has been redesignated as the chief executive
officer of the Company since 20 January 2024. Mr. Yeung is mainly
responsible for the overall strategic planning and operations of the Group’s
business. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yeung has worked as a restaurants
manager of a private club managed by a renowned property developer in Hong
Kong from 1995 to 2017. Thereafter, Mr. Yeung joined another private club as
club manager, which is currently operated by Darcy & Liz Limited and he has
worked as a general manager of such company since 2020. Darcy & Liz
Limited is a company controlled by Ms. Leung Lisa, a substantial shareholder

of the Company. Mr. Yeung is a cousin of Ms. Leung Lisa.
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Ms. Chan Yuk Chi, aged 37, is the chief financial officer of the Group and
the company secretary and authorized representative of the Company. Ms.
Chan joined the Group on 3 April 2018 and being appointed as company
secretary and authorized representative of the Company with effect from 21
October 2021 and chief financial officer of the Group with effect from 1
January 2024. She is responsible for overseeing the accounting, financial
reporting and management, treasury, corporate governance matters and
company secretarial affairs of the Group. Ms. Chan has over 15 years of
professional experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and
company secretarial matters. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Chan worked in
an international audit firm from June 2008 to April 2018 and her last position
was audit manager. During her time as an external auditor, Ms. Chan was
responsible for various audit of listed companies, merger and acquisition and
initial public offering assignments. Ms. Chan is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) registered under the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council
Ordinance (Cap.588), fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. She is also a Chartered Secretary, a
Chartered Governance Professional and a fellow member of both The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom. Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in accounting from Lingnan University in 2008 and a
Master of Corporate Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2020.

Mr. Tsang Chi Wai Rock, aged 60, is the chief compliance officer of the
Company. He is responsible for overseeing the compliance function of the
Group. Mr. Tsang joined the Group on 3 May 2022. Mr. Tsang obtained a
master degree in professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2001. Mr. Tsang is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tsang has over 30 years’
experience in the accounting and finance sector including an international

accounting firm and companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. Wong Suet Yin, aged 44, is the marketing director of the Company. Ms.
Wong joined the Group on 16 May 2022 and is responsible for the promotion
and marketing of the Group’s product brands, which include “Royal Medic”
and “Legend”. Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience in public relations
and has worked for a number of reputed state-owned and Hong Kong listed
companies in planning and facilitating investor and media relations and
coordinating a number of large-scale corporate events. Ms. Wong also has
extensive experience in marketing, having coordinated and implemented large-
scale marketing and promotional events, brand launches, media campaigns and
online celebrity collaborations for various well-known brands, banks and

organisations.

Ms. Yeung Wun Ting, aged 41, is the commercial director of the Group. Ms.
Yeung joined the Group on 1 June 2022, and she is responsible for key
accounts and developing new and potential business channels. Ms. Yeung
worked for a few well-known and branded department stores for over 13
years, and she has extensive experience in managing retail business &
operations, initiating sales and marketing campaigns, coordinating a number of
broad-scale refurbishment projects and bringing in new and affordable brands
mixes to target customers. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yeung has worked
as a Business Development Manager in a popular food & beverage company
which operates as a chain store in Hong Kong from mid 2019 to mid 2022.
She has rich experience in planning and implementing multiple new business

channels and activities for different brands in the Company.

Mr. Fung Chin Yeung, aged 36, is the production & supply chain director of
the Group. Mr. Fung joined the Group on 28 May 2012, and he is responsible
for overseeing and leading all levels of supply chain functions. Mr. Fung
holds a Bachelor of Science in Food and Nutritional Sciences Programme and
a Master of Science in Operation and Supply Chain Management, and he is a
member of the Beta Gamma Sigma, the International Business Honor Society.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fung worked in a well-known food company
from 2010 to 2012, and he was responsible for quality management. Mr. Fung
has over 12 years of experience in research and development, procurement,

production and quality assurance, in food and Chinese medicine industry.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) present the report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution of
health and beauty supplements and products and property investment in Hong
Kong. Except for the newly engaged property investment business during the
Reporting Period, there was no other significant change in nature of the
Group’s principal activities. The principal activities of its major subsidiaries
are detailed in note 41 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March 2024 as required by
the Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group and indication of likely future development of the Group’s
business, the material factors underlying its results and financial position, are
provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 9 to 20
and “Chairman’s Statement” from pages 7 to 8 respectively, particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of
the financial year ended 31 March 2024, if any, can also be found in the
abovementioned sections and the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”, the outlook of the Company’s business is discussed throughout
this annual report including the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, all these sections form part of

this report of the Directors.

The Group is committed to sustainable development and delivering our high
quality products in a manner that minimal impact is created by our business
activities to the environment. The Company has engaged professional advisers
to review and advise on the environmental, social and governance policies of
the Group, and the Group has committed to formulate, review and evaluate the
performance of its environmental protection policies from time to time. More
details on the relevant policies and the performance of the Group are
disclosed in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” from pages

78 to 121 of this annual report.
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Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are set
out in note 41 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the results and the state of affairs of the
Group are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report on pages 128 to 129.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil) in accordance
with the dividend policy of the Company.

For the Entitlement of the Attendance of 2024 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
28 August 2024 to Monday, 2 September 2024 (both dates inclusive), for the
purpose of determining the eligibility of shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Monday, 2 September 2024 (the “2024 AGM”), during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the 2024 AGM, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates of the Company must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
agent, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 27 August
2024.

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past
five financial years is set out on page 248 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the

Group in this annual report.

Segment information of the Group are set out in the section headed “Business

s

Review” and note 6 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.

28 Annual Report 2023/2024 4 $t

MEZPEZH = —H o AN T EA
AR R R O AN AE IR SE A AR A RS IR 3 M
41 o

WE T PAE=A = —HIREE  AREEN
S 4 B ZE IR DL F AR A R A 3 A A B
FKH128F129H

MEAANFAMBREBR  EFGF(HEREG A
EHREEE F NWE=A =+ —HILEF
ZARMEE (TF AR )

S 2 Y AR R RO AR R T B A
T 7R S AR R R (TBESR )t R A 28 /K s —
T VUAEJLA ZH (B —) 247 0 BERGE AE R
fr ([ A B4 K ) IR & - B 5
B > AN R IR & ZmaE N =+ H
(BM=) B 2F WA ZH (B—) (52
WA AEAE ) B P S T4 e B
ﬁﬁéﬁ R R U DU AR G SR AR K &I
e EARTE s T B 2 R T R ] AR )
BB AR ANA B H (R
Bl I N o L) Rl TR = = 7 N/ 73 o
W RO R AR SR R BRA E > Hhhk A
8 LR 1655 T B PO 174 o

A SR L A0 2 I A S A Q% R B
BRI 248 H o LML AR A 4 1Y
REFML AR A MBS R I — 5 o

A S T 119 70 V0 R O A A i [ S (o] R ) — B
Lo R W B WA B R R M 6 o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, some owner-occupied properties of the
Group were reclassified to investment properties to reflect the change in use
of such properties. The reclassification has led to a change in fair value of the
properties which has been credited to other comprehensive income and
classified under the property revaluation reserve in equity. The change in use
of such properties has resulted in an addition of net carrying amount from
ordinary operating activities which were conducted in the Group’s ordinary
and usual course of business with independent third parties. Details of
movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment properties of
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in notes 18 and
17 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 31 to the audited consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company passed on 24 September
2013, the Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme, which took
effect on 11 October 2013 (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”). In light of the
amendments to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) relating to share schemes of listed issuers with
effect from 1 January 2023, a new share option scheme was approved by the
Shareholders at its annual general meeting held on 13 September 2023 and
adopted by the Company upon a listing approval from the Stock Exchange on
27 September 2023 (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) in replacement of the
2013 Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no share option was granted,
exercised, cancelled, lapsed or outstanding under the 2013 Share Option

Scheme and the 2023 Share Option Scheme.
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A summary of the 2013 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share Option

Scheme are as follows:

Summary of the 2013 Share Option Scheme
Purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme

To motivate the eligible participants to optimise their performance and

1

30

efficiency for the benefit of the Group.

Participants of the 2013 Share Option Scheme
Eligible participants of the 2013 Share Option Scheme include:

()

(b)

(©)

(a)

(b)

any director, employee or officer of any company in the Group
(whether full time or part time) (“Employee”), consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds

an interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or

the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include any
director, Employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an
Affiliate; or

a company beneficially owned by any director, Employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,

adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

The number of share options available for grant under the mandate
of the 2013 Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2023 and
31 March 2024 were 256,491,120 and nil, respectively.

There was no service provider sublimit under the 2013 Share

Option Scheme.
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(c) The number of shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31 March 2024 divided by the weighted average
number of shares of the relevant class in issue for the year was

nil.

(d)  As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the 2013 Share Option Scheme was nil
and the percentage of the issued shares that it represents was not

applicable.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme:

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue of the
Company in any 12-month period. Any grant of further share options
above this limit shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders at

general meeting.

Period within which the share option may be exercised by the grantee
under the 2013 Share Option Scheme:

A period to be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee,
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of such share

option.

Vesting period of share options granted under the 2013 Share Option
Scheme:

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and notified to the grantee,
there is no minimum period for which a share option must be held

before it can be exercised.

Price payable on application or acceptance of the share option and
the period within which payments or calls must or may be made or
loans for such purposes must be repaid:

HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted. The period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans for such purposes

must be repaid was not applicable.
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Basis of determining the exercise price of options granted:

The exercise price for any share under the 2013 Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee and shall
not be less than the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the share option,

which must be a trading day;
(b)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of grant of the share option; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant of the share

option.

The 2013 Share Option Scheme was terminated on 13 September 2023.

Summary of the 2023 Share Option Scheme

1.

32

Purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme

To enable the Group to grant share options to the eligible participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and

attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
Eligible participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme include:

(a)  Employee Participants — Director(s) (excluding independent
non-executive Directors) and employee(s) (whether full time or
part time) of the Group (including persons who are granted the
share options under the 2023 Share Option Scheme as an
inducement to enter into employment contracts with any member

of the Group);
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(b)

(©)

(a)

(b)

()

(d)
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Related Entity Participants — Director(s) and employee(s) of the
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies

of the Company; and

Service Providers — person(s) who provide services to the Group
on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual
course of business which are in the interests of the long-term

growth of the Group.

The number of share options available for grant under the mandate
of the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2023 and
31 March 2024 were nil and 310,789,344, respectively.

The number of share options available for grant under the service
provider sublimit of the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at 1 April
2023 and 31 March 2024 were nil and 31,078,934, respectively.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31 March 2024 divided by the weighted average
number of shares of the relevant class in issue for the year was

nil.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the 2023 Share Option Scheme was
310,789,344 and the percentage of the issued shares that it

represents as was 10%.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2023 Share

Option Scheme:

The total number of issued shares which may fall to be issued upon

exercise of the share options and the share options or awards granted

under any other share scheme(s) of the Company (including both

exercised or outstanding options but excluding any share options and

awards lapsed in accordance with the scheme rules of the 2023 Share

Option Scheme) to each grantee in any 12-month period up to and

including the date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued

share capital of the Company for the time being.
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Period within which the share option may be exercised by the grantee
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme:

The share options for the time being outstanding may be exercised in
whole or in part at any time during the period which the option may be
exercised by the grantee, which shall be determined and notified by the
Board to the grantee but in any event shall not be more than 10 years

from the offer date of that share option.

Vesting period of share options granted under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme:
The vesting period for the share options shall be determined by the

Board and, in any case, shall not be less than 12 months.

Price payable on application or acceptance of the share option and
the period within which payments or calls must or may be made or
loans for such purposes must be repaid:

A non-refundable remittance of HK$1.00 shall be paid by an eligible
participant in favour of the Company on acceptance of an offer of the
share option within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).

Basis of determining the exercise price of options granted:

The subscription price in respect of any share option shall, subject to
any adjustments made in relation to any alteration in the capital
structure of the Company, be at the discretion of the Board, provided
that it shall be at least the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date, which
must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c) the nominal value of the share.

The 2023 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from

27 September 2023 unless otherwise amended or terminated.
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Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: Nil).

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles of Association”) and the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a

pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

Save as disclosed in the above respective paragraph regarding “SHARE
CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” and others, if any, as disclosed in this
annual report, there was no other equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the audited consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 132 and note 42 to the audited

consolidated financial statements in this annual report, respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Cayman
Islands’ legislation, is nil (2023: Nil).

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2024
are set out in note 27 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this

annual report.
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The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this

annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (Chairman)
(Ms. So Tsz Kwan as his alternate for the period from
14 September 2023 to 14 October 2023)

Mr. Lam Wai Tong (former Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned with effect from 20 January 2024)

Non-executive Director
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (appointed on 25 September 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Liu Ying Shun

Ms. Dong Jian Mei

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 21 to 24 of this

annual report.

Mr. Liu Ying Shun and Ms.

non-executive Directors, will retire by rotation from the Board at the 2024

Dong Jian Mei, being the independent
AGM and being eligible, offer themselves to be re-elected as Directors by the
Shareholders in the 2024 AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association
and the Listing Rules.

Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as non-executive Director with effect from
25 September 2023. Ms. So shall retire from the Board at the 2024 AGM in
accordance with Article 83(3) of Articles of Association and, being eligible,
offer herself for re-election in the 2024 AGM.
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The Company entered into service agreements with each of the executive
Directors, non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors for
a term of three years. Their terms of offices are also subject to retirement by
rotation from the Board and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing

Rules.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within

one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company received written confirmations of independence from all
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau,
Mr. Liu Ying Shun and Ms. Dong Jian Mei, respectively for the year ended
31 March 2024 pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Board and the nomination
committee of the Company considered and agreed all the current independent
non-executive Directors are independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules, as amended from time to time.

Changes in Directors’ and chief executives’ information since the date of
approval of the interim report for the six months ended 30 September 2023 of
the Company and up to the date of this annual report, which are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out

below:

. Mr. Lam Wai Tong resigned as executive Director, chief executive officer
and authorised representative of the Company with effect from
20 January 2024. Further details of his resignation are set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 22 January 2024.

. Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond has been redesignated as the chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 20 January 2024.
Further details of his new position as chief executive officer are set out

in the announcement of the Company dated 22 January 2024.
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. Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as the authorised representative and
process agent of the Company with effect from 20 January 2024.
Further details of her additional positions are set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 22 January 2024.

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other information

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified
against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in connection with their
duties. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group during the year.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the
highest emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively,
are set out in notes 10 to 11 to the audited consolidated financial statements

in this annual report, respectively.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are
set out under the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under section
headed “Board Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual

report.
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As at 31 March 2024, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which (i) are required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing

Rules were as follows:
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Interests in the shares of the Company T A2 ] JBe Ay ¥ HE A
Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
Number of Company’s issued
Name of Director Capacity/Nature Nature of interests Shares held® Share Capital*
AR
T AT A HE 25 B
HRA Sy, HEE B i Pt i e 4y W H O WA A 43 bL =
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai Interest of controlled Ordinary Shares 723,242,000 (L)* 23.27%
corporation
iR MG AR P vk T 2 s=giiliie
Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 12,952,000 (L)® 0.42%
Ha A A 2
Other Ordinary Shares 723,242,000 (S)@® 23.27%
HoAt 7 i
* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the  * AW EBREARA RN R IE=H =+ —H

Company in issue as at 31 March 2024 (i.e. 3,107,893,440 shares).
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Notes:

(1) The letters “L” and “S” denote the Director’s long and short position in the shares of

the Company respectively.

2) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosures of interests of Leading Virtue Holdings Limited (“Leading Virtue”) and
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with the Stock Exchange on 21 July 2023, 723,242,000
shares of the Company are held by Leading Virtue, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr. Cheung Siu Fai is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Leading Virtue by virtue of the SFO.

3) Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, the chairman of the Board and an executive director of the

Company, is a beneficial owner of 12,952,000 shares of the Company.

4) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosures of interests of Hammer Capital Ventures Limited (“Hammer Capital
Ventures”) and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with the Stock Exchange on 21 July 2023,
the short position of 723,242,000 shares of the Company represents the shares lent by
Leading Virtue as lender to Hammer Capital Ventures as borrower pursuant to a
securities borrowing and lending agreement. Hammer Capital Ventures is
wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr. Cheung Siu Fai is deemed to be
interested in the interest held by Hammer Capital Ventures by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above and the interests as disclosed under the section
headed “DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” below, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (i)
are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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As at 31 March 2024, the number of outstanding Share Options granted by the
Company under 2023 Share Option Scheme for the Directors to subscribe for
the shares of the Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the sections
headed “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” and in the note 40 to

the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The Company has adopted the Model Code, as amended from time to time.
Having made all specific enquiry of all Directors, all the Directors have
confirmed they have complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2024 and there is no event
of non-compliance. Employees of the Group, who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information, have been requested to comply

with provisions of the Model Code.

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the audited consolidated financial statements
in this annual report and under the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTION AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS”, if any, in this
report, no Director or any entities connected with the Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was
a party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 March 2024.
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As at 31 March 2024, according to the register of interests kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of

the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

AT ECDEZ =4 B ARIBA R TR E
I7 B B Ak 91 5 336k BT A8 A 19 M i T A
A R R E S s S AT BN B RSN A
O T REAR BAR BB G b > AT AR Rt o I 300 5 M
S XV R AR 2 B 370 w8 T R0 AN 2 ) B T 52 i A
Te R A AR 2 RIAR 358 25 T J01 55 e 491 45 336 46k T A
R RERTHMEALARESRIT

Interests in the shares of the Company AR 23 ] JBe Ay ¥ HE 2

Approximate

percentage of

interest in the

Number of Company’s issued

Names of Shareholders Capacity/Nature Nature of interests Shares held® Share Capital*

A A F

AT A HE 25 B

BRI 4 AR S, HEH il 2 1 L Jt &5 I 3 i H 0 R 43 b

Leading Virtue Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 723,242,000 (L)® 23.27%
T A A 7

Hammer Capital Ventures Other Ordinary Shares 723,242,000 (S)® 23.27%
HoAt igiilie

Ms. Leung Lisa Interest of controlled Ordinary Shares 718,804,033 (L)@ 23.13%

corporation

R £+ 3 Y T 12 R 7

Prosper Rich Investments Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 718,804,033 (L)® 23.13%

(“Prosper Rich”) =% ZSDN

38 B

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2024 (i.e. 3,107,893,440 shares).
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Notes:

[€)) The letters “L” and “S” denote the substantial shareholder’s long and short position in

the shares of the Company respectively.

(2) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosures of interests of Leading Virtue and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with the Stock
Exchange on 21 July 2023, 723,242,000 shares of the Company are held by Leading
Virtue, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr. Cheung Siu
Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Leading Virtue by virtue of the
SFO.

3) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosures of interests of Hammer Capital Ventures and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with
the Stock Exchange on 21 July 2023, the short position of 723,242,000 shares of the
Company represents the shares lent by Leading Virtue as lender to Hammer Capital
Ventures as borrower pursuant to a securities borrowing and lending agreement.
Hammer Capital Ventures is wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such,
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai is deemed to be interested in the interest held by Hammer Capital
Ventures by virtue of the SFO.

(4) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of
disclosure of interests of Prosper Rich and Ms. Leung Lisa filed with the Stock
Exchange on 20 June 2022, 718,804,033 shares of the Company are held by Prosper
Rich, a company wholly-owned by Ms. Leung Lisa. As such, Ms. Leung Lisa is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Prosper Rich by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company had not been
notified by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, save as disclosed, the Directors were not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors and their respective close
associates that compete or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such

person has or may have with the Group.
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Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of the

Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate revenue attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers and the largest customer taken together
accounted for approximately 59.5% and 58.3% of the Group’s total revenue

for the year, respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the largest supplier taken together
accounted for approximately 51.4% and 25.1% of the Group’s total purchases

for the year, respectively.

Except for the sales of products to Hammer Capital (Hong Kong) Limited as
disclosed in note 39(b) to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report, as far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their
close associates, nor those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any

beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Details of the Group’s related party transactions are set out in note 39 to the
audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The related
party transactions disclosed under note 39 to the audited consolidated financial
statements are continuing connected transactions fully exempt from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are required
to be disclosed as continuing connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed and confirmed that all the continuing connected transactions
taken place during the Reporting Period were (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better;
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the same on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole. The Board confirms that the Company has complied with the
applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had approximately 247 employees. Salaries
of employees and Directors are determined with reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group and are maintained at competitive levels and
bonuses are fixed on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include
provident fund, insurance, medical protection, subsidised educational and

training programmes as well as the Company’s 2023 Share Option Scheme.

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in the form of contributions to
Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare
fund respectively. Details are set out in note 16 to the audited consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no contributions were
forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who left the scheme prior
to vesting fully in such contributions. Hence, no forfeited contributions were
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions as described in

paragraph 26 of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make any charitable and other
donations (2023: Nil).
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Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group.
The Board reviews and monitors the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis. Any
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the

attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, save as disclosed in the “Corporate Governance Report” on page
48 of this annual report, the Company has complied with the requirements
under the memorandum of association of the Company, the Articles of
Association, the Listing Rules, the SFO, Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands and other law applicable to the Company. Details of the Company’s
compliance with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the “Corporate

Governance Report” from pages 48 to 77 of this annual report.

To protect the privacy of its employees and clients of its products and to
safeguard the interests of its employees, the Group has complied with the
requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment
Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to
disability, sex, family status, race discrimination and occupational safety

through established internal policies and/or procedures.

There is no significant event occurring after the year ended 31 March 2024

and up to the date of this annual report.
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as the independent auditor of
the Company with effect from 22 April 2022 and Moore CPA Limited
(formerly known as Moore Stephens CPA Limited) (“Moore”) was appointed
as the independent auditor of the Company on 25 April 2022 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte and was re-appointed on
13 September 2023.

Saved as disclosed above, there has been no change in the independent

auditor in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 have
been audited by Moore, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2024 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Cheung Siu Fai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s
needs. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (as amended from time to time, the “Code”) contained in
Appendix CI1 to Listing Rules. As far as the Code is concerned, during the
year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has complied with all applicable Code provisions as set out in the

Code contained in Appendix CI to the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the memorandum of association of the
Company, the Articles of Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the SFO and the Listing Rules as well as other laws applicable to the

Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties
in accordance with the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies
and practices on corporate governance; (ii) the training and the continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management of the
Companys; (iii) policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and the Directors; and (v) the compliance with the
Code and disclosure in this report, are adequate and appropriate for the
Company in light of its current corporate strategy. The Company did and will
review its corporate governance duties in light of the changing legal and

regulatory requirements as well as the Code from time to time.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors, all with
professional backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and
oversight of the Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. During
the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report, the

composition of the Board comprises the following Directors:

Current Directors
Executive Director
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (Chairman)

Non-executive Director
Ms. So Tsz Kwan'?

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Liu Ying Shun

Ms. Dong Jian Mei

Former Directors
Executive Director
Mr. Lam Wai Tong?

Alternate Director
Ms. So Tsz Kwan'

Notes:

1. Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as an alternate director of Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, the
Chairman of the Board and executive Director, for the period from 14 September 2023
to 14 October 2023 and has been appointed as non-executive Director with effect from
25 September 2023.

2. Mr. Lam Wai Tong resigned as executive Director, chief executive officer and authorised
representative of the Company with effect from 20 January 2024.

3. Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as the authorised representative and process agent of

the Company with effect from 20 January 2024.

The composition, experience, balance of skills, qualifications and diversity on
the Board are regularly reviewed by nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) to ensure that the Board retains a core of
members with longstanding and deep knowledge of the Group alongside new

Directors who bring fresh perspectives and diverse experience to the Board.
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The biographical details of all the Directors are set out under the section
headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” in this annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of
skills, expertise, experience and qualifications of the Board members. A list of
Directors identifying their roles, functions and titles is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.shunten.com.hk). The names of all the Directors did and be disclosed in

all corporate communications of the Company.

Save as disclosed above and other information disclosed in this annual report,
if any, there is no financial, business, family or other material and/or relevant

relationship between the Board members.

Directors’ Rotation and Re-election

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of
each of annual general meeting of the Company as well as each Director shall
be subject to retirement at the annual general meetings of the Company at
least once every three years under the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been the
longest in office since their last re-election in the annual general meeting of
the Company. Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy to the Board
during the year is subject to retirement at the first annual general meeting of
the Company to be held after his/her appointment by the Board and then
re-election by the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance with the

Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

Mr.

non-executive Directors, will retire by rotation from the Board at the

Liu Ying Shun and Ms. Dong Jian Mei, being the independent

conclusion of the 2024 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves to be
re-elected as Directors by the Shareholders in the 2024 AGM in accordance
with Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules.
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Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as non-executive Director with effect from
25 September 2023 for a term of 3 years. Ms. So shall retire from the Board
at the 2024 AGM in accordance with Article 83(3) of Articles of Association
and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election in the 2024 AGM.

Changes of Board Composition

Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as an alternate director of Mr. Cheung Siu
Fai, the Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and executive Director, for
the period from 14 September 2023 to 14 October 2023 and has been
appointed as non-executive Director with effect from 25 September 2023. On
27 September 2023, she obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules which has come into effect on 31 December 2023
and confirmed that she understood her obligations as a director of the
Company.

Mr. Lam Wai Tong resigned as executive Director, chief executive officer and

authorised representative of the Company with effect from 20 January 2024.

Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as the authorised representative and process
agent of the Company with effect from 20 January 2024.

Service Agreements with the Company

The Company entered into service agreements with each of the Directors for a
term of three years, respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to (i)
retirement by rotation from the Board at least once every three years at the
conclusion of annual general meeting; (ii) at least one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of
each annual general meeting; and (iii) Director(s) appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy during the year shall hold office until the conclusion of
the first annual general meeting of the Company to be held and then be
re-appointed by the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance with the
Articles of Association and/or the Listing Rules.

For any independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for
more than nine years, his/her further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting
and the papers to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will include
the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still independent and should be
re-elected under the Listing Rules. The respective appointment dates of all
independent non-executive Directors (all have served the Company less than
nine years) are set out below:

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed on 24 October 2016.
Mr. Liu Ying Shun was appointed on 1 July 2022.
Ms. Dong Jian Mei was appointed on 1 July 2022.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF % 2 B (
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company’s business to the senior management of the
Company and the delegated functions and work tasks have been formalised
and periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions, arrangements and/or contracts
entered into by the senior management of the Company and the Group. The
Board focuses its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, corporate governance, finance and the Shareholders,
including financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes in
accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts,
strategies for future growth, major financing arrangements and major
investments, corporate governance functions, risk management system, treasury
policies and fare structures. The Board has the full support of its senior

management to discharge its responsibilities.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separated and should not be

performed by the same individual.

During the year, the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO were

separately performed by different individuals.

The role of the Chairman of the Board was performed by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai
during the year. He leads the Board and ensures that the Board works

effectively.

Mr. Lam Wai Tong, a former executive director of the Company, held the
position of CEO of the Group until 20 January 2024. Mr. Yeung Wai Lok
Raymond was redesignated as the CEO in place of Mr. Lam Wai Tong since
20 January 2024. The CEO is responsible for day-to-day management of the

Company and to implement major strategies and policies of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, there has been a clear division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the CEO that the Chairman provides leadership and
is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board while
the CEO focuses on the Group’s business development, daily management and

operations generally.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board
meetings and committees of the Board, contribute to the development of
strategies and policies and make sound judgement in various aspects. They
take lead when potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent board
committee of the Company comprising all independent non-executive
Directors will be formed to advise the independent Shareholders on those
connected transactions to be approved by the independent Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are also members of various
Board Committees and devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the

Company.

Mr. Liu Ying Shun holds cross-directorship with Mr. Lam Wai Tong since
they serve on the boards of the Company and MIE Holdings Corporation (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
1555) until Mr. Lam Wai Tong resigned as executive Director, CEO and
authorised representative of the Company with effect from 20 January 2024.
However, the Company considers that such cross-directorship would not
undermine the independence of Mr. Liu Ying Shun with respect to his
directorship at the Company given that (i) Mr. Liu Ying Shun is not involved
in any day-to-day operation of the Company as an independent non-executive
director, and (ii) he has complied and followed with the Company’s guidelines
on declaration and conflicts clearances. Meanwhile, Mr. Liu Ying Shun will
act with integrity and exercise objectivity in the conduct of serving the

Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
programme for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and
understanding of the key areas of business operations and practices of the
Group as well as the general and specific responsibilities and duties of
Directors under the Articles of Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules and relevant applicable regulatory requirements in

the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from group
structure, Board procedures, business management and operation of the
Company, duties under the Listing Rules, the SFO, as well as the essence of
corporate governance and the trends in these areas, have therefore arranged for

all newly appointed Directors from the time to time.
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Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge.
The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) regularly
circulates information and materials related to roles, functions and duties of
listed company directors, business research and development, updated rules
and regulations, economic, environmental and social topics to develop and
refresh knowledge and skills of the Directors. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses provided by external bodies at the Company’s
expense. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors participated in

the following trainings:
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Training on
corporate
governance,
regulatory
development
and other
relevant topics

B -
BEERK
FC At AH BA
Directors HE R 5l
Current Directors BT o
Executive Director HATHEF
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai R D W 5 e v
Non-executive Director FBAT#H
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (appointed on 25 September 2023) R E L+
(R ZFEZ=ZAFNH =7 HEZAT) v
Independent Non-executive Directors WL TEF
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BEEUES A v
Mr. Liu Ying Shun B 9 I S A= v
Ms. Dong Jian Mei HEEL L v
Former Directors WE#HE
Executive Director HAITHEE
Mr. Lam Wai Tong (resigned on 20 January 2024) MREETE S
(= FZPFE—H 1 HGHT) v
Alternate Director B
Ms. So Tsz Kwan [ R
(alternate to Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, the Chairman and (R ZFEZ=AEA A E ZF ==
executive Director, for the period from A P H R 2 2 AT R DR
14 September 2023 to 14 October 2023) B2 B F) N/A K78
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v reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the economy, latest changes and

development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices, etc.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records
on an annual basis, and such records are maintained by the Company
Secretary for regular review by the Nomination Committee. The training
records of the Directors were reviewed by the Nomination Committee in June
2024.

Board and Board Committees Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings and meet at other times as and
when required. All Directors have full and timely access to relevant
information of the Company and may take independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance with the approved

procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the meeting. For other Board and committees of the Board (“Board

Committee(s)””) meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

The draft agendas for Board and Board Committees meetings are prepared by
the Company Secretary and approved by the Chairman and Board Committees.
Directors are advised to inform the Chairman and Board Committees or the
Company Secretary not less than one week before the relevant Board and
Board Committees meeting if they wish to include a matter in the agenda of
the meeting. The agendas together with Board and Board Committees papers
are sent at least three days before the intended date of the Board and Board
Committees meeting. To facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors
and Committee members are free to have access to the management for
enquiries and to obtain further information and have unrestricted access to the

advice and services of the Company Secretary when required.
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The Chairman has encouraged all Directors to make full and active
contributions to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. He
has promoted a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of independent non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors. Accordingly, the Board operates in a functional manner with clearly

defined objectives, strategies and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best
interests of the Company and have particularly regard to the interest of the
Shareholders as a whole. Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare
the nature and extent of their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement,
contract or other proposal to be considered by the Board at Board meetings.
Unless specifically permitted by the Articles of Association, a Director cannot
cast a vote on any contract, transaction, arrangement or any other proposal in

which he/she has or any of his/her close associates is materially interested.

Monthly financial and operational information is provided to the Directors by
the Company Secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the
development of the Company from time to time. Other regular and ad hoc
reports are also prepared for the Board and Board Committees, to ensure that
the Directors and member of the Board Committees are supplied with all the

requested information in a timely and appropriate manner.
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Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at meetings of the Board as

well as the general meetings of the Company during the year ended 31 March

£ o TR

WEZETIEZA S IR A g
R W Sl B AR N R IR 2 A Al R Bk

2024 are as follows: /(I
Attendance/Number of meetings
during the Directors’ tenure of office
Hi R KU AR A
Annual
general meeting Board
& ¥ RN HE
Number of Meeting(s) R 1 12
Current Directors BULESR
Executive Director AfTHEF
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (32 %t /1 10/12
Non-executive Director FEH 1T # F
Ms. So Tsz Kwan' LR N/A 3 8/8
Independent Non-executive Directors B FEHATHEF
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PEPLSE A 1/1 12/12
Mr. Liu Ying Shun B g S A 1/1 12/12
Ms. Dong Jian Mei WHEELL 1/1 12/12
Former Directors i fE 5
Executive Director AfTHEF
Mr. Lam Wai Tong? MEE T a2 1/1 2/10
Alternate Director HIL#HH
Ms. So Tsz Kwan? WRIE B L1
(alternate to Mr. Cheung Siu Fai) (RAMEIEE 2 B AT 3 ) N/AA 072
Notes: B3
1. Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed on 25 September 2023. 1. R L LR - F = S R -
2. Mr. Lam Wai Tong resigned on 20 January 2024. 2. MREEE SRR T A — ] T H BT o
3. Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as an alternate director of Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, the 3. R L R ALy IR T R D e 2

Chairman and executive Director, for the period from 14 September 2023 to

14 October 2023. A total of two board meetings were held during this period. All

board meetings held during this period were attended by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai.
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Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention in performing
their duties and responsibilities towards the Company. The high attendance
record at the Board meetings and Board committees meetings for the year
ended 31 March 2024, which was reviewed by the Nomination Committee in

June 2024, demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to the Company.

The minutes of Board and Board committees meetings are currently prepared
by the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board
and Board committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by
the Director(s) and members of Board committees or dissenting views
expressed (if any). The draft minutes are circulated to all members of the
Board and Board committees for their comment within a reasonable time after

the meeting.

Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received written annual confirmations of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024 in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
has assessed their independence and concluded that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent within the definition of the Listing

Rules and continues to consider each of them is independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensure that he/she can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make
contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies
through independent, constructive and informed comments. The Chairman held
a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence

of other Directors during the Reporting Period.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the
Directors in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved (the
“Commitments”) to the Company, all Directors have agreed to confirm/
update their Commitments to the Company in a timely manner and confirm
his/her other directorships, major appointments and interests to the Company

twice a year.
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Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance has been arranged for all Directors,
including company securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation, etc. The Company
has conducted an annual review of the Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance market and
other relevant factors. The review compared the amount of coverage against

other similar policies purchase by other companies.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings the Model Code
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding Directors’ transactions in the securities of the Company. Upon the
Company’s specific enquiry, each Director has confirmed that they have fully
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code, and there
is no event of non-compliance. Employees of the Group, who are likely to be
in possession of unpublished inside information, have been requested to

comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi is the Company Secretary since 21 October 2021. The
biographical details of Ms. Chan Yuk Chi are set out under the section headed
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT?” in this annual report.

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and is
appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of
the Board and CEO of the Company and is responsible for ensuring sound
information flow and communication among the members of the Board, senior
management and the Shareholders as well as advising the Board on corporate
governance matters. All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures as well as all

applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for the financial year ended 31 March 2024.
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As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a

total of three Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee, to oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these Board committees is governed
by its respective terms of reference (as amended from time to time) which are
available on the both websites of the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and the

Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) has been
established by the Board. It comprises a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
majority of the Audit Committee members should be independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee should be chaired by an
independent non-executive Director in compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the

Listing Rules.

As at 27 June 2024, the Audit Committee currently consists of three (3)
members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung
Winson Kwan Yau (chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Liu Ying Shun and
Ms. Dong Jian Mei. None of the members of the Audit Committee is or was

a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

Duties of Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice (if
any) in respect of financial reporting system; and oversee internal control

system and risk management system of the Company.
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Work Performed by Audit Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee held three (3)

meetings. The attendance of each member at meetings is as follows:
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FIF

Attendance/No. of
meetings during the
members tenure

of office
Name of members BB 244 PASEER IR og- €
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman) PR E () 3/3
Mr. Liu Ying Shun JB B I 5t A 3/3
Ms. Dong Jian Mei #HARL L 3/3

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Audit Committee performed,
inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to
the date of this report:

1. reviewed, approved and recommended the draft audited financial
statements and unaudited financial statements, the interim and final
dividend (if any) and the draft results announcements of the Company,
including any changes in accounting policies and practices; major
judgmental areas; compliance with accounting and auditing standards;
and compliance with the listing requirements on the Listing Rules and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting prior to

recommending them to the Board for approval.

2. reviewed, approved and recommended the report in relation to the
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness and of the internal control
system and the risk management system of the Group and the relevant

report prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.

3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by

the Group’s management.
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4. reviewed, approved and recommended the changes, re-appointment and

remuneration of the external auditor.

5. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well
as those relating to the Group’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”)
has been established by the Board. It should be chaired by an independent
non-executive Director and comprising a majority of independent

non-executive Directors in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

As at 27 June 2024, the Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
(3) members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (chairman of Remuneration Committee), Mr. Leung

Winson Kwan Yau and Ms. Dong Jian Mei.

Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all the Directors and senior management of the Group;
review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors
determine their own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board with respect to share options granted and to be
granted to Director and/or senior management of the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company. When the remuneration package of an
individual Director is under review, such Director will abstain from voting.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews and approves all matters relating to
share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Work Performed by Remuneration Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration Committee held two

(2) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:
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Attendance/No. of
meetings during the
members tenure

of office

W R

Name of members BB 244 B E AR R B
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Chairman) B ESE A () 2/2
Ms. Dong Jian Mei HEHFEL L 2/2
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PR e 2/2

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Remuneration Committee
performed, inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March
2024 and up to the date of this report:

1. reviewed, commented and/or approved the policy and structure for the

remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group.

2. reviewed, commented and approved the procedures for fixing the
remuneration packages.

3. reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages with
reference to comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions of the respective Directors and the senior

management of the Group and/or other matters.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the respective Directors’ service
agreement.
5. considered and approved the salary increment and bonus arrangement, if

any, for certain Directors and senior management of the Group.

6. revised, approved and recommended the grant of share options to senior

management/employee.
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2024 are
set out in note 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report. In addition, pursuant to the Code provision E.1.5, the annual
remuneration of the senior management of the Group by bands for the year
ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

BE T E TPAE S H S H RS
75 T 0 A AR A TR A % S A I R B R 10 @ Uit
Ah o MBS RMESCEBE L5 - 2 PI4ES
A=+ —H IR > i 0 B &4 2 A 42 18 e A
BTG 2 AR R A R

Number of individuals

Remuneration to the senior management by bands 2 s [ ) 43 =2 e A A LI S T AN B
HK$1 to HK$1,000,000 17 7T 2 1,000,000 # 7T 6
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 % 7€ % 2,000,000 % JC 2

During the Reporting Period, there were no material matters relating to the
share option schemes of the Company which required review or approval by

the Remuneration Committee.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee has been established by the Board. It should be
chaired by the Chairman or an independent non-executive Director and

comprises a majority of independent non-executive Directors.

As at 27 June 2024, the Nomination Committee currently consists of three (3)
members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu
Ying Shun (chairman of Nomination Committee), Mr. Leung Winson Kwan
Yau and Ms. Dong Jian Mei.

Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board regarding appointment of Directors and
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and to assess the independence of

each independent non-executive Director.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy, as amended from time to
time, (the “Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of Board members. The objective of the Diversity Policy stated that selection
of candidates be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, the summary

of which are set out below:

(a) With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its

sustainable development.

(b)  In order to provide Board members with diverse views and perspectives,
in designing the Board’s composition, the Company’s policy is to
consider a number of factors when deciding on the appointment and
renewal of Directors, and does not discriminate on the grounds of
gender, age, cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, job title and service term in other listed

companies.

(c)  All Board appointments did and would be based on meritocracy, and
candidates did and would be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, to achieve sustainable and balanced
development of the Group, the Board has invited female talents to join the
Group. As at 31 March 2024 and as at the date of this report, the Company
has two female Directors (representing approximately 40% of the Board
members) and three female senior management members (representing
approximately 50% of the senior management members) and as such achieved

gender diversity in respect of the Board and senior management respectively.

The Company cements its commitment to gender diversity within its business
so it continues to review and assess the appropriate level of gender diversity
and composition that aligns with the strategies of the Company. The Board is
of the view that it is not necessary to set numerical targets and timeline for
Board gender diversity for the time being as it is of the view that all aspects
of diversity should be considered as a whole in the selection of suitable

candidates for appointment to the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the following chart shows the diversity profile of A H# H > DA 8 R 518 88 BUAETRAL ~ A
the Board in terms of designation, gender and age group: T A W4 20 590 7 TH Y 3E S 2 e AL AR

Board Composition

9 AR

Designation

Tz

INED
WL IE AT

Gender
PRI

Age

50 to 59
63

505 %595

ED: Executive Director #1172 3+
NED: Non-executive Director JF #1175 5%
INED: Independent Non-executive Directors 8 37 JE .17 #
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As at the date of this report, the following chart shows the diversity profile of

the senior management in terms of gender and age group:
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Senior Management Composition

o A A B I ALK

Gender
T

Age
B

50 to 59
S50 2595 605K £ 695k

60 to 69

The same approach to gender diversity at the Board level also applies to the
Group’s workforce, including the Board members and senior management.
Among the 247 employees of the Group as at 31 March 2024, 17% are males
and 83% are females, which was in line with the industry norm. Gender
distribution in our office and production lines are more even while for the
packing workers and the frontline promoters stationed at the stores of a
distribution facilitator and the special designated counters, there are more
females than males. The Group recognises the value of gender diversity to
promote a diverse and inclusive working environment and welcomes increased
male representation at all levels. However, the Group currently does not
consider it appropriate to set any specific gender target for its workforce as
the selection of candidates should be based on the above said diversity
perspectives instead of setting an express quota or objective. Being an equal
opportunity employer, the Board monitors the gender ratio in our workforce
from time to time. The relevant diversity information in terms of gender and
age group of the workforce of the Group is disclosed in the “Environmental,

Social and Governance Report” on page 86 of this annual report.

We will continue to strive to enhance the balance of gender representation and
achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
Shareholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best
practices. We will also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting

staff at all levels.
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Work Performed by Nomination Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee held two

(2) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

184 Z RGP fT LAF
BEEZWFE=H=1+—HILFE  EHEE
GEAT T W)U o &N E R Bk RS a0
B

Attendance/No. of
meetings during the
members tenure

of office

R,

Name of members BB PASEER IR €
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Chairman) BEYENE SR () 2/2
Ms. Dong Jian Mei FEELL 212
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PP 2/2

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee
performed, inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March
2024 and up to the date of this report:

1. reviewed, assessed and commented, inter alia, the policy for the

nomination of Directors.
2. assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director.

3. sourced and recommended individuals suitably qualified, if any, to

become Board members.
4. approved and recommended to the changes in the Board composition.

5. identified and recommended those Directors to be retired by rotation from
the Board and then be re-elected as Directors in the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association

and the Listing Rules.
6. reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition of the Board

and analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with the

Diversity Policy.

68 Annual Report 2023/2024 4 $t

WEZFWE=] =+ HILFEREEAR
HHE R RE R e Y EAT
(R 4%) LT TAF -

Lo B AP R G afs) fe R
B

2. PGB AR ATE R B o

3. WO R R SR A R R () R
MHEHEME -

4. HMEREFERE R HRA T -

5. RREBALACERRAN K BRI - ffEE K AfE
JES S A ) JBE RO AR K i I AR AT S
Te AL S o

6. R MG S A 2 BB R AR
K27 Z e L BUR$ # R & 2 e LT
#r o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Nomination Policy

The Company adopted the policy for nomination of Directors (including the

nomination procedures and criteria for selection and recommendation of

candidates for directorship) in accordance with the Code.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination

Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

reputation for integrity;

accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the principal business

of our Group;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18

years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and

decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any

person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

1.

The Company Secretary shall call a meeting of the Nomination
Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board members,
if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its
meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates

who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its

consideration and recommendation.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
accounts are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2024,
and of the Group’s profit and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors have selected
appropriate accounting policies and, apart from those new and amended
accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to the accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2024, have applied them consistently with previous financial
periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are prudent and
reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor are set out on
pages 122 to 127 of this annual report.

Internal Control System and Risk Management System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management,
(the “Systems”), which are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and
to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business objective and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatements or
losses. The Group’s internal control framework covers (i) the setting of
objectives, budgets and targets; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting of
financial information, in particular, the tracking of deviations between actual
performances and budgets/targets; (iii) the delegation of authority; (iv) the
establishment of clear lines of accountability; and (v) review and evaluation of
the Systems.

On behalf of the Board,
prepared by external independent professional firm,

the Audit Committee has reviewed the report
and reviewed the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Systems of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024, including the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
effectiveness of risk management functions and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function, as well
as those relating to the Company’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting. This is achieved primarily through approving the
scope of the annual internal audit plan, reviewing the findings of internal audit
work, the annual and interim financial statements, and the nature, scope of
work, and report of the external independent professional firm. Based on the
results of the annual review by the Audit Committee, the Board considered
that the Systems are effective and adequate. There is no significant change in
the nature and extent of risks and the Company’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment since the last annual

review.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Risks

The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk management
and internal controls. The Group has engaged an external independent
professional firm to undertake the internal audit functions to ensure proper
compliance with the internal control systems and risk management system to
identify the potential risks which may arise in the operation and financial of
the Group’s business for implementation of appropriate measures and policies
on a continuing basis. The scope of review and the audit programme of
external independent professional firm, which are formulated based on a risk
assessment approach and focus on areas with relatively higher perceived risks,
are approved by the Audit Committee at the end of the preceding financial
year in conjunction with the management. The external independent
professional firm executes their functions based on a yearly plan and prepares
reports for their assignments. These reports are submitted to the management,
the Board and the Audit Committee for review on a regular basis. Such

reports are also circulated to the external auditor on an annual basis.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information
The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure Policy
(the “Disclosure Policy”) for the Company for monitoring inside information

to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the SFO.

The Disclosure Policy sets out the obligations, guidelines and procedures for
handling and dissemination of inside information to all Directors, senior
management and relevant employees. These guidelines and procedures to
ensure that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the
public in equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. The inside information should remain confidential until the
disclosure of such information is appropriately approved, and the
dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently made.
Disclosure must be made in a manner that the public can have an equal,
timely and effective access to the information available through the websites
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company

(www.shunten.com.hk).

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group has adopted the anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Corruption
Policy”) which sets out the principles and guidelines for the Group to promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations. The Anti-Corruption Policy
sets out the basic standard of conduct which applies to the employees of the
Group at all levels and external parties doing business with the Group. It also
provides guidance to all employees on, among other matters, acceptance of
advantage and handling of conflict of interest when dealing with the Group’s

business.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Group has adopted the whistleblowing policy which sets out, among other
matters, the reporting and investigation procedures for the employees of the
Group to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, about possible

improprieties in matters related to the Group.

The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to use of annual general meetings of the Company as a forum to
meet with the Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their concerns
about the Group and its business. The Chairman, and each Board Committee’s
chairman or his alternate attended and will attend annual general meetings of

the Company with the external auditor to answer Shareholders’ concerns.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meeting and exercise
their right to speak and vote in accordance with paragraph 14(3) of Appendix
Al to the Listing Rules. Shareholders who are unable to attend annual general
meeting can appoint proxies to attend and vote at annual general meeting.
Completion and return of the form of proxy will not prevent Shareholders
from attending and voting in person at the annual general meeting, if

Shareholders so wish.

A notice of general meeting will be given to Shareholders at least 21 clear
days for the annual general meetings of the Company and at least 14 clear
days for other general meetings. Shareholders are invited to raise concerns on
the business of the Company. Apart from usual business at the annual general
meeting, the Board will propose general mandates for the repurchase of shares

and the issue of shares of the Company at each annual general meeting.

Further details of business to be conducted at the annual general meeting did
and would be set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be sent together
with annual report and posted on the websites of the Company
(www.shunten.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). All
resolutions will be passed by way of a poll conducted and verified by the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, as an independent scrutineer. The poll results of
each of the proposed resolutions to the Shareholders will be published on the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s websites
(www.shunten.com.hk) in due time after annual general meeting and

extraordinary general meeting of the Company held.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”). With the objective of ensuring that
the Shareholders and potential investors are provided with timely access to
information about the Company, the Company has established several channels
to communicate with the Shareholders and solicit and understand the views of
Shareholders. The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and considered the policy has been
effective for the Company to communicate with the Shareholders through

available channels during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Dividend Policy
The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to the discretion

of the Board, which normally did/will take into account of the following

factors:

. The financial results of the Company;

. Interests of the Shareholders;

. General business conditions and strategies;

. The capital requirements of the Group;

. Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to

the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the Company, if any;

. Taxation considerations;

. Possible effects on creditworthiness of the Company;
. Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

. Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or any dividend at

all, will be declared and paid in the future.
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Procedures for making enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely,

Tricor Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address . 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 2980 1333
Fax : (852) 2810 8185
E-mail : is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website : http://www.tricoris.com
Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and the investor community are welcome to send their enquiries

to the Board and the Company Secretary as follows:

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Address : Unit D, 7/F, KC100
100 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung
New Territories
Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 3700 7300
Fax 1 (852) 3700 7301
E-mail :  ir@shunten.com.hk
Website : www.shunten.com.hk
Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information

to the extent such information is publicly available.
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Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary (the
“Requisition”) to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in the
Requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the

deposit of such Requisition.

The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong Kong and registered

office of the Company in Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address Unit D, 7/F, KC100

100 Kwai Cheong Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

Attention Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Address Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

Attention Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings can send their proposals to the Company

Secretary at the principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.
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In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship
programme to enable Shareholders and investors better understand the Group’s
business, the Company has established various channels of communication

with the Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and suggestion
on future directions of the Company to the Chairman at the annual

general meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences in relation
to the results announcements, at which the Chairman and/or the
Directors are available to answer enquiries regarding the Group’s

operational and financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk contains important
corporate information, annual and interim reports, as well as
announcements and circulars issued by the Company to enable the
Shareholders and the investor community to have timely access to

updated information about the Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ Communication Policy and

reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
of the Company on the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk

and the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Company adopted the second amended and restated Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association of the Company by way of special

resolution passed on 1 September 2022, to comply with the Listing Rules.

A copy of the second amended and restated Memorandum of Association and
Articles of Association of the Company is posted on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at

www.shunten.com.hk.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there has been no change in the

constitutional documents of the Company.
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The Company engages Moore CPA Limited (formerly known as Moore
Stephens CPA Limited) (“Moore”) as its external auditor. The financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 were audited by Moore; they
hold office until the conclusion of the 2024 AGM and a resolution of the
re-appointment of Moore as auditor of the Company for the forthcoming year
by the Shareholders would be proposed in the 2024 AGM.

In order to maintain Moore’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the
Audit Committee reviewed all audit services to be provided by Moore and
discusses with Moore the nature and scope of their audit and reporting

obligations.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the engagement of Moore
to provide any non-audit services for complying with relevant legal

requirements.

The fees paid/payable to Moore, the Company’s auditor, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2024 are

analysed below:
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Fees paid/payable

Type of services provided by the external auditor A IS A R 42 A3t 2 R 75 eft R
HK$°000
T
Audit services TR
— audit fee in respect of annual audit — EEEE L EGE 1,050
Non-audit services I 3 1% IR s
— review of interim results — B P AR 200
— review of annual results announcement — AR AN 30
Total At 1,280
By order of the Board R
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited e i o] % (42 %) A PR 4 ]
Cheung Siu Fai TEHBITESF
Chairman and Executive Director i A

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “ESG
Report”) published by Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) presents the efforts and achievements made in sustainability and
social responsibility by the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group” or “we” or “us” or “our”). The ESG Report details the performance
of the Group in carrying out the environmental and social policies and
fulfilling the principle of sustainable development.

Both the English and Chinese versions of this ESG Report are available on
the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk and the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). If there is any

conflict or inconsistency, the English version shall prevail.

The ESG performance as discussed in the ESG Report covers the period
between 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

The ESG Report only covers the core business segment of the Group, namely
the health and beauty supplements and products business, which accounts for
approximately 97.9% of the Group’s total revenue in aggregate during the
Reporting Period. As for the information regarding corporate governance,
please refer to the Corporate Governance Report of the Company’s 2023/2024

annual report.
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The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and has complied with the
mandatory disclosure requirements and the “comply or explain” provisions of
the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality:

The content of the ESG report is determined through stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment process, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, collecting and reviewing the management and stakeholders’ opinions,
assessing the relevance and materiality of the issues and preparing and
validating the information reported. Please refer to the section “Materiality
Assessment” for details. The ESG report has covered all key issues that are

concerned by different stakeholders.

Quantitative:

Quantitative environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are
disclosed in the ESG report so that stakeholders are able to have a
comprehensive understanding of the Group’s ESG performance. Information of
the standards, methodologies, references and source of key emission of these

KPIs are stated wherever appropriate.

Balance:
The Group follows the principles of accuracy, objectivity, and fairness to

report its achievements and challenges in sustainable development.

Consistency:

To enhance the comparability of the ESG report, the Group adopts consistent
reporting format and methodologies for calculating KPIs as far as practicable
unless otherwise stated. In case of any changes, explanation will be provided

in the ESG report to facilitate information interpretation.
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The ESG Report is prepared based on the official documents, statistical data
and management and operation information of the Group. The Group has
internally reviewed the disclosed information to ensure its accuracy,
completeness, and compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide, so that this
ESG Report can fairly reflect the overall situation. This ESG Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board on 27 June 2024.

Your opinions on the Group’s ESG performance are highly valued. If you

have any advice or suggestions, please feel free to contact the Company

through:

Address: Unit D, 7/F, KC100
100 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung
New Territories
Hong Kong

Tel No.: 3700 7300

Fax No.: 3700 7301

E-mail: ir@shunten.com.hk

Headquartered in Hong Kong, the Group primarily focuses on the health and
beauty supplements and products business and property investment which has
been developed in a professional and attentive way. With strong backup and
authentication by experts, we uphold our core value in improving customers’
well-being by launching quality-guaranteed and effective health supplements.
New elements and ideas, including modern scientific research technology and
modified formulations, are infused into the manufacturing processes of

traditional Chinese medicine.
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The Group believes that well-established ESG principles and practices will
increase investment value and provide long-term returns to stakeholders. In
order to ensure the establishment of appropriate and effective ESG risk
management measures and internal control systems, the Board of Directors
(the “Board”) is directly responsible for the oversight of the Group’s ESG-
related issues, including assessing and reviewing ESG-related strategies and
reporting, evaluating and determining ESG-related risks and monitoring the
overall ESG performance of the Group. The executive directors of the
Company are responsible for formulating ESG management policies,
strategies, goals, and annual reporting and promoting related implementation.
They also identify, evaluate, review, prioritize and manage material ESG
issues, risks, and opportunities; while other departments of the Company are
responsible for organizing, promoting, and implementing various ESG-related
tasks under the Group’s ESG management policies and strategies. All tasks
and the progress made against the ESG-related goals and targets will be
reported to the Board regularly in order for the Board to review and re-
formulate the policies and plans for achievement of goals and targets.
Relevant emission reduction targets and corresponding strategies are
established and sustainable development factors have been incorporated into
the Group’s strategic planning, business model and other decision-making
processes. The annual ESG report is also reviewed by the Board to ensure it

meets the Board’s requirements and the Group’s strategies.

The Board understands the importance of prioritising ESG issues of the
Group, therefore has assigned an independent consulting firm to conduct
materiality assessment on ESG issues. Stakeholder surveys have been carried
out, and directors have also participated in the engagement exercise and
provided constructive opinions in determining the material ESG issues. The
Board is well informed about the results and will keep reviewing the
engagement channels and exercise to ensure effective communication between

the Group and stakeholders.

In order to motivate the Group in pursuing better ESG performance, the Board
will continue to keep track of the latest development of the ESG reporting
requirements in Hong Kong. The Board will keep overseeing the coordination
and management of ESG-related work and reviewing the plans and execution

regularly with respect to the goals set.
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Understanding and taking actions towards stakeholders’ concerns and
expectations is essential towards our sustainability development. The
engagement of stakeholders helps us recognise our sustainability performance,
therefore we have established appropriate communication channels so that
comments and feedback from major stakeholders are effectively and timely
addressed. The Group will continue to deepen the breadth and depth of

communication with stakeholders in the future.

The following table sets out our key stakeholders, their requirements and
expectations for the Group, and the corresponding response and

communication channels.

TR 2 B SR E A E - 3 DT E) [
BRI RAE B o R E LB
A BFAN TR S B T AR B - IR
ST B R o DA R R AU I TSR
H R AN E o ARAC AR SR [ AR AN R B
3 35 0 9 ) R BE AN R L

TRIVH A EZ R E > MME AL 2 "
SR > DA A I £ [ D 388 3 B 2 o

Responses Management/

Stakeholders Requirements and Expectations Communication Channels
Fi & TR B B o] A B 3 R
Government and Regulators . Compliance with national policies, laws Regular Information reporting

and regulation

. Contribution in local employment
. Tax payment in full and on time
. Production safety

B M B84 M A . AT B R UK SR R

. e HEE AR b il S
. $4 Wy 2 AR

. LR E
Shareholders . Returns
. Rise in company value
. Transparency and effective
communication
JBe 3% . Wi i 1] 2

. Tt FEE
. eI W] T v 2

Partners . Operation with integrity

. Equal Rivalry

. Performance of contracts

. Mutual benefits
BT - Wl

- AFEBT

. WL 8 %

. HHH R

. 7E 1 LT it

. General meetings
. Announcements
. Email, telephone communication and

company website

. Dedicated reports
. JBCHOR
. BALE

. D R A S A
. HUER

. Review and appraisal meetings

. Business communications

. Discussion and exchange of opinions
. Engagement and cooperation

. A BRI R

. EX i)

. AR

. mERATE
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Responses Management/

Stakeholders Requirements and Expectations Communication Channels
Fi R B 2 I A B O R
Customers . Outstanding products and services . Customer service center and hotlines
Health and safety Social media
Performance of contracts
Operation with integrity
oS R i B AR 55 % 5 ORR S oo A A AR
i e B 22 2 2
RIE B
Ak S
Environment Compliance with emission regulations Communication with local
Energy saving and emission reduction environmental department
Environmental protection ESG Reporting
BB R S 3 BRISE I P 22 U
i RE 3k P ESG [ #
PREIRIT
Industry Establishment of industry standards Participation in industry forums
(FES il 72 A7 AR e EL St b
Employees Protection of rights Meetings with employees
Occupational health House journal and intranet
Remunerations and benefits Employee mailbox
Career development Training and workshops
Humanity cares Employee activities
HT PR Wl HE i ISR
Tk S fek TAL T 49 K A M
ot M B AR A B T.H48
Wi 2 8% e B 3 B AR by
g | BTiEE)

Community and the public

Ik e 23 JR

Enhancement of community environment

Participation in charity
Transparency

PR HERE [ B BE
S %

Z SR =

PERIL2A B2 W)

Company website

Social media

Ak
A
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In view of the relevance and validity of this ESG report with the Group’s
environmental and social performance, the Group has commissioned an
independent third-party consultant to assist the Group in conducting a
materiality assessment to identify ESG issues that are material to the business
of the Group and its stakeholders. The assessment is based on stakeholder
surveys, materiality maps provided by well-known external institutions, as well
as professional opinions from the third-party ESG professional. Through the
assessment processes, the Group has identified 12 material ESG issues which

are fully discussed in the corresponding sections.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s materiality matrix is as follows *

High
=

Materiality to Stakeholders
B F Y EE

Low Materiality to the Group
(8 ARG F Y R
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Use of Resources

BRI

Environment and
Natural Resources
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Climate Change
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Employment
A i

Health and Safety
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10.

11.

12.

Development and
Training
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Labour Standards
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Supply Chain
Management
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In an attempt to achieve corporate sustainability, the Group always takes our
products, customers, community and the environment into consideration during

business development.

The Group’s operations are comparatively simple and straightforward with
offices, warehouses, vehicles and a packaging plant. Although we are not a
heavy pollutant producer, we have exerted our commitment towards
environmental sustainability by strengthening our employees’ awareness of
environmental protection and implementing environmental policies in our

offices.

It is our conviction that employees are a crucial element to sustain our
business. Thus, in order to attract and retain talents, the Group has adopted a
responsible operation and human resources strategy, providing our employees
with competitive remuneration and benefits, on-the-job training and
opportunities for career development. The Group and its passionate employees
also organise and participate in charitable activities regularly, showing our

dedication to community investment.

In terms of operation, as a health and beauty products provider on one hand,
we are devoted to maintaining a high standard of product quality while
addressing healthcare challenges, especially in Asia, through the adoption of
effective strategies and devoting efforts in research and development and a

strong talent pool of employees with doctor and master degrees.

In summary, the Group will continue to support environmental and social
development, aiming to achieve sustainable development in both our business

and the environment.

Human resources act as the pillar of the Group, thus we always put the rights
and well-being of our employees in first place. The Group stringently abides
by relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), to
formulate the policies relating to recruitment, promotion, remuneration and
dismissal of employees. As a way to attract and retain talent, in addition to
providing a competitive remuneration package, the Group also offers a range
of welfare and benefits, a safe and healthy working environment, as well as

training, development and promotion opportunities.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any material
violations of laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare that have a

significant impact on the Group.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group has employed a total of 247' (31 March
2023: 276) employees.

Total workforce by gender in 2023
TR AR B 43 v U AR

TR ST TR AR 2 Sl 25 A 2 o R e 9 S
A7 BB S AR~ SR BT AR RE
R~ FSEiE -~ Zonfl RO B AR ALY
HEAER Z B ERE R -

BEFZFEZHA=+—H  AEBEHT
UTHE T (ZE S =H =+—H :12764) -

Total workforce by gender in 2024
TR AR T 4 v i R A

Male Male
Ftk B
46 42
17%) 17%)
Total workforce by age group in 2023 Total workforce by age group in 2024
CRTEARTAR BB 4 IR B AR TR A AR B AN B 4 8 B AR
18-29 18-29
185295 18%295%
20 14
(7%) (6%)
Above 50 Above 50
50 L S06% LA L
144 30-50 129 30-50
(52%) 0Es0  (52%) 30% 507
104

(41%)
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Total workforce by geographical region in 2023
ZR AR B 23 i IR B AR

i
Hong Kong
276

(100%)

Total workforce by employment type in 2023
TR T A O N S ) 4 v i AL

Part time
FHelk
126
(46%)

Full time
A0
150
(54%)

Note:

1. The total employee number covers full-time and part-time employees in health and beauty 1.

segment.

BB A KRB IR

Total workforce by geographical region in 2024
R YA i b i ) 4 P T BB A

s
Hong Kong
247

(100%)

Total workforce by employment type in 2024
TR T A R SR 4 e B I

Part time
Helk
82
(33%)

Full time
2T
165
(67%)

B 5L

1E B 45 BB R 1 e SR 00 B0 2 I SRR A -
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2023/24 2022/23
Employee Turnover Rate BT RE R CO=NEE SEFE T ERE
By gender e vl 3
Male B 41% 15%
Female 2k 50% 41%
By age group AT 1% 40 A ) 4y
Below 30 IR 30558 115% 36%
30-50 30 £ 5005 47 % 50%
Above 50 7 T 5078 41% 25%
By district i i [t &) 4
Hong Kong s 48 % 36%

As a fair employer who supports anti-discrimination, the Group advocates
equal opportunities during recruitment. We are committed to recruiting people
with suitable qualifications, experience, skills, potential and performance,
regardless of sex, marital status, family status or disability, by following laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination Ordinance of Hong
Kong. The Group commits to providing a wide range of internship and
employment opportunities to fresh graduates and the minority groups in
society including ethnic minorities, retired persons and people with
disabilities, so as to build an inclusive and harmonious working environment

and society.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child labour in accordance with the
Employment of Children Regulations of Hong Kong. We ensure that no child
labour is employed by verifying the identity of new employees before
commencement of work. In order to prevent forced labour, work venues and
periods are clearly defined in the employment contract. In general, overtime
work is not encouraged by the Group unless under terms of mutual agreement.
Once such practice is discovered, the Group would investigate thoroughly and

dismiss relevant employees immediately.
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During the Reporting Period, we did not identify any issues relating to child

labour or forced labour that had a significant impact on the Group.

Whenever an employee offers to resign or is being laid off, an exit interview
questionnaire is required to be completed and management will conduct an
exit interview to discuss through and evaluate business problems. This is done
so that important opinions could be collected for future improvement of the

Group’s policies, as well as lessening the turnover rate.

Employee’s health and safety are of paramount importance to the healthy and
sustainable development of the Group. Therefore, we always put priority on

employees’ health and safety during our business operation.

Employees working in the packaging plant are provided with personal
protective clothing which not only prevents the products from contamination,
but also ensures the health and safety of workers. Guidelines and standard
operating procedures specifying the potential hazards of machinery and
equipment are provided to employees in order to prevent any potential dangers
and hazards during operation. The Group has also adopted occupational health
and safety related guidance published by the Occupational Safety and Health
Council in the workplace, such as the Safe Manual Handling Operations,
Electrical Safety and Fire Prevention and Emergency Plan. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with health and safety related laws and regulations including but not limited to
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), that would have a significant impact on the Group. Moreover,
we have formulated procedures for handling emergency such as fire and
power failure in an effort to minimise the possibility of injuries and casualties
in case of accidents. In the meantime, regular safety training, such as fire
drills, control of chemicals, personal health and hygiene, and emergency
handling are also provided to employees in order to enhance their safety
awareness. The Group has established an internal management team
responsible for monitoring the implementation of the aforementioned

occupational health and safety policies and measures.

In the past three years including the Reporting Period, there were no work-
related fatalities. During the Reporting Period, there were no work-related
injuries and lost day resulted (2022/23: Nil; 2021/22: 1 case/47 lost days).
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The Group’s business success highly hinges on the continuous improvement in
employees’ performance and productivity, thereby the Group has established a
comprehensive training system. We aim at building a continuous professional
development culture by providing employees with both corporate and
individual training opportunities. In general, we provide tailored training
programmes to our employees in accordance with the business needs and in an
effort to facilitate the personal development of our employees while
maximising the effectiveness of the training programmes. We invite experts to
deliver trainings for employees from different levels in various aspects. For
example, safety training, production procedures, machine operation, quality
control, food safety and substandard food handling training are provided to
staff working in the packaging plant. Also, training on product knowledge,
marketing skills, customer services, business and brand data analysis as well

as communication skills are provided to promoters and customer service staff.

For directors, professional and managerial staff, subsidies were provided to
encourage them to attend various knowledge-based training or management
skills training in an attempt to facilitate the improvement of the Group’s
management performance. Furthermore, the Group values employees’ personal
development. We encourage employees to join as many training programmes

as they need to within the annual training budget set.

For newly recruited staff, an orientation training, including the introduction of
the Group’s products, is provided to acquaint them with basic operation skills.
After familiarising with daily operations, employees will be assigned to
receive more specific and in-depth training, such as courses and workshops on
risk management, on an on-going basis, so as to develop their professional

knowledge and skills.
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Average training hours per employee (hrs)

BB dh | LR

Percentage of employee trained (%)'

408 BT 2R () ZllE B A4 (%)
2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23
SR TNEE S SFO ) SREE DR TNEE SRR
By gender AR
Male B 1.39 0.77 13% 8%
Female Ttk 2.06 0.83 87% 92%
Total Mt 100% 100%
By employee category iR BRI
Senior ik 2.48 053 11% 5%
Middle L 1.92 0.25 5% 2%
Junior Ik 0.91 0.83 10% 3%
Other Hi 3.81 0.91 74% 90%
Total Wt 100% 100%
Note: [T
1. The relevant data is recalculated according to Appendix 3 “Reporting Guidance on Social 1. AR B Rk AR AR M 5 T I 1) A T A IR~ AL

KPIs” to “How to prepare an ESG Report” issued by the Stock Exchange to calculate

percentage of employees trained. The formula used for the restatement is as follows:

Percentage of employees trained in the relevant categories = T(x)/T x 100, T(x) =

Number of employees who took part in training in the specified category, T = Number

of total employees who took part in training.

While education and training act as the foundation for improvement of
employees, the various opportunities of promotion provide motivation to
employees to strive for the Group and enable a long-term development of
employees together with the Group. Annual performance appraisal is
conducted based on employees’ professional skills, work performance and
efficiency, independence, personal quality and attitude, as well as learning and

cooperation ability so that employees who have outstanding performance will

be taken into consideration for promotion. The Group hopes that every

employee will be able to find their position and future by working in the

Group.
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As a way to deliver care to employees, and at the same time stimulate their
working initiative, the Group offers all employees attractive remuneration and
a wide range of welfare and benefits. The Group’s salary structure is reviewed
annually to ensure that fair and competitive remuneration is offered to
employees according to external and internal benchmark. To assure employees
of sufficient time to rest, the Group adopts five-day working weeks and our
employees are entitled to a number of statutory leaves and special leaves such
as birthday leave and study leave. Other fringe benefits also include annual
double pay, medical and dental insurance, maternity leave pay and price
discounts on of the Group’s products. Besides, we also organise employee
gatherings, such as lunch parties, Mid-Autumn Festival gatherings, Christmas
parties, and Spring Festival celebrations, so as to provide employees with time
for relaxation as well as foster better communication between each other. The
Group endeavours to create a happy working environment, so as to raise the

happiness-at-work of the employees.

As the Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of health
and beauty supplements and products, it is our long-term goal to develop
innovative health products that are affordable and improve the accessibility of
health supplements for consumers in Asia. To achieve this goal, it is vital to
optimise our operation to maintain the high quality of products and services,
to properly manage our supply chain and to behave ethically in the market.
On the other hand, we also endeavour to achieve a high customer satisfaction

in terms of our service-based businesses.
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Since our health and beauty products are directly related to people’s health,
we spare no effort in the pursuit of excellence in product quality and the
health and safety of all our products. The Group strictly complies with all the
requirements of relevant laws, regulations and standards, including but not
limited to the Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Chapter 132
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Sale of Goods Ordinance (Chapter 26 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong, by establishing and implementing a
quality management system to monitor and inspect the quality of products, as
well as the environment and hygiene of our packaging plant. An experienced
quality management team has been set up responsible for overseeing the

implementation of a number of quality control measures, including:

1. Formulating a series of quality check procedures for raw materials,
intermediates and finished products, which set out the items to be
checked, criteria for qualified products, as well as the acceptable

quality level and reject level for different sample sizes etc.;

2. Formulating standard operation guidelines for handling raw materials to
ensure their proper receipt, storage and delivery and hence the

prevention of contamination;

3. Requesting suppliers to provide certificates of analysis and/or lab test
reports prepared by independent testing centers in the relevant

jurisdiction when delivering raw materials/intermediates to the Group;

4. Cooperating with well-known universities or their authorised
organisations to conduct testing and accreditation on products, such as

clinical trials, to ensure the safety and effectiveness of products;

5. Appointing third-party independent testing agencies accredited under the
Hong Kong Laboratory Accreditation Scheme to perform safety testing
on traditional Chinese medicine and health supplement products, such as
heavy metals, pesticide residues and microbial counts, etc., before

launching into the market;

6. Conducting microbiological tests in the packaging plant to ensure that

the production environment meets the relevant safety standards;

7. Applying and outsourcing the latest testing and technologies to enhance
quality control, such as High Performance Liquid Chromatography,
DNA fingerprinting for herbs and Thin-Layer Chromatography.
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In case of large-scale product safety issues, procedures for product recall will
be triggered to minimise the impacts brought by the products and to respond
to the public and our customers in a timely manner. Our food safety team will
inform the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department of Hong Kong and
the public of product recall once health and safety issues are discovered in our
products, and we will stop selling the nonconforming product immediately.
The nonconforming product which is still in production or storage will be
segregated and on site inspection will be conducted to reconcile the quantity
of suspected material or product. The food safety team is responsible for
ensuring the accuracy of all reconciliation and carry out the handling of the
nonconforming materials or product afterwards. The reason of nonconformity
will be identified via thorough investigation and data analysis. Corrective
actions will be taken accordingly to prevent the recurrence of health and
safety issues. In order to make the product recall team conversant with the
product recall procedures, a product recall drill is conducted at least once per
year. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not subjected to any cases

of product recall due to safety and health reasons.

The Group’s commitment to the highest quality standard has been reflected by
the accreditation of ISO 22000 Food Safety Management System and Hazard
Analysis and Critical Control Points certification for its packaging plant. To

satisfy customers’ demand, we are devoted to developing new products.
During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of non-compliance of

relevant laws and regulations relating to health and safety of products and

services provided.
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The Group places high priority on customers’ satisfaction and hence
endeavours to address the needs of customers by providing professional,
customised, responsive and caring services. Our customer service departments
or sales and editorial teams are responsible for maintaining a constant
communication with clients in order to understand their feedback about our
products or services. Staff in the department is also responsible to handle
complaints from customers so as to address their needs and provide suitable
responses timely. A clear set of procedures for handling customer complaints
have been set out for various business divisions of the Group, in order to keep
clear record of the complaints and its outcome after handling, as well as
ensuring that customer complaints are handled professionally and with high
quality. Once relevant complaints are received, the responsible staff will
investigate the cases and help work out the solutions in an appropriate and
timely manner. Customers can also contact our customer service staff via
service hotline or email to arrange for product returns and refund. During the
Reporting Period, the Group received a total of 7 (2022/23: 17) cases of

product and service related complaints.

Advertising and labelling are particularly important to health and beauty
products as impacts can be critical if inaccurate information and messages are
conveyed to customers. Therefore, the Group always ensures that the
advertisements and labels of our products are in compliance with the
requirements of relevant laws and regulations of Hong Kong, including but not
limited to the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), the Undesirable Medical Advertisements Ordinance (Chapter 231
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling)
Regulations (Chapter 132W of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Chinese
Medicine Ordinance (Chapter 549 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and the
equivalent and relevant laws overseas. We undertake to truthfully present all
necessary product information, especially ingredients information, to customers
in order to achieve transparency and provide customers with sufficient
knowledge on our products. Also, we ensure all advertising and labelling
materials are checked by the quality assurance team and legal advisers before
releasing to the market. In the meantime, we keep abreast of any updates or
development of relevant laws and regulations to ensure the compliance with

latest legal requirements.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of non-compliance of

relevant laws and regulations relating to advertising and labelling.
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With regard to customer privacy, the Group is committed to protecting the
personal data of all our customers by complying with relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong. We have also
formulated policy on customer privacy and data protection. Minimal personal
data of customers are collected only for normal business operation, such as
goods delivery, conducting customer surveys and anonymous data analysis,
which may help us improve our business relationships. The collected data will

not be used without the consent of the related persons.

To ensure the personal data or other confidential information of our customers
are properly stored, we have a management protocol of IT system in place to
regulate the storage of information, under which only related staff can have
the access to confidential information. Also, employees are required to be at
all times alert to the importance of protecting customer confidential data,
especially those stored in portable electronic devices. Besides, terms of
confidentiality are clearly listed in our employment contract that all employees
are prohibited to divulge any restricted information, including the personal

data of our customers, to any parties during or after employment.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of non-compliance of

relevant laws and regulations relating to privacy matters.

The Group has shown continuous support for innovative Chinese medicine by
collaborating with several universities to carry out researches on innovative
products. One of the launched products is “Bone Enhancement” developed
together with the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Although a number of
our products are generic, we strive to protect our brand and products’
uniqueness from other similar products while not infringing the rights of
others. In order to better protect our product inventions and innovations from
potential plagiarism and protect the benefit of the Group, the Group actively

applies for trademarks for our newly developed products and product lines.

We have established the policy on marketing and advertising. It monitors
whether the products and advertisements have caused infringements of
intellectual property rights, and forbids those in violation to advertise on

online platforms.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of infringement of

relevant laws and regulations relating to intellectual property rights.
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Unethical behaviour is a potential source of risk that not only tarnishes the
image of an enterprise, but also weakens the stability of its business. A stable
and healthy development of the Group depends on the integrity of our
employees, thus we strictly comply with the laws and regulations related to
anti-corruption behaviour, including but not limited to the Prevention of

Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong.

In view of the Group’s focus on anti-bribery and corruption behaviour, we
have subsequently formulated the Code of Ethics as internal guidelines for
guiding employees’ behaviour regarding various aspects such as personal
benefits, conflicts of interest and relations with suppliers and contractors. The
Code of Ethics has also provided guidelines to the methods for handling any
breach of the Code of Ethics, which includes disciplinary actions, termination
of employment and reporting to the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (“ICAC”). The Group has also implemented a whistleblowing
policy where employees are encouraged to report any existing or potential
breach of the Code of Ethics and suspected misconduct. The policy acts as a

peer-monitoring mechanism to prevent any corruptive behaviour.

During the Reporting Period, the Group shared the most up-to-date
anti-corruption guidelines from regulatory authorities like HKEx and SFC with
directors. To strengthen awareness and understanding around integrity and
compliance among staff, we will keep relaying relevant updates and training

opportunities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any breach of laws
and regulations on the Group in relation to bribery, corruption, extortion, fraud
and money laundering, and there was no legal case regarding corrupt
practices, extortion and money laundering brought against the Group or its

employees.
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RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
A proper and responsible management of the supply chain is essential for
maintaining the high quality and stability of products as well as the
sustainable development of the Group. In the health and beauty supplements
business, the Group mainly engages suppliers to provide us with raw
materials. In order to ensure product quality, we have established a
comprehensive mechanism for selecting suitable suppliers in a fair and

reasonable way and we consider suppliers from all over the world, such as
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Kong. The major suppliers by geographical location is as follow:
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During the selection of suppliers and subcontracting manufacturers, factors in
a variety of aspects are taken into account including business scale, financial
status, production capacity, production process and environment, quality
control system, product safety and delivery performance. Suppliers are
required to provide quality check certificates and/or product analysis reports,
or provide samples for laboratory testing, before the delivery of raw
materials/intermediates. Preference is usually given to suppliers who have
obtained certifications such as Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point,
Good Manufacturing Practices and International Organization for
Standardization. During the Reporting Period, the Group had 53 (2022/23: 46)
major suppliers within the Reporting Scope, which are all subject to supplier

engagement practice.

Environmental and social risks along the supply chain are always considered
by the Group. We give priority to suppliers that comply with national,
regional and industrial environmental standards, and follow internationally
recognised standards. We also value the employment compliance of suppliers.
To ensure that suppliers have adopted sufficient occupational health and safety
policies, we take into consideration whether suppliers comply with all relevant
local and national health and safety laws and regulations. We will terminate
the cooperation at once with suppliers who are found to be incompliant with
relevant laws and regulations regarding anti-bribery, anti-corruption and any

other unethical business practices.

Upon engagement, our procurement team will cooperate with the quality
assurance team to evaluate the suppliers based on the procurement procedures,
after-sales services and product safety. Moreover, site audits on selected
suppliers should be also conducted regularly in an effort to ensure their
committed quality standards are maintained. Furthermore, we endeavor to
select environmentally-friendly products and services during procurement. For
example, we prioritise local suppliers to reduce the carbon footprint caused by
procurement, and prefer eco-friendly products which are energy-efficient or

made of recyclable materials such as refillable pens and recycled paper.
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Along with the rising awareness of and concern over environmental issues
triggered by businesses nowadays, the Group has recognised the environmental
impacts, which are not seriously detrimental though, resulted from our
business operations and has attached great importance to the implementation
of environmental protection policies. As a responsible corporation, we have
carried out measures covering emission control, waste management and
resources conservation by following relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations

relating to environmental issues.

As our operation is mainly concentrated in offices, warchouses and the
packaging plant, no heavy air and water pollution are associated with our
business. The majority of air pollutants, including nitrogen oxides, sulphur
oxides and particulate matter, are produced during the use of light goods
vehicles for supporting our daily operation. As a measure to control the
emission of pollutants, the Group performs maintenance and repairs on the

vehicles so that high efficiency can be maintained.

Emission of air pollutants from the use of vehicles during the Reporting

Period and the corresponding period:
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2023/24 2022/23
Types of emission’ B il TR 5 CRO=ZTNEE SR =R
Nitrogen oxides (kg) RAALY (F50) 48.52 94.5
Sulphur oxides (kg) i SEb ) (T 50) 0.3 0.3
Particulate matter (kg) TR (F52) 2.7 7.5

Notes: Bt 3E -

1. The calculation of pollutant emissions is based on the “Reporting Guidance on 1. 15 S PO MR VB 22 T U 2 CBR B B AR
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange. PEREH S 51) 7HE B AS -

2. The Company reported nitrogen oxides and particulate matter emissions for the previous 2. R 7 2 T 7E 70 A 5 300 - [ ) B i e At 59 O ik %
year were higher than the Reporting Period. This was due to an evolution in the AT AL S A EIRE L AR AL A R
Company’s data collection and calculation methodology between the two periods. PR B AR I o b A B S R A R
vehicle emission data for the previous year was estimated, whereas accurate data was AL BT BT A T A A R 5 Y
directly recorded for the Reporting Period through the implementation of enhanced R T O R A R OB o A S > AR
monitoring systems. During the Reporting Period, the Group focused efforts on V375 8 A 33 % A0 0 PR - AR B O e
reducing vehicle emissions through monitoring practices, which resulted in lower R o R BRI s JRAM A SR B U ] o
emissions. Going forward, the Company aims to apply an methodology aligned with PR RN ST 7 1 - DARECR PR e AL (9 7T FC PR A
the Reporting Period, to ensure comparability and continual improvement in emission Bkt -
quantification.
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The topic of climate change has sparked heated discussions in recent years
across the globe and has drawn the attention of enterprises. The Group is no
exception and has increased its awareness towards the causes and impacts of
climate change ever since. The sources of our greenhouse gas emission
include combustion of fuels in vehicles, use of purchased electricity,
electricity used for water and sewage treatment, business air travel by
employees and disposal of waste paper to landfills. The Group has planned to
replace existing vehicles with electric vehicles in the coming years to achieve
environmental friendliness. Also, efforts have been put on the control of
greenhouse gas emission by exerting ourselves in the implementation of a
series of measures such as paper recycling, energy saving and resources

conservation (for details, please refer to “Resources Conservation”).

Greenhouse gas emissions during the Reporting Period and the corresponding

period:

BB dh | LR

SRS R AT AR A 2 Bk | BB R ey - IR
T AN B o AL IG5 AR T A
I S 5 AL 2 PR PR 5 R A Tl AP PR AL 5 5
B PR i A [ A ARRMABE ~ SRR D B
IR BRI BN - B LB 2R kR
B L P BEAR o A 42 [ 5B TE R AR LR B)
HURABUA B > AL BB A o A
DR BN A - A BEAR [ E AT RE VR
KB G 7 2 B [ 60 40 08 AR ) - 38 g 4%
i . 2 S e PR o

S 30T T T AR R D T AL 2 S R P

2023/24 2022/23
Greenhouse gas emissions' 1 2 S PR CRO=TWNEE SE D TR E
Total emissions (tonnes of CO,e) APEE (W R AL EE) 212 198
Scope 1: Direct emissions? FE - BEHEPEe 50 51
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions 2« Ae YA A B2 Pk 1623 1474
Scope 3: Other indirect emissions® A [ 3 - oA ) 4 B e 0.3 0.2
Intensity (tonnes of CO,e)/million HKD B (M AR =
of revenue) H &) 0.91 0.92

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF J#§ B B (¥ 5 ) f BR 2 #)
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Notes:

1. The Group’s greenhouse gas inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous
oxide, and the greenhouse gas emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent.
The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions is based on the reporting requirements of

“Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

2. Scope 1 includes direct emissions from the consumption of vehicle fuels of the Group.
The emission factors used for calculating emission is based on the “Reporting

Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

3. Scope 2 includes indirect emissions from purchased electricity of the Group in 2023/24.
The emission factors used for calculating emission is based on the “Sustainability
Report 2023” provided by the Hongkong Electric Company, Limited and the “2023
Sustainability Report” respectively provided by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

4. Scope 2 includes indirect emissions from purchased electricity of the Group in 2022/23.
The emission factors used for calculating emission is based on the “Sustainability
Report 2022” provided by the Hongkong Electric Company, Limited and the “2022
Sustainability Report” respectively provided by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.

5. Scope 3 includes other indirect emissions from waste paper disposal to landfills,
electricity used for water and sewage treatment and business air travel by employees.
The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions from waste paper disposal is based on the
“Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange. The
Group does not have record in accessing the data of waste paper disposal due to the
item is determined by the Group to be insignificant to our business operation during
the Reporting Period. The emission factor used for calculating water and sewage
treatment is provided by the Water Supplies Department and Drainage Services
Department of Hong Kong. The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions from business
air travel by employees is based on the International Civil Aviation Organisation

Carbon Emissions Calculator.

Proper handling of waste is another aspect the Group has laid emphasis on,
adding to air emission control. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with waste management related
laws and regulations including but not limited to the Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Hazardous
Chemicals Control Ordinance (Chapter 595 of the Laws of Hong Kong), that

would have a significant impact on the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, no hazardous waste was generated. The Group is
always keen to ensure that all hazardous waste is handled and treated in a
legal and appropriate way so as to avoid negative impacts on the

environment.

The vast majority of non-hazardous waste is generated from expired food
waste. All non-hazardous waste is collected by qualified parties arranged by

the office building management.
The Group is keen to launch new package with thinner size and cancel
unnecessary materials such as product insert, so as to minimize the generation

of paper and plastic waste.

Waste generated during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period:

BB dh | LR

R 7k 3 [ S B0 7 A A R ) o AN — %3
IR BT A AT SRS DA ik S 1 T SR
MR > DA G 3 BR R O AR TR B o

REBIEEE BEREY A QR MBE R - T A
0 5 JBE W) b A K R 2 P A
W -

A A FRC R A h ROST SR B (2 > Sl B AN 4
BERIRERE > U A o DA B D AR A IR
JESEM I A o

T S 0 T e R 0 T A ) R )

2023/24 2022/23

Waste disposal BB B ZRIO=TNEE SR SRR

Hazardous waste (kg) HERBERY) (T5%) — 5
Intensity of hazardous waste R

(kg/million HKD of revenue) (T8 W clcss) — 0.02

Non-hazardous waste (kg)' e E BEGEY) (T 5g) ! 2,800? 18,018
Intensity of non-hazardous waste 90 7 JE T A

(kg/million HKD of revenue) (F5, /5 H 8ol as) 11.91 83.37

Notes: i3

1. Emissions data relating to non-hazardous waste is based on the daily estimated volume
of office garbage and the volume to weight conversion factors provided by the United

States Environmental Protection Agency.

2. Non-hazardous waste was reduced due to a lower volumes of expired food waste.

L. LA B ) AT R O DR O T AR R R e
A4 A T T S R o B 05t e 2 1k i A B
R R MG

2. R A ) ) IR B D o M S e D -
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In order to uphold and underpin the principle of “Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and
Replace”, the Group has actively pushed forward various measures to reduce
waste generation. In terms of paper consumption, we disseminate information
by electronic means, such as electronic bills, electronic posters, etc., whenever
possible to reduce the usage of paper. We have also set the printers and
computers to default duplex and economical modes and encourage our staff to
use both sides of paper before disposal. The use and procurement of
disposable items, items with low durability and items with excessive
packaging are avoided and replaced with ones that could be reused as far as
practicable. Our employees are encouraged to recycle all waste paper, metal
and plastic, and purchase products that can be effectively reused, recycled or
repaired to reduce waste. We also evaluate the usage of material on a regular

basis to avoid overstock and wastage.

As the Group is operating a small-scale packaging plant under our health and
beauty supplements and products segment, packaging materials, which can be
classified into paper products, plastic and aluminum paper, are beyond dispute
the major resources used by the Group. To reduce the use of packaging
materials, the Group advocates the adoption of simple packaging and
encourages consolidated package for bulk purchase of 6 to 24 bottles of our
products. In the meantime, we also take measures to reduce unnecessary
packaging materials, such as reducing the use of manuals inserted into
products and using generic boxes to improve material efficiency and reduce

waste.

Packaging materials used during the Reporting Period and the corresponding

ARG LB N > W BT - &
PG F SRR - RRORR AT 45 SH RS Bl > DA 2 JBg
YL o ARERINFE DT A1 > B AT R W T 7
AEREE > U076 7 MR B SR T IR DA
D AR o FRAM IR R BN T T B
T AN i REAE S SIS B T AE St B AR IR < H 6T
AR T« ERTATREIL T - B TIE Sl
PR A PR — U > Sl A AT ST R e B
SEAE R 4 R B LR o FRAM B
JBh B Tl SR A AR > AR o I  RE
20 FE R [ A R R DA IR
2o TAM IR E AT A BB GE R DL > DU G
FEBZ R -

P A 432 [ A1) % £ A0 S5 2 4 b S 7 i 0 0 A
ANV T > BUERRHINAR R A - BB AN S AR
I SE AR P A 1 U o Ry D i T R
YR > ASSE BB AR bR fi 6 5 Oy oK L S At
WEANE IR AR A B DLET 40 B IR o Bt
[ I > AP 5 bR A il DA B2 AN 0 B L e W)
E o A D e 7 b b AR R T
AL 26 G DAER o B ORH AR B Bl ) B ) o

IR S U T % R R SO TR 4 2 e fE D

period:
2023/24 2022/23
Packaging materials usage AL 4R TR TR T TS
Total consumption (tonnes): A RE = (M) ¢
Paper products Fi T 112.9 101.4
Plastic BB 37 25.4
Aluminum paper # A% 0.5 0.3
Intensity (g/piece of finished products): R (R R
Paper products A 67.70 43.69
Plastic B 22.19 10.94
Aluminum paper AR 0.30 0.15
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In addition to packaging materials, water and energy are also resources
consumed by the Group. The energy and water consumption during the

Reporting Period and the corresponding period are as follows:

BB dh | LR

G e Rt obh - oK R BE IR I i A S T FE Y B
TR o T 30T W] B AR A 1] > oK e REUR Y TH AE
o

2023/24 2022/23
Energy consumption HE VR 1 #E TR TWNEE SE TR E
Total energy consumption (mWh) AR FE & JRRLI) 634 577

Fuel combustion for vehicles! B AR R R 198 200

Purchased electricity? S M )2 437 376
Energy consumption intensity HE R T FE 2%

(mWh/million HKD of revenue) (JK BLIRE, B B U JC 85 2.70 2.67
Total water consumption (m?*)? MFEK & (5L oK) 3 295 319
Water consumption intensity FEOK B E

(m*/million HKD revenue of (377 K/ i At BEL 5% 725 4l oy I

health and beauty supplements and FE i SEE B A5 R TR

products segment) 1.28 1.48

Notes:

1. The consumption of vehicle fuels is calculated based on the energy conversion factor
from the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

2. The consumption of purchased electricity is calculated based on the actual amount of
purchased electricity. For the month without actual consumption amount, the electricity
consumption amount is calculated by the average cost-to-unit of the months which
actual consumption amount is provided.

3. The water consumption is calculated based on the actual amount of water consumption.

The Group is aware of the possible impacts resulted from the use of energy
such as the emission of greenhouse gases and other air pollutants, therefore
we shoulder the burden of emission reduction and have dedicated considerable
efforts to reducing energy consumption in our office operation. To meet the
energy consumption target, the Group took measures of purchasing new
machines with higher productivity. In addition, we turn off lighting when not
in use and maximise the use of natural light to the greatest extent wherever
possible. We have also installed energy-efficient light tubes to conserve
energy. Besides, employees are required to turn off electronic appliances
completely when not in use in order to avoid energy wastage. For the air-
conditioning system, we carry out cleaning regularly so as to maintain its
efficiency, and ensure that the air-conditioned room temperature is maintained
at 24-26 degrees Celsius. To reinforce our carbon-reduction initiatives, we
encourage our employees to use video conferencing to substitute business
trips. For unavoidable trips, direct flights and economy class are preferred to

minimise carbon emission.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF J#§ B B (¥ 5 ) f BR 2 #)
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TRERE ARG 51D 42 BE i PR TR AR .

2. SBT3 0 T FE B LU RO T R o ETRAR
PEBEMEREMA M > NE R MR ERTE
A T R A LS

3. FAK S4B R K SR E S o

AR [ R B RE VR T 5 B VAR R B - Bk
U 3 SR B A 2 SRS e - A Lt > AP
RGBT - SO A E B
HURE VI AE o i R RE IR FE F A - A SRR BR B
T DA BB S R A TR R A o AN - R
AN 5 {6 R Y R FL B P 0 AE AT AT R DL
ATAEE A RO o FRAM IR T 22 A R LA DA
HREW LAk FAMEOR B TAE & T 3
S Bl 51 SRR > DA SR IR 2R AR U o 7R % W A AKTT
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Water is also a type of resources used by the Group. The Group endeavours
to reduce water consumption in daily usage as far as possible. We always
encourage our employees to save water and avoid wastage wherever possible.
During the Reporting Period, there was no issue in sourcing water that is fit

for purpose.

Recognising the importance of sustainability issues, the Group has set ESG
performance targets to evaluate the effectiveness of our ESG policies and
measures. We have identified energy, water, and waste as our key ESG areas

by setting performance targets accordingly. Details are as follow:

RN A S T T A — R R« AR SR ET B0
D B KR - FAMASH Sl B T3 ] se
A PR Bl G 2 o A 3t U 1A SR IR K U
D7 TG A [ R -

il o 1] T A AR S R E B AR E T
ESGHUM H % > LA A4 3 ESGBUR KA i 19 i
2o FAMCAFREIR + K B JBE SEM R AE 5 FAM A Bl
SEESGH L > il 22 T AHME Y BUHCH B - RN
B

Environmental KPI

Reduction Target
W H R

Baseline Year

B AR

Status
HE S

Air Pollutant Intensity
CEREPLIL S 3

Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensity

. % SR Dl

Hazardous Waste Intensity

HE R

Non-Hazardous Waste Intensity

Energy Consumption Intensity

Water Consumption Intensity

FEKEE

Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26
TR TR BT 1%

Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26
TR A E TR 1%

Reduce 2% by Year 2025/26
TR TN BT 2%

Reduce 2% by Year 2025/26
TR RN 2%

Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26
TR TR 1%

Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26
TR AR E R 1%

Year 2020/21
s

Year 2021/22
TR — T AR

Year 2022/23
TR AR E

Year 2022/23
- Y 5

Year 2021/22
DB TR

Year 2020/21
SEE

In progress
AT

In progress

HEAT

In progress
AT

In progress

HEAT H

In progress
AT

In progress

HEAT

Climate change is rapidly emerging as one of the most significant issues
across countries and is closely related to all businesses regardless of their
nature. The Group is no exception, taking into consideration the potential
impacts on the Group from risks brought by the changing climate. The Group
has identified several climate-related risks that may adversely impact the
Group’s operations and development of the health and beauty supplements and

products business.
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Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons, heavy rain,
thunder and lightning and flooding that can cause physical acute risk. These
extreme weathers affect the normal operation of our production equipment,
hinder and harm our employees’ health and safety and disrupt the Group’s
supply chain, thereby disrupting or even interrupting the operations of the

Group and damaging the Group’s assets.

The above potential consequences will cause economic losses and increase

operating costs to the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and

minimize the negative effect of extreme weather.

Physical Acute Risk

BB dh | LR

T L

A% S5 1B 2 T T i 2 L ) 3 K
S PIMBER, R -~ E AR R PIEAIK S o 3%
ik K SR AP e R 1 TE A - ST L
R BT % A Sl T8 7 4 1 1 0
B > T4 L EL % o B A S R I A
e I 19 R E o

VL E YETEAR I S SRR 18 % T o 2 AR 43 T 1) &8
BIRAR -

ARG J il E DL AR 5T > AR 1k B 3 e I
7D bk i R SR T 22

B L B
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
i 3 R 5 TEL Bl T 5% fift 45 it
Typhoons, Heavy rain and Flooding — Monitor local weather conditions
Thunder and Lightning —  EEERH R FUIR I

Ji S > SR MK 5 - TR BRI R

— Move materials and equipment to safety areas in advance, or covered with a tarp

— TR R AR A Ty > s AW AG B

— Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown/washed away

— AR E i E Y R A K A

— Control travel and outdoor work before the arrival of lightning

—  TEPI RIS B AT R AN TAR

— Provide flexible work arrangements with precautionary measures in place

—  HMGETEP R o B AR TR % P

— Remind employees to save data and turn off computers

—  iREEE TR R LR

— Clean up trash and make sure drains unblocked

—  IHELIR - MEACREE

— Keep good conditions of earthing devices

—  RIFHOME RE AR R

— Improve emergency plans and upgrade equipment

— O S TR
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Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as extremely hot weather can
cause physical chronic risk. The potential consequences include an increased
chance of getting heatstroke for employees working outdoor or in the
workshop, increasing turnover rate and work-related injuries. The demand for
cooling for the working environment will be increased, which may lead to an

increase in power demand and operating costs to the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and

minimize the negative effect of extreme weather.

Physical Chronic Risk
T e L e
Extreme weather

Ak 3t KR LB B A% i 4 i

T 0 e e

7 S ) A AT R 1 LR Y R 3 R SR
(i s 28 AR50 o AT REEE A2 4R R L6 AE ) b
s T3 TARR) B T B i ] gevERS I - kR R
A LT o AR BRI R IR O 5 SR > A
AT B 52 F Y 7 0 75 R B AL AR K

T TRy B it o 9 2 ik iy K SR S AR 288 > AR
52 BA N 45l f 7 -

Preventative and mitigation measures

Extremely hot weather —
ik s 8 B R SR —

Arrange outdoor work time wisely

W b 2 B 5 A A R ]

— Open windows to allow the air to circulate

—  {TH®EF - MzESE

— Keep a First-aid kit convenient

—  WZ N

— First aid training for heat stroke or other relevant conditions

— SRR SO AR B 1R DL SR

— Keep cold water available 24 hours a day

—  BR24/PNEERER K

Transition Risks

The Group may also face transition risks such as policy risks due to
increasingly stringent policies and enhanced emissions-reporting obligations,
which may result in higher compliance costs, higher risks of claims and
lawsuits and increasing needs of climate-related capital investment to lower
greenhouse gas emissions. Besides, corporate reputation may decline if we fail
to meet the compliance requirements for climate change or transit to a more
sustainable and environmentally friendly corporation, which in turns leading to

a decreased demand of our products.

108

Annual Report 2023/2024 4 #}

At 02 L B

A ] T AT G A0 3 LB - 9 e S EORE H 4R
S AR T P T 2 S T o T AR ) BOR B > TE
TR A SO R 9 A BB ~ S R R R R AL
B o DA% 2 AR AR 2 S A PR T 44 ) S A
EABCER R o MO > M TR eI AL SRS L
B R EEOR > BN RE I B T AT A S ER AR Y
N AR TR E TR AR N O AN
b B SR B o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB dh | LR

The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and  AXHE[E] 2 &8 il 2 LA T ASIA] 4 s LA PR BH S 2 mT BE Ik

minimize the negative effects of transition risk.

2388 P JE\ o ) £ TR B B

Transition Risk

Y L
Climate-related risks description Preventative and mitigation measures
SR H B e e o 4 e e Bl T 7% it 45 it
Legal risk — Regularly review the Group’s climate-related policies and
2 AU measures to ensure that we stay up to date with the latest
government policies, regulatory updates
— E I A A AR ) S0 R T EOR B A e > DL R B
BT B BORE ~ 8548 R (R R 26
Exposure to litigation risk. We have to adapt the tightened — Continue monitoring of the ESG reporting standards of the
law and regulations imposed by the local government due to Hong Kong Listing Rules
climate change, as well as bear the risk of potential —  A%4TE: 22 & W [ 1l R Il A ESG#t 15 12 it
litigation once we fail to obligate the new regulations
T 366 7 A R o 800 20 %8 B b, )7 UG R R 52 (L T B ME ) —  Inform relevant departments about the regulatory updates
R R E B - MRS — BIRAMR AR AT R B relevant to climate change in time, where necessary, to be
510 AT RE FE AE Y P R B prepared to comply with new policies
— AT IR TR 1] AR (B IS P A S B SR A0 2 L A B R TR
BT > DA 2% 282 5 7 O U YR A
Supply Chain risk — Regularly review the condition of supply chain
A G i —  EREE A LR SR T
Climate change may cause species to decline or become — Make alternative plans in advance for raw materials and
extinct, especially Chinese herbal plants, which may affect corresponding products that are significantly affected by
the supply of raw materials for related products climate change
S AR AL T R A B RE D DR - IR PR Y - — B SRAR BRI B B 0 JRURDRL RO B E i R R A

Y T RE S AR B 7 o 1) JEURS RO

AT #1

To mitigate the aforementioned climate-related risks, the Group follows 23 ¥dH |- %l 51w AH BH EURS » A< 58 [ LA S A A B
market trends regarding climate-related risks to keep itself up to date with the  JEUBE (1 117 35 8 2% > BR B 50405 A0 BE =5 ‘B0 %) oo 8
latest development in climate-related issues, so as to identify and evaluate the & » 9 177 ik Al S 5 Ak A= £ 18] 11 S0 A B L B o

Group’s climate-related risks.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 24 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 23 W] 109



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB dh | LA R

As a socially responsible organization, the Group recognises the importance of
community well-being and looks forward to growing our business in
partnership with local communities. We are committed to empowering those in
need through charitable donations and volunteer services.

The Group makes continuous efforts to care for seniors and vulnerable groups.
During the Reporting Period, we organized and participated in various
volunteering initiatives, such as donating 300 boxes of masks to Po Leung
Kuk BMCPC Life Education and Elderly Support Centre. Through these
actions, we aim to assist seniors and people with disabilities while cultivating
a culture of care in society.

In recognition of our commitment to corporate social responsibility and
community engagement, some of our subsidiaries received awards during the
Reporting Period, including:

VER BAAL G TR A - AR 2 il B A 1 4
Ak F A 7 L A R S A AR FRAY
HEH - MBI B HZBEZBMEETED > ®
Bt g EAREAL -

ARLEE - HBO R RERE RIAERE - RIS
JR > FRAM ALK B 2 B2 S S B - e R
R F RGBT MR SR O RIE3008&
FEL o W27 E) - MBI a4 N R
PR [ IRGTE ALr h l Sr B 2 0L -

Ty RGN B AT A A & AT A 18 2 BT A}
BB g o TS0 B 2 R ik U IR R T 8%
T HA s

Awarded Subsidiary
YA I i 2 )

Awarding Organisation

AR

Award and Recognition

BEIE AR w]

CULegend Company Limited

10 4 v K BE AR AT IR A

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

fide s (FER) AIRAR

RM Group Holdings Limited

1l 2 i A P2 AT R W
Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited
T2 % (PR A PR 7]

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited
flgE =t (FE M) AR T

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

fdE s (FER) AIRA R

Hong Kong Brand Development
Council

A R R SR

Hong Kong Brand Development
Council

A i R R SR

The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service

A AL RS T
GS1 Hong Kong

7 s i A0 1 W

Monde Selection International Quality
Institute

HEA B B AP

MingPao

A e 4

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark
(Top Mark) under Hong Kong Top
Brand Mark Scheme

T 44 W T B 7 o 4 WA
(TOP)

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark
(Top Mark) — Ordinary & Premier
Mark under Hong Kong Top Brand
Mark Scheme
%‘%%Hﬁ@%ﬁi%iﬂ%‘%%hﬁ@%ﬁi
(TOPY) — A BT ik

10 Year Plus Caring Company

T AE 1O alg A b S [ o 7 e A 45

10+ Years Award under Consumer
Caring Scheme

St £ 3 % A T 104F + 5

Silver Quality Award 2024:NMN Prime
21000

T TP B SR AE - NMN Prime 21000

Excellence in Living SMART Award
2024 — Excellence in Product

A ) 5 R A 5% T R K 822024 —
LB i K 8%
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ESG Indicators Summary Sections Page
ESGH 1 A i HK
Environment
BB
A1l Emissions
Al HEiH
General Disclosure Information on: Our Environment 100
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— e I B SR S A R K B b BE SR ER S 100
5~ A E MO B R R A SR Y
(a) BUR ; &
(b) ST EEAT A G B A B A T
Wl E R -
KPI Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Air Emission Control 100-102
data.
KPI Al.1 Pt A T A B D T B 2 SR P 12 o 100-102
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Air Emission Control 100-102
greenhouse gas emissions and, where
appropriate, intensity.
KPI Al.2 HEEGEED KAgURM g (R MAERAMSE =P 100-102
R K (s ) % E -
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Waste Management 102-104
appropriate, intensity.
KPI Al1.3 T A A R ) A T (BB ) R JBE SEW) A B 102-104
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KPI Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where Waste Management 102-104
appropriate, intensity.

KPI Al.4 T 7 A I B ) AR e (AR ) R o JBE S A 102-104

KPI Al.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps Air Emission Control 101-105
taken to achieve them. Resources Conservation

KPI A1.5 R T AT SL R PR B R R AR 2= SR A HE 101-105
JIr R SR 2 B o ik oR<e/

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- Waste Management 103-104
hazardous wastes are handled, and a description
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

KPI AL.6 T 20t g PR T O B O i - R BRSO 103-104
JIT ST SL Y IR BE H R K 2 v 2 75 B H R BR
F 2 B o

A2 Use of Resources

A2 B

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, Resources Conservation 104-106
including energy, water and other raw materials.

— e is HAE G (G RR R ~ K A E MR A B IR 104-106
HA SR @

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Resources Conservation 104-106
type in total and intensity.

KPI A2.1 PR B A 00 M S MR AR IR AR RE R X HIA B 104-106
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KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Resources Conservation 105
KPI A2.2 HAFEK B ROE L o i 40 U 105
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set Resources Conservation 104-106
and steps taken to achieve them.
KPI A2.3 At BT SL R REVRAE T ek A RR R B AE M A9 IR 104-106
s FY BT SR 2 9
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Resources Conservation 106
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
KPI A2.4 Fol e SRIUE KR T A AR TR AR T BRI 106
WAL T K R i BOAR e A i B dE 4k [ AR T R
TR A B
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Resources Conservation 104
products and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.
KPI A2.5 BB T MR AR R () AR ETREIR 104

7 AL A i o
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A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 BB R KRG W

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant Our Environment 100
impact on the environment and natural
resources.

— e BAREEAT NB BRI e RN G R R 8 M BRI 100
HA SR @

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of Our Environment 100
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

KPI A3.1 il SEHE I B BB e RN PR R JRM By ER T 100
B € SRBUE BA B S2 BATE) -

A4 Climate Change

Ad SRR AL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change 106-109
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

— e W B O R R T RE e BT AE AR RiREEL 106-109
F14 B O S00% AH ] 28 TE Y ISR -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related Climate Change 106-109
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.

KPI A4.1 Wk CAS R TR g AT N A BB L R L 106-109

AR S E - REBTE
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Social
PN
Employment and Labour Practices
O 2225 T 4
B1 Employment
B1 fi& fil
General Disclosure Information on: Our Talent 85-88
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
— e A BT K R IR ETE - AR R M 85-88
B PERE - Zooil > OB LR H AR E
RARHMAY -
(a) B K
(b) RESFEFEAT NA TG B AR BR 12 S
) &
KPI BI.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, Our Talent 86—87
age group and geographical region.
KPI BI.1 FEPER ~ ARFEAEAL  ARERAR A R [ B AR FRAMT A 86-87
EELE
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group Our Talent 88
and geographical region.
KPI B1.2 LR - AR B AR R By B R R RAMEY A 88
oo
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B2 Health and Safety
B2 fil i B % 4
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety 89
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
— e AR A TAEERIG R ARG R Bk e R 89
TEfEER -
(a) BUR; &
(b) HESFEEEAT A O B A B  T
lH) G -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety 89
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.
KPI B2.1 R AR (R MR B AR Tl N R A 89
WL ER -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 89
KPI B2.2 P AR T A H - i R B 2 42 89
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety 89
measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
KPI B2.3 il 2l T R A 0 TR e B B A it DA RAH R B 89

BARAT R BT ik o
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B3 Development and Training
B3 e X3
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge Training and Development 90-91
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.
— Mo A BRI R BEAT TARRCE MOk e B he g 9 B Bt e 90-91
Lo o i B s E) o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Training and Development 91
and employee category.
KPI B3.1 TN B AR B UM #1432 WA BT A L o B0 B R 91
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Training and Development 91
employee by gender and employee category.
KPI B3.2 R R AR BN 2 > B R R BB R 91
14 - 25 IR o
B4 Labour Standards
B4 %5 THEQ
General Disclosure Information on: Employment and Labour 88-89
(a) the policies; and Practices
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— ek EE A BBy 1E T TS 5 Y A i e 5 1 B 88-89
(a) BUK 5 K
(b) #ESFBIEEAT A E S B0 AR B B R
B R ©
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Employment and Labour 88
practices to avoid child and forced labour. Practices
KPI B4.1 3 g vl A7 AR ) 0 S DA R S B T R SRR AR AT TR 88
e
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KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Employment and Labour 88
practices when discovered. Practices

KPI B4.2 7t 7 B B RS DUIRE I BR A B DU BRI R 25 TE R 88
F 2 B o

Operating Practices

A A

BS Supply Chain

Management

B5 3t JE 45 5

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social Responsible Supply Chain 98-99
risks of the supply chain. Management

— g AL R ) BRSO o A TEAT Y L R g A 98-99

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Responsible Supply Chain 98

Management

KPI B5.1 e s (a5 ) 2 ) R B R O A AT 4 L R g A 98

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Responsible Supply Chain 99
suppliers, number of suppliers where the Management
practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

KPI B5.2 Tt A B BORE R AR O] R BUAT AR BT A e s A 99

A L T OH > DL R B BT M B
%

118  Annual Report 2023/2024 4E



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BB g RBEWRHAE

ESG Indicators Summary Sections Page

ESG# 1% e 5 i HK

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Responsible Supply Chain 98-99
environmental and social risks along the supply Management

chain, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

KPI B5.3 1 7 A B A A G R B R BR A BRI AL e B AT R p s 98-99
RV RO B > DL R A B AT B B A ik e

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Responsible Supply Chain 98-99
environmentally preferable products and services Management
when selecting suppliers, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

KPI B5.4 22 7 RS (I IR O B 2 R AR A Je R B RT3 A 98-99
ARG > DLBOMH B BUAT B B Uik

B6 Product Responsibility

B6 & H AT
General Disclosure Information on: Safeguarding Product Quality 93-96
(a) the policies; and Provision of Quality Services
(b) compliance with relevant laws and Advertising and Labelling
regulations that have a significant impact on Protecting Intellectual Property
the issuer Rights
relating to health and safety, advertising, Customer Privacy Protection
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of
redress.
— e A B TR AR A AR 1 (R B A B eSS L 93-96
CE YENENNIYE E RN P8 R IR s
(a) BUE; K& B A e A,
(b) BESFEEEAT NH ERB BB AR DR
(Zlibh<g 230 TR % 5 AL
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KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Safeguarding Product Quality 94
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

KPI B6.1 CENCEREMBE P RZ 2 @R L MR 94
7 288 [ e 1) 43 LE o

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Provision of Quality Services 95
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

KPI B6.2 M B E O S B AR OE LR Dy SR RIRES 95
%o

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing Protecting Intellectual 96
and protecting intellectual property rights. Property Rights

KPI B6.3 il B A e % R R sk S A B P A ) o R R 96

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and Safeguarding Product Quality 93-94
recall procedures. Provision of Quality Services

KPI B6.4 i 2l A R B i RO T o Akl LR 93-94

f 4 IR S

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Customer Privacy Protection 96
privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

KPI B6.5 Tl 20 B LR B e FAREBOR - LLRAHE] R F FLER 96
AT M B EE T o

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 R 15

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-Bribery and Corruption 97
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

— bl EE AR BS 1 BE IS ~ BR - REE Rt R R S H i i B 97

(a) BUK: &
(b) MESFEIEEAT A KRB BRI SO
151149 & o
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KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-Bribery and Corruption 97
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
KPI B7.1 AR BT AT NS R B AR I 2 A A SIS R K 97
BTG TR A AR B R AR AL R -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-Bribery and Corruption 97
blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
KPI B7.2 A0 Iy A S SRR Y o DA AR BT B S R B 97
BTk -
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided Anti-Bribery and Corruption 97
to directors and staff.
KPI B7.3 it 1) ¥ 95 K B TR R B TS 1A o S H s ) B 97
Community
N
B8 Community Investment
B8 Ak [ £ &
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to Our Community 110
understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’
interests.
— e A B DAAL I 22 B T R S T AL [T A AR AL [ 110
Tt DR JFC SE 55306 ) & 75 S AL ) i F) BOOR
KPI BS8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Our Community 110
KPI BS.1 SOTE T R Fe A 1AL 110
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Our Community 110
KPI B8.2 7 S 8 T ) U o Fe A 1AL 110
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K| MOORE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OF SHUNTEN INTERNATIONAL

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shunten International
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collective referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 128 to 246, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting policy information

and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of Bl S8 #5 5] 25 TEUR MR PR AN 0 BL2E 1017 > 5B A A
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the %A MR FEMN Tl HHEEMNFIH - BLF
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the  JE/EFEFAMEE T B Bl 45 & WA 3 B b HL 7 FLIRE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion  HEFTHEEILMNY o FRAMAS @ #75 L6 5 IE £ 41k B 1) 3%

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

LEL TR

o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAM i 7 S Ao 36k ) o A S SR AT ) B

Valuation of investment properties

BB W SR E

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit matter
due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the significant
assumptions and judgments involved in the valuation.

FAMY T 5 ) ik (L PR G L > DR 2 R A 2% A R AN S T
F R AR - 3l HL W R R AR R B

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties were determined by
adopting the valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs,
assumptions of market conditions and judgments on appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs adopted. The Group also worked closely with the
independent qualified valuer, to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques.

AR £ ) SR o (BT 8 BR T B AT EE OO W] A A B 4 A
(LR AT ~ TiT LB SN 35 P B T A6 780 Sl (5 9l 0 i A S 19 1) o
JE o A4 [ IR B 75 AR 19 Ak (ELRTT A 7 5 A > LA S A R T R Y
FEAE BN

As disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position, the
Group’s investment properties as at 31 March 2024 amounting to
HK$207,100,000.

SN AR B IR DR T BN R CIE=A =1+ —HM
G 21 4 F£207,100,000 95 G ©

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment
properties included:

FRA BB & W A (R 7 LA

. Reviewing the valuation report from external
independent qualified valuer and holding
discussion with management and independent
qualified valuer to understand the valuation
basis, methodology used and underlying
assumptions applied;

J A I IS ST A A (L P A (B B > Sl B
Y Lo A 98 S AR A (T e o T AR
A (R YE ~ 7 I AN B AR %

. Evaluating management’s process in respect of
reviewing the valuation performed by external
independent qualified valuer;

. TN A R S A1 B 7 AR i (8 AT A (B
AR

. Evaluating of the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of independent qualified valuer; and

c R Al 8 ST A R A6 R R H2 R - BE D AN &L
T K

. Obtaining the underlying data including
comparables of market transactions being used by
the independent qualified valuer and assessing
whether they are appropriate.

. WA B R > B 08 S AR A (O

4 R] S E AR TS 5 By o MRl AT B R R A

e

()
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

0 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF & B4 B (¥ 5 ) f BR 2 ®]
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Kong Shao Fung
Practising Certificate Number: P07996

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024

B 37 A% BB e

RE Bl 16 UL A 1) S TR o A e AR L S TR
A A5 B 5 0 3R P A ey TR o R TT AL B
A I IH o AN AE A% O o R e s R
T > BRIFE RN SRR B D B E e I - 3
A S 2 SRS LR > 0 SR A A A
A S TR S TR R R A T A Y A R A
at o FRAM PR A HEAE i P R

K 3 J6 ot 32 o A B BT AT R4 ]
SN
Ak 2547 F it B A% AT

1L A e
R EL ST 0 P07996

B “EPUEANH LA

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 24 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 23 W] 127



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
%o o3 16 i S HL il 4 i W 4 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % % “JU4FE=H =+ —H ILFE

2024 2023
TR TYLE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 T TH#s T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: TR -
REVENUE et 5 235,586 216,127
Cost of sales PHE A (51,374) (49,817)
GROSS PROFIT EBH 184,212 166,310
Other income, gains or losses HoAb YA ~ i 4 B 1R 7 1,643 3,936
Selling and distribution expenses 45 T 7 81 BH =2 (54,499) (47,447)
Administrative expenses AT BB 32 (103,802) (85,256)
Share of profit of an associate JRE A — P W 4 2 ) 22 A - 6
Impairment loss under expected credit loss TELII 05 B TR 2T B AR
model on trade and other receivables T Athy B8 Wiz 3K TR 2 Yk (s 1R (203) (715)
Fair value change of investment properties % ﬁ% 2 NTESES) 17 (15,000) 11,900
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 2 i A 12,351 48,734
Finance costs Pl A 8 (7,777) (4,968)
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION I Ao i ¥z A 9 4,574 43,766
Taxation i IH 12 (4,056) (2,590)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM Fr AR B ST 2 N R A
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 518 41,176
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: CLAR IR R 3
Loss for the year from discontinued operations B #% 1k 8 %5 215 2 4F A k5 12 13 — (423)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4E 1 i A 518 40,753
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Fofts 2 i W 2% (B )
(EXPENSE)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit AEEHSBERHEWIEA -
and loss:
Change in fair value upon transfer from W - WRm R iife B E
property, plant and equipment to investment WEEANATEES
properties 27,770 =
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to 7%‘”%1&@% SEERFZ
profit or loss: JHH
Exchange differences on translation of Tﬁ%%ﬁl‘@%ﬂ% T 75 R 2 IRF 11 B 5,
financial statements of foreign operations ZH (141) (210)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ AR b A ez, (B )
(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR 27,629 (210)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 45 [ 4 1fj 1§ 5 48 %
THE YEAR 28,147 40,543
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A 7 TR A B LAt 42 i WAL ik

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

2024 2023
TR =
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5 Tt T# T
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to VN/NGIE: RPN E AR
owners of the Company: (E18) : B
— from continuing operations — R AFFEREET 571 41,296
— from discontinued operations — KA B KL BE LT — (260)
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the A</ 7] %A A MEAL 4F (A1 i F
Company 571 41,036
Loss for the year attributable to non- I3 IR R 25 HEAN 4F- N S 4H
controlling interests:
— from continuing operations — B R AR S (53) (120)
— from discontinued operations — R BB EY — (163)
Loss for the year attributable to I 2 O HE 45 AL 4F T i 4B
non-controlling interests (53) (283)
518 40,753
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AR N L AL 2w e zs
attributable to: (BA %) % -
— Owners of the Company — AR EEA N 28,144 40,758
— Non-controlling interests — I AR 3 (215)
28,147 40,543
Total comprehensive income/(expense) EN/SEIE E DN A ] &
attributable to owners of the Company: (B0 A% :
— from continuing operations — P B RS EET 28,144 41,018
— from discontinued operations — A ORI S 2 — (260)
28,144 40,758
Earnings per share attributable to owners of 432 #] HEH A ME AL 4F N £ )t
the Company for the year: BA
From continuing and discontinued K FRE RS R ORISR
operations
— basic and diluted (HK cents) — AR R (S A 15 0.02 1.32
From continuing operations RE R
— basic and diluted (HK cents) — A S Gl 15 0.02 1.33
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fok B B 25 51K D

As at 31 March 2024 A —Z “UE=H =+—H

2024 2023
e~y 111 F- 3 —E =
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
fh 5 Tt THIT
Non-current assets e By
Investment properties gLV ES 17 207,100 136,900
Property, plant and equipment W~ W K 18 12,719 68,401
Right-of-use assets o FAREE 19 11,551 6,722
Intangible assets Y & 20 16,325 7,425
Prepayments and deposits FA AT FRIE M4 22 10,671 22,918
Deferred tax assets % 3iE Bl TH 30 13 —
258,379 242,366
Current assets it Bl
Inventories & 21 25,880 23,817
Trade and other receivables, JRRE S Bk B At Wi R IE
prepayments and deposits TE AT BRI R e 4 22 45,033 58,780
Tax recoverable af i [m] B TR 2,342 1,375
Cash and cash equivalents Bl MG EEY 23 12,700 13,108
85,955 97,080
Current liabilities it B A £
Trade payables, other payables and accruals JRE AN MR R~ At B A 3 TE %
JEF T 24 21,094 24,602
Contract liabilities BRI A 25 36 84
Amount due to a shareholder JEAT — 4 I R K IB 26 25,909 79,909
Bank and other borrowings SRAT S H At 1 3K 27 110,965 79,737
Lease liabilities iENEE =R 28 4,754 2,692
Refund liabilities B A E 29 1,260 1,274
Tax payable JAE A 3 I 1,482 3,657
165,500 191,955
Net current liabilities e N =K (79,545) (94,875)
Total assets less current liabilities AR P A B £ A 178,834 147,491
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

#1105 IR D

As at 31 March 2024 A —F " PU4FE=H =+—H

2024 2023
TR TIYAE xR =

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
R 5E T T#TT

Non-current liabilities B R=R
Lease liabilities HEA M 28 6,460 4,076
Deferred tax liabilities 0 S IH A 30 766 5
7,226 4,081
Net assets % E 171,608 143,410

Equity HE 2

Share capital A 31 7,770 7,770
Reserves EAin 165,117 138,237
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2\ & #EA A ME {4 45 172,887 146,007
Non-controlling interests I 2 I 25 (1,279) (2,597)
Total equity HE 25 48 %5 171,608 143,410

The consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to 246 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Siu Fai

iR
Director

EH

5128 2246 FIN & & M R R —F ZIW4E N H
T b HAE e SR RET S - A T 5
R ERE

So Tsz Kwan
TREF
Director

HH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

f o B 4 5 B 3R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

Attributable to owners of the Company

LYk TN
Property Share Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory Translation revaluati option A lated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Equity
WEEL e e
BA RbHEE A0S LERE BOTRR L1} B RiER it A A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt
(note a) (note b)
(Bfta) (B 3Eb)

At 31 March 2022 REZEZZEZH=4-H 1,770 424497 (10) 462 iy = 4340 (332672 105159 (2504) 102,635

Profit for the year AR = = = = = = = 41,036 41,036 (283) 40,753

Other comprehensive income/(expense): AL & L4/ (B

Exchange differences on translation AN SE B BB SR Y
of financial statements of foreign TSR
operations = = = = (278) = = = (278) 68 (210
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 4 W & 4 /(1 %) A%
for the year = = = = (278) = = 41,036 40,758 (215) 40,543

Share options lapsed CRA I HE - - - - - - (4,340) 4,340 - - -

Disposal of subsidiaries 8 W A — — — — 90 — — — 90 12 212

At 31 March 2023 REFZZF=A=+—H 7,170 424,497 (10) 462 584 = = (287,296) 146,007 (2,597) 143,410

Profit for the year ERiEfl - - - - - - - 571 571 (53) 518

Other comprehensive incomel(expense): 4% it & s/ (B 3) -

Change in fair value of investment AR M2 E R R
properties through other WENATEEH
comprehensive income - - - - - 21,7170 - - 21,7170 - 21,7170
Exchange differences on translation YRS BB R I )
of financial statements of foreign I 2%
operations - - - - (197) - - - (197) 56 (141)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 4 (X 2 L&/ (F3) S
for the year - - - - (197 21,710 - M 28,144 3 28,147
Increase in subsidiary interest through 7 # t: YE  f  / 71 A9 i
capital injection i - - - 308 240 - - (1,863) (1,315) 1315 -

Disposal of subsidiaries i B B A 7 - - - - - - - 51 51 - 51

At 31 March 2024 RoZ-mEZA=H-H T 447 (10) m 6 2770 — ) I 1219 171,608

Notes: &

(a) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal values of the ordinary (a) B A TR AR 2N ) AT 2 T (B R AR
shares issued by the Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through an AN ) R 1 T W T A 58 5 T A BR A Wl GEMLE T
exchange of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the AT 2 42 8 2 20 A8 4 BG40 Wi O B B A W) 2 e AR 2 22
Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Fig

(b) Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the (b) MRPE I e AR ICAE ([ H B ) BST AR N 7] 2 [

132

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and relevant PRC laws and regulations, these
subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their profit after taxation, which is
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to a statutory
reserve fund (including the general reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund, where
appropriate). Transfer to this statutory reserve fund is subject to the approval of the
respective board of directors, and is discretionary when the balance of such fund has
reached 50% of the registered capital of the respective company. Statutory reserve

fund can only be used to offset accumulated losses or to increase capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
i Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % — & " U4 = H =+ —H IL 4

2024 2023
TR TE TR
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
B 5E Tt TH#T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RO BT
Profit before taxation from continuing R B R 28 SRR i A
operations 4,574 43,766
Loss before taxation from discontinued A B A 1R A8 s 250 BRI s 1R
operations — (426)
Adjustments for: Wt DL R 4 TE T VR R
Finance costs Rl R AR 8 7,777 4,968
Written off of inventories, net of reversal WS > FupR i 422 106
Share of profit of an associate JRE Ay — [ W 725 /A ) 2 ¥ A — (6)
Depreciation of property, plant and W3 - WE KA R
equipment 18 4,172 3,784
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ol PRI RE T AT R 19 3,843 2,450
Amortisation of intangible assets ETE 5 i 6 20 1,100 285
Written off of trade receivables JREE M Rl B — 303
Impairment loss on trade and other JARE ST R e L Ak JE Wi Tk T 2
receivables I E 1R 203 715
Bank interest income SRATF Bl A (57) (217)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries H B R S F G s 1R (M 45
ik 50 (160)
Net loss on disposal of an associate R — [ M 7 2 ) o 18 1 A — 1,042
Gain on disposal of equity instruments BB A AR ARG
at fair value through profit or loos ([4Z A TAERE AR 2R ) 7Y
(“FVTPL”) 25 3 2T A9 i i - (531)
Reversal of impairment loss on property, W2 ~ BRI Kok 4 1m] e (B
plant and equipment JiE 18 18 (948) =
Gain on disposal of property, plant and AW E - U B A I A
equipment — (280)
Fair value change of investment properties BTG Y N ) 17 15,000 (11,900)
Operating cash flows before movement L 4 SR A 2 A B T
in working capital 36,136 43,899
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
fk 3 BB U B AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

2024 2023
R —E=4
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
B 51 Tt THIT
Changes in working capital BEESEE)
Increase in inventories 7 & (2,485) (4,450)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other JFRE M O R R A A K I
receivables, prepayments and deposits FEAT SR IE KA &
(3% ) 15,791 (41,109)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables, other JREASH B R~ At B ) 3Kk TE K
payables and accruals FEFHE A (EY) s (4,153) 6,027
Decrease in contract liabilities HHAEED (48) (238)
Decrease in refund liabilities B A D (14) (121)
Cash generated from operations REREEENB S 45,227 4,008
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded TR A WA AR 2,329 2,720
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid &% E R Ik (8,779) (1,890)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING 2R A S I B A v
ACTIVITIES 38,777 4,838
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BE G
Purchase of property, plant and equipment W W2 - MR Do skt 18 (4,972) (1,896)
Purchase of equity instruments at FVTPL ISR A AR A B S R AR
'8 <y — (12,500)
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments RS A PAE R A i 1O B 2
at FVTPL & T A IR — 13,031
Direct costs attributable to the purchase of g B £ R O R A A A
right-of-use assets 31) —
Bank interest received R AT 1B 57 217
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries S RIS 2 T B A IR TR AR — (212)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate B — [T 2 8 ) BT 45 3R — 66,000
Acquisition of a subsidiary WA B — ] B ) 38 — (79,908)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING B 1% B BT 4 B 4 A
ACTIVITIES (4,946) (15,268)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
i Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

2024 2023
TR _E =5
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
fit ik T T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il N )
Repayment of bank borrowings IR ERAT K (10,772) (54,156)
Repayment of other borrowings i 75 o Ath £5 2K (18,000) (10,000)
Repayment to a shareholder R IE T — 2 B (54,000) =
New bank borrowings raised I SR AT K 60,000 —
Advance from a shareholder A H — 44 IR B — 79,909
Repayment of lease liabilities fE R & fE (4,815) (2,690)
Interest paid E AT LS (6,512) (5,616)
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM FINANCING &% 8 (Fi ) Fi 3 i 84
ACTIVITIES il (34,099) 7,447
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH Bl 4 T B 4 S5 AE W TR A A
EQUIVALENTS (268) (2,983)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [T 23R 52 )y 1) 52 2 (140) (221)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT AR 1Y Bl 42 I B4 )
BEGINNING OF YEAR 13,108 16,312
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHRMBIE RBEEEY
AT END OF YEAR 12,700 13,108
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 205 i I

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % % “JU4FE=H =+ —H ILFE

136

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated and domiciled in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 5 December 2011 under
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the

Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
sale, marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements and

products and property investment in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

dollars (“HKS$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1

April 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKEFRS 17 (including the October 2020  Insurance Contracts
and February 2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model
Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS  Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Practice Statement 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo o1 U 5 e o P

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments

to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the

Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior

years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.

2.1

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” is
amended to replace all instances of the term “material accounting
policy information” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial

statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,

other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.

T A A JBE i ] 22 2 A T B AR A T
A 8 B 5 e o R ()

BT A+ A% 4 B TR AT B A
AT 2 % s S S At M ) S e R 4
R 4 T B 5 R O e B I
S Oy BT IR BT R N K R

2.1

HEJH B 78 7 il SR 55 1 9 R v R
AR B 29E (16T 4K)
[ AR Z B ] 2 A5

A SR T AR AF B HE A RT
A o T g LS R T B R
23] > DT EREFHEORE R R
P T3 B wh BUK ] — i - i 8wt
T B — 2 A K T
G A B R — 5 R > W] A B
ERUR-S 2 Sl SR U R E S
5 ) A AR R % 5 S R AT L R
R R g R EORER A EK o

A ERT A TR E T B RTBOR E R
T AR B 22 B PR A A
PepFm g > RIS ATER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 205 i I

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % % “JU4FE=H =+ —H ILFE
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New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies” (Continued)

However, not all accounting policy information relating to
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material

accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgments”
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance

and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments,
accounting policy information that is standardised information, or
information that only duplicates or summarises the requirements
of the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy
information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure the
material accounting policy information disclosed in the notes to

the consolidated financial statements.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out

in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7  Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties that are
measured at fair values at the end of the reporting period, as

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS
16”), and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in

its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals

the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can

access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or

more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share

of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the

Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to

owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interest (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or a joint venture.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct

goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following

criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the

Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)

from the customer.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Sale with a right of return

For a sale of products with a right of return, the Group

recognises all of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be recognised for the

products expected to be returned/exchanged);
(b)  a refund liability/contract liability; and

(c)  an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) for
its right to recover products from customers and are

presented as right-of-return assets.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other

party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or

service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good
or service provided by another party before that good or service
is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the

specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and

conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and

the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a

single lease component.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease

term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received;

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets
that met the definition of investment property are presented

within “investment property”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments

and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less

any lease incentives receivable;

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate

the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income

when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are

considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of
the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the

original lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong Dollar) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the

Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs which are not capitalised to qualifying assets are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are

incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are

presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benetit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service

entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all of its eligible employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are

made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from the
Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees, which are deemed to be contributions from the

relevant employees.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benetits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable

future.

3.2 HEAEHEHECRER ()

ﬁﬁ
Je 45 50 B S 415 B IR I A+) B JH % AR A
Bl 2 SRR

I A 50 T T 2 AR 4 2 R B i
%Uﬁ+§$ o M WAL i | B R B A s 1R
AT - TG E R AN LA A H At 4F
FRBLCA BRI HNBL B 32 - IR A 46
PEARBRBLE AT B 2 THE o A4
UL B IE B o R B AR AR
HE AR BERH -

MRIEBIIA AR B M IR R G KA
B 2 M A (R B ST 55 R R o vk 1) 22 A
JRE Tl 5 ) PR 2 ML R - AR AEBL
T B 3 6 U A E RIUBA B R 22
FEMERR o 6 2 B JE B — Mk i A
AT 0T I S AT LARE SR o ME L%
6 10 I T R 5 A AT A I Y R
Tod ik 1) 2 B o i A — TEZE G Hh o A
FEH A OF LA R BH b e 38 B
{5 17 5| 5B AR R R LB s R R
AEBEGH RN WL 2%
ﬁLﬁE%?&Eﬁ%T®Wﬁ

o BB Ah > 5 k2 R R E P
@zﬁmﬁmawxﬁm»hﬁﬁ
=

0 S L T AT 9 TR 3B B JR % )
B 8 % ) B ) B R IR
2 BT A D, - e A 2 [0 T £ ) ]
W R R R AT RN
TP AT B 5H 2 [m] 45 S BR A oy A % 4%
5 N HE AR ) T 9 R 2 R T
A A F A S L JE W o R TE AT e

AR H ) R RBL R ] B I L T Jy eT
TERE 1 DL A E A B 2 SR
P E N AU RSN G S U

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 24 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 23 W] 153



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 205 i I

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % % “JU4FE=H =+ —H ILFE

154

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover

or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, which is always

presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use

assets or the lease liabilities.

Annual Report 2023/2024 4 #i

3.2

B BURE R (450

B (A1)
AL 2 MR T A A
WA A B8 3 R T R A
F 0 L i 9 R
FEWEIEth

R S L T I B R 5 U R
B B B TR 2 B R
FHA (S RO AMEETE LB
R 2B (RBLK) 3HED) -

R A B VE B A B R B R A
A T R 39 AR L 1 S i ] A
7L 7 B A DR TR (114 A
oo

BRA AP EEAGEREY R
EAEBLIAM 5 > BRI A B BE L
o 7 R A ) 3 2 HR T 2 MR E
R R ke o E Y S
o EARSR B AY B RFE T (1T F
M) ZBCEYI AR Z R
o RS 4 2 EB RS A - JIR
R E & BB [l o K A E HE - M BR
b > JH— HBRUE B ik
[\ o

T et A A [ Al T M A
BH B 0 S 5 1 8 S B
TH > AR M S R E B R S
i O A R O L A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2

fo o1 U 5 e o P

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all

taxable temporary differences.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, which is always

presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,

plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that
item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant

revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised

in profit or loss.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or

for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease

income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period

in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the

period in which the property is derecognised.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives (i.e. computer software)
that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives (i.e.
computer software) is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives (i.e. 5 years). The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been

demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can
be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as

intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets with definite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may

be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of

future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated

statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no

longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather

than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term

borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established

by regulation or convention in the market place.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS
15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

(ii)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other income, gains and losses” line item.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect

changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, and factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the

forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

i Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:
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an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

0 an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default

criterion is more appropriate.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) _ Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider; and

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit

or loss.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the

respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as

forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when

formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share

similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is

recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or

when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum

of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in

profit or loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash

flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the
terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of
the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial asset, after reducing gross carrying amount that has

been written off.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to a shareholder and bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform in which
the Group applies practical expedient, when the contractual terms
of a financial liability are modified, the Group assess whether the
revised terms result in a substantial modification from original
terms taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under
the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received,
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part
of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when

such difference is less than 10 per cent.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (Continued)
For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or
fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability

is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortized cost measurement applies as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to
account for these changes by updating the effective interest rate,
such change in effective interest rate normally has no significant
effect on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or

financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only if, both

these conditions are met:

. the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest

rate benchmark reform; and

. the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the

basis immediately preceding the change).
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)
Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle

the liability simultaneously.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects

both current and future periods.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by an independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”) not
connected with the Group. The determination of the fair value involves
certain assumptions of market conditions. In determining the fair value,
the Valuer has based on a method of valuation which involves certain
unobservable inputs including, among other factors, capitalisation rate,
monthly market rent and price per square foot used in the valuations as

set out in Note 17.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have
exercised their judgements and are satisfied that the assumptions used in
the valuation are reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties are HK$207,100,000 (2023: HK$136,900,000), and detail of
which is disclosed in Note 17.
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major RS T T E M BURB R R E P
products or service lines and geographical locations of customers from ST TE b 397 B B 43 19 % A #9lics B A an
continuing operations are detailed as follows: B

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_ZWE=ZA=ZT—HIEEE

Health and
beauty
supplements Property
and products investment
business business Total
PRAE o A i
RS MERERTY At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tl F#x T
Continuing operations PR 8
Disaggregated by geographical locations of %% )7 Jif /£ Hb B A B 43 % ¢
customers:
Hong Kong (place of domicile) s (R ) 230,580 5,006 235,586
Timing of revenue recognition: W 2 e R R ]
Point in time $i2 11 [H) 26 230,580 — 230,580
Over time Wi IR ] — 5,006 5,006
230,580 5,006 235,586
Principal FHA 230,580 5,006 235,586
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
WEZ-_=F=A=+—HILFE

Health and
beauty
supplements Property
and products investment
business business Total
PRAEE S 225
RERMED  WFELEET Mt
HKS$’000 HK$000 HK$°000
T#TT T T
Continuing operations TR
Disaggregated by geographical locations of %% 5 Fir £ Hh Pl Az B 4347 :
customers:
Hong Kong (place of domicile) s GG Hb ) 215,920 207 216,127
Timing of revenue recognition: W i R IR
Point in time 152 R [H] B 215,920 = 215,920
Over time Wi IR TH] = 207 207
215,920 207 216,127
Principal FHA 215,920 207 216,127

Health and beauty supplements and products business
Revenue from the sales of health and beauty supplements and products
business is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is

transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Certain contracts for the sale of health and beauty supplements and
products business provide customers with rights of return. The rights of
return give rise to variable consideration. For contracts which provide a
customer with a right to return the goods within a specified period, the
expected value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned. Revenue is recognised for sales which are considered highly
probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur. For goods that are expected to be returned, a

refund liability is recognised.
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Health and beauty supplements and products business
(Continued)

All goods provided by the Group are for contracts with originally
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the transaction price allocated

to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Property investment business
Revenue from property investment business is recognised over time

when rental income receivable from operating leases.

Information reported to the board of directors of the Company, being
the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on

types of goods or services delivered or provided.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8

Operating Segments are as follows:

. Health and beauty supplements and products business:
development, manufacturing and sales of health and beauty

supplements and products.
. Property investment business: leasing of investment properties.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group completed the
disposal of the operation for e-commerce promotion business through
disposal of Advance Rider Limited (“Advance Rider”). As a result, the
operation for e-commerce promotion business through Advance Rider
was discontinued with effective from 30 August 2022. Details of the

discontinued operations are further set out in Note 13.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the

Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3.2.
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Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as

provided to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resource

allocation and assessment of segment performance for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out below:

@) Segment revenue and results

(a) ZrEbdess - 48 BEKAM
BE-F - WER F=F=H
=+ — H I FE > o Bl & I T
At 43 T 22 BT 48 (4 7 AN 4R 1 3 s
PSR 2 AN S [ RT 2 H A B
RS AR

i) AW R EAH
For the year ended 31 March 2024

RECFONEZA=ZF—HILEE
Health and beauty

supplements Property
and products investment
business business Total
TRbE TSR
ot i 7 MEREEY wst
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tz Tz Tz
Continuing operations R R
Segment revenue: SRS -
Revenue from external customers & H AN & )l £ 230,580 5,006 235,586
Segment results v 52,140 (15,425) 36,715

Unallocated other income, gains or
losses

Unallocated finance costs

Unallocated corporate expenses

Profit before taxation

RO B ~ Yedi 5
kit

RO B E A
KRR

B L i A

766
(3,284
(29,623)

4574
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(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

(a) srafuas - SEAR - BE KRR
(%)
() AR R FEHE (4T

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BEZZ-_=F=A=+—HIL4FE

Health and beauty
supplements Property
and products investment
business business Total
DR B E A
W R MR GRS A5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
Tt Tt Tt
Continuing operations FEREEE
Segment revenue: Ak
Revenue from external customers 2K H AMFZ F 1k £ 215,920 207 216,127
Segment results Vi ES 69,555 11,762 81,317
Unallocated other income, gains or A/ AL EAITA ~ it fi 5
losses i @®)
Share of profit of an associate TEAG — R A i A 6
Unallocated finance costs RO RE A (4,676)
Unallocated corporate expenses R EAER L (32,873)
Profit before taxation i 4 i U 43,766
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(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) ZrEbdess - 48 BEKAM
(Continued) (#8)
(ii)  Segment assets and liabilities (i) HEEERA G
2024 2023
R —EC=4
HK$000 HK$000
T#0 T U T
Segment assets 43
Health and beauty supplements and At I 55 75 0 i % E i SE TS
products business 110,512 157,024
Property investment business SESie- €51 208,403 136,922
Total reportable segment assets A 2o B AR 318,915 293,946
Unallocated assets KAy Wi E 25,419 45,500
Total consolidated assets LA ERESE 344,334 339,446
2024 2023
R UL —E =
HK$000 HK$000
Tt T# 7T
Segment liabilities 43 ¥B A
Health and beauty supplements and R K 56 25 i i M it 2E S
products business 16,492 23,720
Property investment business EXd-E X7 76,237 81,495
Total reportable segment liabilities ] 2Rk E A AR 92,729 105,215
Unallocated liabilities R L B A 79,997 90,821
Total consolidated liabilities o AaEAaE 172,726 196,036
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(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

(ii)  Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a)

gk cas - AL BE K AE

(%)

(i) A ESEER A (A

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

All assets are allocated to operating segments other
than deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
unallocated property, plant and equipment,
unallocated right-of-use assets, unallocated
intangible assets, unallocated cash and cash
equivalents and other unallocated corporate assets as

these assets are managed on a group basis.

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable,
unallocated bank and other borrowings, amount due
to a shareholder, unallocated lease liabilities and
other unallocated corporate liabilities as these

Ty BB VR R B B 438 2 [H]
oy LR

. AR AR S L JH 7~ mT R
B LI ~ R B 2
R R A~ Ao B
FARER E - Ko BLiETE
B R e KB
B S (E ) Je H AR 23 i
LA W T
AL B A E 4 03 B
TREE I o

. PRAESEBLIH A R - AT
BLIA ~ R 73 BLERAT B
3K - BEAT— 2 R
AIH -~ RORAE AR
Jo HAb R T A 26 B fi

liabilities are managed on a group basis.

(iii) Other segment information

HeSE AU TS » P
HREA DR T E
S -

i)  H A B

For the year ended 31 March 2024
REZZCNEEAZ—HILEE

Health and beauty Property
supplements and investment
products business business Unallocated Total
it
TR
REMER  WERVER KA EFi
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T
Continuing operations PSR
Other information HAbver
Additions of property, plant and equipment REWE - B Rk 4,246 - 726 4,972
Addition of right-of-use assets WEHEREEE 1,025 — 7,647 8,672
Addition of intangible assets N E Y 10,000 - — 10,000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ENY S i 2970 - 1,202 4,172
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i FERE 5 7 2921 - 922 3,843
Amortisation of intangible assets T T 4 B 1,100 — — 1,100
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables  MENCHR F R AL fib E A3
B H 203 - - 203
Reversal of impairment loss on property, plant W3 B R e
and equipment e FE B ] (948) — — (948)
Written off of inventories, net of reversal T 5 > FuBREE 422 - - 422
Fair value change of investment properties REWEATEES) - 15,000 - 15,000
Finance costs il i AR 246 4,247 3,284 7,777
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(b)

(o)

fo o1 U 5 e o P

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

(iii)  Other segment information (Continued)

(a)

gribicas - AL A KR
(#8)

Gii)  H A7 BER (A

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-FZ-=F=A=+-HLEE

Health and beauty Property
supplements and investment
products business business Unallocated Total
R
BFEAH
REREE  WEREEE EH st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt T Tt
Continuing operations REREEH
Other information Jf B R
Additions of property, plant and equipment INEWE - RE Rt 1,896 = = 1,896
Addition of right-of-use assets NEMHREEE 6,770 = = 6,770
Addition of intangible assets R BT, G 5,500 = = 5,500
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 473 ~ FE Kk i 3,775 = = 3,775
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1 i Y T 2,450 = — 2,450
Amortisation of intangible assets T B A 285 = = 285
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables B ISR kI A B R
{17 715 = = 715
Written off of inventories, net of reversal WA > fubReE 106 = = 106
Fair value change of investment property REWELTEEE) — (11,900) — (11,900)
Finance costs g A 111 182 4,675 4,968
Share of profit of an associate TR 5 — O ) 22 i — - 6) (6)
Geographical information (b) HulE &R
Analysis of the Group’s revenue and results as well as analysis HAAREEEE —F 0E K -F
of the Group’s carrying amount of segment assets by CEFEHAZt—HIEFEENER
geographical market are not presented as the Group’s operations FO& B E B AU o P g 2
and assets for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are I A A B A B 3E 45 03 B DA % d b
mainly located in Hong Kong. 16, 117 35 ) 43 11 A B2 B 43 B0 O A AR T
EAHT -
Information about major customer (c0 FEEEFHER
Revenue from external customer contributing 10% or more of the o 7 412 1 A7 FE R 10% 5K A E g2
total revenue of the Group is as follows: HAMTEF s T ¢
2024 2023
Ry —E =
HK$°000 HK$’000
T Fils
Customer A* FFH 137,366 160,930

£ The revenue was derived from the health and beauty supplements and

products business.

i A B Wi T TR PR A B 8 A A i
[HTES
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184

2024 2023
TR T4 e e S
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THsTT
Continuing operations FRlE R E
Other income HAb e A
Bank interest income ERATALE A 57 217
Government subsidies (Note) B i B (B &) — 3,758
Sundry income HETE IR A 868 161
925 4,136
Other gains or losses A Wi £ sl 4R
Net gain on disposal of property, Y - BB B s )
plant and equipment i i V5 48 — 303
Reversal of impairment loss of property, WISE ~ R B A 1 Il W (E
plant and equipment e 48 948 —
Net exchange (loss)/gain BE 58 (B 48) Wi 25 15 48 (186) 130
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries Hh S B R 2 ) B9 s R (50) (237)
Loss on disposal of associates REREY = /NN TR =] - (1,042)
Gain on disposal of equity instruments B A R AR 25 I RE AR
at FVTPL B 10 7R — 531
Others oAt 6 115
718 (200)
1,643 3,936
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % — & " U4 = H =+ —H IL 4

Notes: For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised government grants of
HK$3,758,000 in respect of COVID-19 pandemic’s related subsidies, which
relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong

government. No such government grants are recognised during year ended 31

Mt ME R =F=ZHA=1+—HIFEE > AE
[F7 517 48 39 20119 76 51K 975 25 9 22 16 K R 4l Y e
FROERF R B (% = 4E 13,758,000
J6) A B A B BT B A T ARt 3

March 2024. FHEAR e ME_F NE=A=+—HIL
AT B2 7 A e R A B BT Al Y o
2024 2023
TR TYAE xR =
HK$’000 HK$’000
T TH#TT
Continuing operations R B
Interest on bank borrowings SRAT 18 2 A & 5,686 3,279
Interest on other borrowings A 5 2 A & 205 1,396
Interest on amount due to a sharecholder JREAS — 45 JE SR A 1 S, 1,266 182
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 620 111
7,777 4,968
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186

Profit before taxation from continuing operations is arrived at after

TR JEB5 Z BRBLAT A1 A8 4Bk (Rt

charging/(crediting) the followings: A) IN & HAES
2024 2023
TR T4 SE A
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#0 T
Continuing operations PR B
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ B THAR (BREFWAE) :
emoluments):
Salaries, commission, allowances, and Bra o~ 4 R K H At A A
other benefits 76,370 70,075
Retirement benefits B KA A 2,392 2,024
78,762 72,099
(b) Other items: HAIEH :
Auditors’ remuneration 2% il P 4 1,280 2,090
Cost of inventories B A 37,652 36,515
Depreciation charge: Pres B
— property, plant and equipment — W3 WU R 4,172 3,775
— right-of-use assets — fF MG E 3,843 2,450
Amortisation of intangible assets TV B S 1,100 285
Rent for special designated counters o Bl 8 7 AV AR 4 32,716 16,904
Gain on disposal of property, plant and W - R BRI
equipment, net Wi i AR — (303)
Written off of trade receivables R M e L B — 303
Written off of inventories, net of AE LR > R )
reversal 422 106
Rental income from investment A B EYFEZ WA
properties less direct outgoings of T L 42 B 52988,000 5 T
HK$988,000 (2023: HK$18,000) (T T =4F £ 18,000 00) (4,018) (189)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % % “JUFE=H =+ —H ILFEF

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s emoluments for the year, MR8 70 b T R ) R A o N w AR 49 B R 1Y)
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong R AT BRI AR

Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZRONEZH=E+—HIREE
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled
and other  Discretionary share-based Retirement
Fees benefits bonuses payments benefits Total
He R VAR HE &5 5 DA
Mg SRR WA A2 R it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T T
Executive directors Afr##
M. Cheung Siu Fai RO — 240 — — 12 252
Mr. Lam Wai Tong (Note i) MRE A (HaED — 2,011 — — 15 2,026
Non-executive directors FHfTHEF
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (Note i) BRIEA Lok (WFaki) - 124 - - - 124
Independent non-executive B FBTEE
directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau R 240 — — — — 240
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Note iii) B ESE A (W skiii) 240 — — — — 240
Ms. Dong Jian Mei (Note iv) HE R (Hativ) 240 - - - — 240
Chief executive officer TR #H
Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond W45 (k)
(Note v) — 286 — — 4 290
720 2,661 — — 31 3412
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_FR=F=A=1T—HILEE
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled
and other  Discretionary share-based Retirement
Fees benefits bonuses payments benefits Total
e BR DABCHE S 3 DA
4 AR LA sz BIRAEF] M5t
HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000
T T T T T T

Executive directors AfT##

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai RO = 345 = = 13 358

Mr. Lam Wai Tong (Note i) MRETERA (M) = 1412 2,000 = 14 3,426

Mr. Wang Xihua (Note vi) EF#ERE (Hatvi) — 1,308 — — 15 1323

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William BRI (M 3Evi)

(Note vii) = 466 = = 9 475
Mr. Chen Man Lung (Note viii) — BROCHE B2 (Wt kviii) - 1,182 - - 9 1,191
Independent non-executive B EHGTEE

directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BHMIEE 240 — — — — 240
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Note ix)  #7 H e/ (Hfikix) 85 — — — — 85
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Note iii) BRNESEAE (W ki) 180 — — — — 180
Ms. Dong Jian Mei (Note iv) #wHEETL (Hekiv) 180 — — — — 180
M. Tam Kin Yip (Note x) A (k) 101 — — — — 101
Mr. Leung Man Loon (Note xi)  PICHEIEA: (Mskxi) 101 — — — — 101
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (Note ii) BEIER Tt (it 55 — — — — 55

942 4713 2,000 — 60 1,715

Notes: B 5E

(i) Mr. Lam Wai Tong was appointed as executive director and co-chief executive (i) MREEE SR —F = R ANHE R
officer of the Company on 6 May 2022 and 19 May 2022 respectively. He has ZECERHA LA ERE /AN R
been re-designated as the sole chief executive officer of the Company with ITH#E R RATEARR - BHA —F _—4F R
effect from 3 September 2022. He resigned as executive director and chief H = H R AT 2y A A A ME— AT B -
executive officer of the Company with effect from 20 January 2024. TERAT AN F) AT 3 S AT B AR 2 s

R NE—H T HRAR -

(i) Ms. So Tsz Kwan resigned as independent non-executive director of the (ii) MERL LR - F - RNA-+=H#
Company on 23 June 2022. She was appointed as non-executive director of the TN R BHEA N ARSI R AT HE S - HHER
Company with effect from 25 September 2023. EAANFAFERTESR - A T =FJLH

T HHRAR

(iii) ~ Mr. Liu Ying Shun was appointed as independent non-executive director on 1 (i)  BENESEAER SR LA - HERT
July 2022. TSI IEPATHE S -

(iv)  Ms. Dong Jian Mei was appointed as independent non-executive director on 1 vy #FHEELLR-F-_FLH-HEZME

July 2022.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % — & " JUE=H =+ —H IL4FE

Notes: (Continued)

(v) Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond was appointed as chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from 20 January 2024.

(vi) Mr. Wang Xihua resigned as acting chairman and executive director on 24
October 2022.

(vii)  Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William resigned as executive director of the Company
on 1 July 2022.

(viii)  Mr. Chen Man Lung was appointed as executive director and co-chief executive
officer of the Company on 6 May 2022 and 19 May 2022 respectively. He
resigned as executive director and co-chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 1 September 2022 and 3 September 2022 respectively.

(ix) Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen was appointed and resigned as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 6 May 2022 and 14 September 2022 respectively.

(x) Mr. Tam Kin Yip retired as independent non-executive director on 1 September
2022.

(xi) Mr. Leung Man Loon retired as independent non-executive director on 1
September 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group while the non-executive director’s and
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no director of the
Company has waived any emoluments and no emoluments were paid or
payable by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

BEE - (A0

W) BRRSEEREAAA TR B
F oA R -

(viy ERFESAER-FF A UHEE
AEARTE LR AT S -

(vii)  BEMGAR T A LA - HEIMLA
NEIPATES -

(vii)  BRSCEESRAEN AR =R - FHHANH K&
CECCHETAT AR EAA AR
ATEE S SR ATBUAER - Al A = F =
FEHAA—HRZ-EFEZFNLA = HREAE
AR AT R AT AR

(ix) MHREER-FE_"FHANAERT
BN R RATES > R T
A+ H EHE

() EEEEAER T FNA - HEEE
SEHBATER -

(xi)  RICHEEAER F A - HEES
SEHBATER -

B SO S v S S A A R
Fe A S5 T 1 A7 PR B 4 RS > T b SO
TR AT 2 O 7 I AT I S e
WHEMEARFER -

BE_ZWER R _=F=A=+—
H ik 4 BE > A4 ) #5548 49 i S AT T P
S > T A S [ S 0 16 A ] 2 o S A R AT
AEAT 8 > A 2 10 55 A A S B S0 A AR
AR [0 R 6 % B S W A
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Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2023: two) of

the director whose emoluments is disclosed in Note 10. The aggregate

PR ARFEHFA LS K —4 (

A AL RS R M EE 1045 R o BR T

of the emoluments in respect of the remaining four individuals (2023: M2 (ZR =4 =4) NEB &%
three individuals) are as follows: R

2024 2023
e~y 11 - 2 SR
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T
Salaries and other emoluments 4 K HAb N 4 4,764 2,142
Discretionary bonuses T 1% A6 AL — 2,500
Retirement benefits R AR AR F 69 18
4,833 4,660

The emoluments of individuals other than directors with the highest

emoluments are within the following bands:

AL (NEEESR) SN TR

LA -

2024 2023
TR )
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
N N
HK$1,000,001 up to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000 %5 JC 3 1
HK$1,500,001 up to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 #5 7T % 2,000,000 %5 7C 1 2

No emoluments have been paid by the Group and the Company to the
directors of the Company or the top five highest paid employees as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the year (2023: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

2024 2023
TR Y4 —EF=4
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#0 T T
Continuing operations PR
Current tax B34 A5 I
Hong Kong Profits Tax A EB 3,712 4,611
Overprovision in respect of prior years 2 A R R
Hong Kong Profits Tax HHNGEH (404) (1,994)
Deferred tax 9% 9iE B IH 748 27)
4,056 2,590

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of
assessable profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
the assessable profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime is insignificant
to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is

calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC

subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no provision for PRC
EIT has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the

Group has no assessable profits under EIT.

RAEF TR W R E - A EMBEENE
2,000,000%5 7 JE 5T Bl F i 1% 4 8.25% 4%
B > 1 2,000,000 % 7T 1) FE SR A
¥516.5% %481 -

AN EE TR o B AT B Sk A
K BB EAMFEREMSAEK - M
R4 B 1) i v R A5 B 42 £t R S R
16.5%5T 5

MR PE o R S ZE T A Bk ([ PR ek )
Je Al 2 I A B R EME MR 1) > T {1814 B 14 vk
Io8] FfF B B 2R £ 25% o

BE X NER -F T EZHEEH =1
H R4 BE > JA &5 B 5 i 3R 3 S A oy o
A SEFT B o R R A SR 0 JE A 3
i 1570 JE S 5L A
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Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

taxation from continuing operations per the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

TS JFC A 0 3k M T 1) 0 T 2 A ) ) 3k [

W BAT B AR

4 TR B JEAT 38 T SR 5 4R 4 S L At 4 T W
. 2 P R A S Y BR B T i A B B

e

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T U T
Profit before taxation % B 11 Y5 ) 4,574 43,766
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of $16.5% % W | 15 BLBL R 5B 10
16.5% GRS 755 7,222
Tax effect on income not taxable for tax b SRR 1B 5
purpose (200) (2,401)
Tax effect on expenses not deductible for tax A I FIB B 52 19 Bl 5 52 28
purpose 3,334 439
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences < fife 78 A 11 Usk 17 IR 25 47 1) Bl 75
not recognised P2 165 45
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised K THE SR B0 TE s 48 Y B R 2 723 1,356
Utilisation of tax losses previously not ) 8 1 o Wl SR B T A 18
recognised (127) (2,167)
Overprovision in respect of prior years A AE: AT BT R R A A (404) (1,994)
Tax effect of tax rates in other jurisdiction Aty ) V5 HE [ R o 1) oL S (22) —
Statutory tax concession 5 BB 1B (190) (218)
Others HoAtb 22 308
Actual tax expense BB IE S 4,056 2,590
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H B Advance Rider & H: [ J&§ 2 ]
(% #% [ Advance Rider%:H |)

Mo CAEANA=TH S AR
] — 4% M 37 55 = 77 5 Advance RiderE [
23R HE > A B4 U 55,0003 7T © 5%
THOR ZFZFNAZ T HERK -

Disposal of Advance Rider and its subsidiaries
(collectively, “Advance Rider Group”)

On 30 August 2022, the Group resolved to dispose of the entire equity
interest of Advance Rider Group to an independent third party for a
total cash consideration of HK$5,000. The transaction was completed
on 30 August 2022.

The net liabilities of Advance Rider Group at the date of disposal and Advance Rider£E H /i H 8 H AR & 515 58

the effect of disposal were as follows: Kb BB R
HK$°000
THT
Consideration: UH -
Cash consideration receivable A g B 4 AR S
As at
30 August 2022
e
ANH=1H
HK$°000
T
Analysis of assets and liabilities of subsidiaries over which 2 25 i R 1YY A A D Y E
control was lost: BT
Property, plant and equipment E SN &L 51
Trade and other receivables, prepayments and deposits TR M e R L At B W 3 T~ TEAST
FIH e & 715
Inventories Py 362
Cash and cash equivalents B4 K B4 S EH Y 213
Trade payables, other payables and accruals JREAS MR~ At B AR 3 JE B
FE=t 2 A (1,551)
Contract liabilities GRIAMR (95)
Tax payable JRE A 3 JE (€28)
Net liabilities disposed of B A AR (336)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HR S B g A m i A
Consideration AE 5
Non-controlling interests I 45 I (122)
Net liabilities disposed of BN =K ST 336
Reclassification of cumulative exchange reserve to RRRER T e T
profit or loss upon disposal Ha 178
Gain on disposal B A A 397
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Disposal of Advance Rider and its subsidiaries
(collectively, ‘“Advance Rider Group’’) (Continued)

The loss for the period from the discontinued e-commerce promotion

business is set out below:

i £ Advance Rider & [t & A =]
(#:#% [ Advance Rider%: H |) (4)
& B B # LR SR T T R R SR
MRS

Period ended
30 August 2022
BmE
S~
ANH=Z+H

1R 3
HK$’000
T

Loss for the period A i 18

(820)

Gain on disposal of Advance Rider Group ih 8 Advance Rider®E [H 09Uk i 397

(423)
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Disposal of Advance Rider and its subsidiaries
(collectively, “Advance Rider Group’) (Continued)

The results of Advance Rider Group for the period from 1 April 2022
to 30 August 2022, which have been included in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, were as

fo o1 U 5 e o P

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

1} £ Advance Rider /% H: it & 2 5]
(## [ Advance Rider#: M |) (49)
Advance RiderfEE H ~F " "4 H—H
EoEFCHFENAZTHBM O ALZS
15 £ B oAt 2 T i 4 Fe Y FEAE AR ¢

follows:
Period ended
30 August 2022
HE
NH=1H
1 ]
HK$’000
T
Revenue Wi 4 138
Cost of sales BB A (132)
Gross profit TH 6
Other income, gains or losses oAb ~ i g3 5 B 58
Administrative expenses AT BB 3 (887)
Loss from operations FEE- oEi| (823)
Finance costs il A —
Loss before taxation o 54 i s 15 (823)
Taxation Bl I8 3
Loss for the period WA s 18 (820)
Loss for the period from discontinued operations A& H B A& R AR S I 0 A e R A A
includes the following:
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments): B THA (G35 Jr ) -
— Salaries, allowances and other benefits — I~ I R A AR A 315
— Retirement benefits — B A 11
326
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the MR _F _WE RN T =F=H
Company during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, nor has any = B AR EE > M ) AR A S A I AR
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting periods. R AT RS > B R DA S JE

AT AT LR, o

From continuing operations KA FEREEE
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the AN A N R A i G A 28 ) T AR LA
owners of the Company is based on the following data: N HEEE
2024 2023
TR TYE —EF T
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#C T T
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the FH A 51 5 B R 3 AN 2L R /Y
Company for the purpose of basic earnings per AN T N ELL 4E R
share 7 F 571 41,036
Less: loss for the year from discontinued operations U AR EA IR S ZETH
A 1R — 260
Profit for the purpose of basic earnings per share AR BB [ 15 4 58 26T
from continuing operations ) 4 S L A 2 1 B 325 571 41,296
2024 2023
R TE RS
’000 ’000
T T

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the i’ &t 45 ik 35 24 2 |
purpose of basic earnings per share {4 X 388 i o A S 24 8 3,107,893 3,107,893
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From continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the

owners of the Company is based on the following data:

PEESF F -y RN I R 3
A8 A NN 5192 AR R L
LS TR

2024 2023
TR —E =4
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG Tt
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the FHA &t 5L B A 28 ) Y
Company for the purpose of basic earnings EN/NGIE: DN AR
per share i A1) 571 41,036

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for basic

earnings per share from continuing operations.

From discontinued operations

For the year ended 31 March 2023, basic loss per share for the
discontinued operations is HK0.01 cents per share, based on the loss for
the period from the discontinued operations of approximately
HK$260,000 and the denominators used is the same as those detailed

above for basic earnings per share from continuing operations.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, no adjustment has been made to the
basic earnings per share amount presented in the computation of diluted
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares

during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the computation of diluted earnings
per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s options
because the exercise price of those options was higher than the average

market price per share.

e {68 P G 0 B SR TR 5 A A SE RS 1Y)
A JBCHEAS 8 R B A £ 3 BE AR TR o

KEHOKIERS EE

BEEZ =ZH£=ZA=Z+—HILEE
8 B 4% 1E 5048 26T 2 1IN B 4E 40 260,000 5
ToRtE > B IS 2 B A R
By 0.0 Al - 1T i A 43 Bk B A B S
L ERSE U P i & N D
oy BEA A -

WMEEZTWE=ZA =+ —HILFEE - &
TR R S 0 T T S 0 L 2 o T S S
T 5 TS 0 ) W 2 ) 2 A P R A 1 M
TR A

WE=B-SESA=+— A 3
P O S BB A (25 A
FE > R 2 a2 A £ 00 5 74 AT
¥y A8 o
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Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the relevant payroll costs, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government
of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the

retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

R BB OIR It 8

A AR R 7 0 O o R A R R B 2
75 Y A A0 ) £ s 1 A2 B ) 2 S A%
1§ B 20— e A Rt 8 (a4
) o w B A0 SR B I Y E ) B
Rl > FRIOn Z R N B0 2 4 - MR
A Er# o R KR B A& B SR E T
B A0 5% 1w+ B AR - Bm B AR B W
A 430,000 7T

AR AT FR B B B 2 R i B 32 B
IR A % 7 4 I 2 AR P A U w8 o %
S5 B JB 2 ) ZE 9 38 4B B MU T 0 L 1) %R
IRAR A B LL ST AT AR A o A4 [ 38 %
AR AR At B A ME— BAT 5 A HRLE I I

s
sA ©

2024 2023
TR —E =
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T THIT
At fair value F& A P E S MR
At the beginning of the year A 136,900 =
Acquisition through acquisition of a subsidiary 375 8 SO — HD AT Jagg 2 ) 5 i — 125,000
Transfer from property, plant and equipment Y ~ TR 7 B s M A%
(Note 18) (B EE18) 57,430 =
Change in fair value upon transfer from property, WIZE ~ B Bk A R 1
plant and equipment INT{H S E) 27,770 =
Fair value change o T(H A2 ) (15,000) 11,900
At the end of the year TRAER 207,100 136,900
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s industrial properties
and residential premise located in Hong Kong with carrying amount of
HK$57,430,000 was leased out to two independent third parties and a
related party. The corresponding portions of the leasehold land and
buildings, leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment
were reclassified from property, plant and equipment to investment
properties from the date of commencement of the lease agreements. The
properties were fair-valued by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer, who is not
connected to the Group and the resulting increase in fair value of

HK$27,770,000 has been credited to the property revaluation reserve.

The fair value of industrial properties was determined based on the
income capitalization approach, where the market rentals of all lettable
units of the properties are assessed and discounted at the market yield
expected by investors for this type of properties. The market rentals are
assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units of the
properties as well as other lettings of similar properties. The market
yield is determined by reference to the yields derived from analysing

the sales transactions of similar properties in the market.

The fair value of residential property was determined based on the
direct comparison method, assuming sale in its existing state and by
making reference of similar nature properties as available in the

relevant market.

The Group’s property interest held under operating leases to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation purpose are measured using the fair

value model and are classified and accounted for investment properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March
2024 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that
date by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (2023: Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited), an independent qualified professional valuer, who

is not connected to the Group.

BE-EZ - WE=H=+—HIL4EF K
£ [ B T8 {5 55 57,430,000 78 1 37 173 7 s
1 L 26 3 K AT 25 4 26 LA T 4% 08 ST 5B
= R—%E% T - A EW#RAE%ZH
W HE L BT HEEE &
B e E R MRS S B R - ik
IE G R B VRS- C/E BBV L/E 3
H B 7 A A S A (I B R ER G A
FA BRA FVEAT AP (E > 3% A (R Al B A<
AR 8] Sl i B > P 35 127,770,000 95
JCE EF AW FEE AL R

TEY R N T ETI AR B B AL 5
TE > HE WIS AT AR AL A TS A
Ty % B8 BT A B a2 B A 2 Tl 8
Wi g ZAEAT REAG BB - TG THE 1 2%
WS m] i A B2 i A B AL < DA R BTARL )
S 9 FoAt AR DUAEEAT REAG o TS iR R
J327% 43 i i 5 bR S 10 8 1 28 B T
A 3 A 1A i 3 R E

[T/ SN DR S IR Y ey
E > BRERAEB ARG T 88 - 2% AR
T35 b AR X UL L A 1 3K

A A AR 4 A8 A AL A 5 A B IR < B A
FEARTHE A i 2 W) SE M i (6 T 8 ~P(E R Y
FIE > AR RAIRIE S E Y 2 -

AEBEBEY R —F _NFE=A=1+—
H RG2S (T AR 8 S 5 Y SRS Al (L
i BRI A A R AR (==
AT AL A PR D) R 5% H AT B Al 45
SE o il (L i BEL A 4 [ S e R 2
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200

In determining the fair value of the properties, the directors of the
Company determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements. The Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The directors of the Company works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate

valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is its current use.

Valuation technique(s) Significant unobservable

and key input(s) input(s)

M EREE2 Y EAATEEZ2Y

T i 58 W) SE R N TBIRF - AS 0% Bl S 18 5E
DN V(B B R 9 A 5 il i A g
A AR T WS 5 =05 5 M A (R AT A
(i o A ) 3 3 B A 1 Al Al L i 22 2
AV o IR RE T8 A Al 8 5 il S A 7 i A
Bk o

RSB A (B - 35 10 B s B
PR 2 o

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to

fair value Sensitivity
A BEL YR
AT B R Uk

Investment properties in Hong Kong

REkZ REYE
— Commercial and residential Income Capitalisation ~ Capitalisation rate, taking into
building, located in Approach account the capitalisation of
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon rental income potential, and
The key inputs are: prevailing market condition,
2024: HK$124,700,000 (1) Capitalisation rate; of which ranged from 3.2%
(2023: HK$136,900,000) and to 4% (2023: 3% to 4%)
(2) Monthly market rent
Monthly market rent per square
foot, taking into account the
location frontage, size, which
ranged from HK$23 to
HK$323 (2023: from HK$24
to HK$326)
— R UERKY R ERE  AEA(LE Kot REARCHSRATE R
HHITH EALHERN
SR 12470000088 TESH: T32%E4% A% (2=
(24 1136,900,000800) (DEAILER: & 4 3% 5 4%)

QFAfE
BYHRGAME G RAE -
B R A TR
3230 (CF =4 2436
TLE326 )
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The higher the capitalisation A slight increase in the
rate, the lower the fair capitalisation rate used
value would result in a

significant decrease in
fair value of the

property, and vice versa

The higher the monthly A significant increase in the
market rent, the higher the monthly market rent
fair value used would result in a

significant increase in
fair value of the

property, and vice versa

BAL A - FIF ik B AL R BT
AR L B/ VN

WY LI

BAMSHR > AFEES  FHRTEAH SRS
MR A TR E
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Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

Significant unobservable
input(s)

ETEAEE2Y  BEAATEEZY

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to
fair value

ABE2 YR
AR

Sensitivity

L&Y

— Industrial properties located in
Kwai Chung, New Territories,

Hong Kong

2024: HK$47,600,000 (2023: N/A)

— R T3

R I 47,600,000 7T
(ZFZ=A R

Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into

Approach account the capitalisation of

rental income potential, and

The key inputs are:

(1) Capitalisation rate; which ranged from 3.9% to

and 4.4% (2023: N/A)

(2) Monthly market rent

Monthly market rent per square

foot, taking into account the

location frontage, size, which

ranged from HKS$12 to HK$23

(2023: N/A)
WA B A E Bt REAL S RATES K&

HIT > AL LR R AT
FEZH: 39%E44% 1%
(WEARLLR; & (TR RER
QEAME

BYHREARE GHRAE
Sl EH) B2 E
BET(CFZ=F
A

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF & B4 B (¥ 5 ) f BR 2 ®]

prevailing market condition, of

The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair

value

The higher the monthly
market rent, the higher the
fair value

EARAL LA
AFEBIK

BAMSME  ATHBE

A slight increase in the
capitalisation rate used
would result in a
significant decrease in
fair value of the

property, and vice versa

A significant increase in the
monthly market rent used
would result in a
significant increase in fair
value of the property, and

vice versa

Fr ik G AL R BT
EIEN AT ERIR
WY LI

Fir 6% T 4 A AL K IR
HESI N AT HE
PN R Vs
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Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

MR ER2 Y

Significant unobservable

BRATBELY

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to
fair value

A B2 W
ATFEBER

Sensitivity

B

— Residential premise located in

Mid-levels in Hong Kong

2024: HK$34,800,000 (2023: N/A)

The key input is:

MR FELIN WY EHHEABRSAE I BT RAER - BT E &
AR LB > W E A E
REAMAEE > W E
WEH S AR K
N RERE B R4 > AR
T4722,000 7T £29,000# T

TR U < 34,800,0009 G

(ZEZ=4KHA)

EL S &

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has pledged its investment properties
with fair value of HK$207,100,000 (2023: Nil) to banks to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group.
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Direct comparison Price per square foot, using

method assuming sale market direct comparables and
in its existing state taking into account location
and other individual factors
reference of similar such as location, time,
nature properties as frontage, building age, size,
floor levels and layout, etc.,
which is ranging from
approximately HK$22,000 to
HK$29,000 (2023: N/A)

Price per square foot

ARETHE - 12
HHIET LR

A significant increase in the
market transaction prices
used would result in a
significant increase in fair

value, and vice versa.

i B 7 5 2 A K
TR AR SR TR
g B2 «

An increase in the market
unit rate used would
result in an increase in
fair value, and vice

versa.

PR B 7 35 B B
S BN P Y
o> B2 «

PECIAE=A =S —H o AEEC K
MHEEYWXRTRT > XA FEHES

207,100,000 % 7t (

TR R

12T AL B RAT AR R AR
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Furniture,
Leasehold land Leasehold  Plant and fixtures and Motor
and buildings improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
iR Y A %E
L &2 HEHE MR RES Bt YH Mt
HKS$000 HK$'000  HK$°000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000
Tt T T T T T
Cost ﬁjﬁi
At 1 April 2022 REZFEZZFNA—H 87,764 9,598 4,704 6,079 2,059 110,204
Additions RE — 226 1,520 150 — 1,896
Disposals & — (54) — — (756) (810)
Disposal of subsidiaries 8 I A ) — — — (149) — (149)
Exchange adjustments [ Ji 5 — — — 2 — 2)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
87,764 9,770 6,224 6,078 1,303 111,139
Additions - 3,656 13 577 726 4,972
Transfer to investment properties (Note 17) %ﬁ@& B (k1) (75,991) (3,949) — (75) — (80,015)
Written off bE | — — @) ) — 0]
Exchange adjustments [ 5. 74 2 — - - ) - 2)
At 31 March 2024 REFZNFE=A=+—H 11,773 9,477 6,233 6,573 2,029 36,085
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2 G K WA
losses
At 1 April 2022 REFZZFMNA—H 18,899 8,897 4,464 5,728 1,766 39,754
Charge for the year R 2,793 291 351 197 152 3,784
Written back on disposals B R ] = (31) = = (669) (700)
Written back on disposals of subsidiaries B T ) A [ — — — (98) — (98)
Exchange adjustments i 5. 74 — — — ) — 2
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 REF=ZHZA=F—HEK
“ECZHENA—H 21,692 9,157 4,815 5,825 1,249 42,738
Charge for the year RS 2,455 942 466 207 102 4,172
Transfer to investment properties (Note 17) HEEREWE 1) (18,922) (3,655) - 8) - (22,585)
Reversal of impairment loss (Note) 58 0 6 L 4R (R ) (948) - - - - (948)
Written off sy — - 0)) (5) - (9)
Exchange adjustments [ 51, 74 - - - ) - )
At 31 March 2024 REZZME=ZA=+—H 4,277 6,444 5277 6,017 1,351 23,366
Carrying amount R
At 31 March 2024 “ECNEZA=Z+—H 7,496 3,033 956 556 678 12,719
At 31 March 2023 NEZZEZAZ+—H 66,072 613 1,409 253 54 68,401
Note: MisE . BEF-ANE=ZA=ZT—HILHEE > B3

During the year ended 31 March 2016, impairment loss of HK$1,271,000 has

been provided against the leasehold land and building. Upon transfer of the

leasehold land and buildings from property, plant and equipment to investment

properties (Note 17), reversal of impairment loss of HK$948,000 has been

recognised in profit or loss (after net of depreciation determined with carrying

amount that no impairment loss has been recognised).

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF & B4 B (¥ 5 ) f BR 2 ®]

LB R o R AR R $R1,271,000 95
TG o AR L M 2 - R B Rk i
BBCE W (M 5E17) 18 B s 1845 )
948,000 7t L A 15 4 ERR (AR T 85 4% LANR
T A PR+ A i 0 U e 1)
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204

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking into

account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at

the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold improvements

Over the shorter of the term of
lease, or 50 years
Over the shorter of the term of

lease, or 3 to 5 years

Ay - AR KR B (R R BR
ER) AN E SRS > BT I 4E R

Plant and machinery 3 to 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has pledged its leasehold land and
buildings held for own use with carrying amount of approximately
HK$7,496,000 (2023: HK$66,072,000) to banks to secure banking

facilities granted to the Group.

T

FHE £ o e p LB 8 504F
(DA 35 oy 1)

THEHAE T B k3 & 54F
(DABR S 3 1y )

W7 R 7 3E 54

1FH -~ S E R 354

IR 3ESLE

MoZNE=ZH=+—H > AEHD K
R [ OB HE 1 (H 40 47,496,000 I
(T & = =4 1 66,072,000% o) M L& L+
BT T ERAT o A B A SR DR R AT Al
I T A o

Leased Motor
properties vehicle Total
Yk HH At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T
As at 31 March 2024 RERTWE=ZA=+—H
Carrying amount R T (B 11,142 409 11,551
As at 31 March 2023 REFDEE=ZA=ZF—H
Carrying amount e T 6,722 — 6,722
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BRE_FZ_NE=H=+—H
14 R
Depreciation charge Pres B 3,780 63 3,843
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_R_=Z4=ZH=1+—H
1L4E
Depreciation charge P18 B 2,450 — 2,450
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2024 2023

TERTYE —E =
HK$°000 HK$’000
TG Tt
Expense relating to short-leases HHIHE R X 80 82
Total cash outflow of leases HEem b e 4,895 2,772
Addition to right-of-use assets B RS E 8,672 6,770

For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses, office
equipment and motor vehicle for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 1 to 4 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and

determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various offices.
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term

lease expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately HK$11,214,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$11,551,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023: lease liabilities of
HK$6,768,000 and related right-of-use assets of HK$6,722,000). The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

TR R% WA A BE > ALy R 2
W e ~ AR W E M SR - R
B HFTRT SR [ GE AL 2 1 B A4E o TR
A8 73 HE T i e A 5 AN ) sk S R A -
S AR B Al S T R 0D B R B R > ACAR
D - 0 ) E o % 1B E T RLAT 8 A A
fH] -

A A ) 7 BAHT S A WS R 0 A AR B o
R CPER FECSEZHA=+F—H
Jt HAFH 5 41 A B SOk /R 1Y) e 0 AH 1 B
SCHT B i S A TE B A A AR SE A

L B sl 5

WA A EPIE=ZHA =+ —H > iR
T B 411,214,000 7T » A0 BE 8 A #E
B A F11,551,0008 00 (& =4 fl
1 B 18 556,768,000 70 F AR B A RE & =
£56,722,000% 7C) o Fl € 195 5 A B A AT AT
B O AL A 00 R A I I A
R BRAN) o FE G A HAE (G SR o

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 24 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 23 W] 205



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 205 i I

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

206

Product Sales
Club development Brand distribution  Customer  Computer
membership rights name channel relationship software Total
BiE 8
MEEMEH ERMEE HRLE B RPRR BN At
HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$000
T Tk T T Tk T T
Cost AR
At 1 April 2022 S
TMWA—H 2,200 1,000 6,560 6,179 2,758 = 18,697
Additions WE = = = = = 5,500 5,500
Disposal of subsidiaries 6 A — — — — (2.758) — (2,758)
At 31 March 2023 and PR
1 April 2023 EVE = =
RS
mH—H 2,200 1,000 6,560 6,179 — 5,500 21,439
Additions WE - — - — — 10,000 10,000
At 31 March 2024 e 112
=A=+—H 2,200 1,000 6,560 6,179 — 15,500 31,439
Accumulated amortisation and 2 54 8 % £ 46
impairment losses
At 1 April 2022 e S
TWA—H — 990 6,560 6,179 2,758 = 16,487
Charge for the year R — 10 — — — 275 285
Written back on disposals of B B IR [l
subsidiaries — — — — (2,758) — (2,758)
At 31 March 2023 and AR AR
1 April 2023 ZSA=Et—HE
CECZE
TWA—H — 1,000 6,560 6,179 — 275 14,014
Charge for the year ERZ — — — — — 1,100 1,100
At 31 March 2024 e 1
=“A=+—H — 1,000 6,560 6,179 — 1,375 15,114
Carrying amount JiR e £
At 31 March 2024 AR AR
ZH=+—H 2,200 — — — — 14,125 16,325
At 31 March 2023 i
ZA=+—H 2,200 = = = = 5225 7425
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At the end of the reporting period, the above intangible assets other

than club membership have definite useful lives. Such intangible assets

TR R - BRI & RESh > LAl dRE
By [ E 8 R AE I o A R SR S A LA

are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following period: T AT A DA AR T S

Products development rights 7 years JEE i B B T4
Brand name 5 years i WL 42 T 54F
Sales distribution channel 5 years SF B o) GH IR IE 54
Customer relationship 5 years %P &R 54
Computer software 5 years o S R A 54

2024 2023

R UL =

HK$°000 HK$’000

T#L T# T

Raw materials JE M R} 22,157 20,030

Finished goods B 3,723 3,787

25,880 23,817

2024 2023

TR =

HK$°000 HK$’000

T#T TH#TT

Trade receivables JHE Wz B X 29,136 41,433

Less: Allowance for credit losses W AE B T (1,484) (1,433)

27,652 40,000

Other receivables L Ath R Wi 3 T 2,493 2,528

Prepayments (Note) TEAT 3E (i 5E) 16,120 27,684

Utility, trade and other deposits KEE - B 5 Mk HAbLE S 9,438 11,327

Right-of-return assets R E 163 169

Less: Allowance for credit losses W A B T (162) (10)

55,704 81,698
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2024 2023
TR TPYLE B =
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T TT
Analysis of trade and other receivables, JRE AT IS 3k e At E Wi T~ FE A

prepayments and deposits ARIE J 4 4 A
Non-current portion I i Bl 5 4y 10,671 22918
Current portion it By 45,033 58,780
55,704 81,698

Note:

The amount mainly prepaid to the independent IT services providers for
developing customised operating systems for the Group. During the year ended
31 March 2024, customer relationship management system and staff leave and
attendance management system were completed and implemented, the relevant
costs of HK$10,000,000 were recognised as intangible assets and amortised to
profit and loss over five years; and HK$815,000 of expenses for the system
support and maintenance have been utilised and charged to profit or loss
during the year. The remaining balance of HK$9,905,000 as at 31 March 2024
will be utilised for various IT services or captialised as IT systems. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, the customised point of sales system and instant
sales report system were completed and implemented, the relevant costs of
HK$5,500,000 were recognised as intangible assets and amortised to profit and

loss over five years.

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivables

balances are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$3,200,000 (2023: HK$5,621,000) which are past due. Out of the
past due balances, no trade receivable (2023: HK$125,000) has been

past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default due to

long-term/on-going relationship, good repayment record and continuous

repayment from these customers.

The Group generally allows credit period ranging from 0 to 90 days.
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PR &E B RKIE 42 B VA AT T B S AR B R S L
7 DA 25 A 4 T B 3 PR 6 R 4 - BB
FoPUEZH =+ —HIRERE > FFBRE
R A K B AR % B R B R 8 R
BAT > MBI AR 10,000,000 7T B 7 58 5 48
W > WA fAER(ER S P s - AEH
FI815,000% G £ & &t S 3% Je 47 B 5 - I
EFtAFERERG - R T NE=H =4 —
H » f:%9,905,000 % 70 & il it 2 10 & BH
JIRHS A 2 R RH R AR B AL - E
FEEZAZ— B IRERE > E R
RAK BB ERE R AT BTN E
it > A B AR 5,500,000 5 TG TR £ Y
B AR R 6 22 4H 45 o

E\ﬁiﬁv_fl@ A=+ —H o AREEEIK
SR R L35 AR IR 1A (R 49 3,200,000 TG 1Y
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of PUF 2 RS BRE CR R A5 Rl 1R 14l )
allowance for credit losses) based on the date of revenue recognition. Wi i A B2 HHA 0 AR 88 20 AT o
2024 2023
R TYE TR
HK$°000 HK$°000
T# 0 T
0-30 days 0%30H 24,452 34,379
31-60 days 31260 H 3,200 5,491
61-90 days 61290 H — 5
91-180 days 91 %180 H — 8
181-365 days 1812365 H — 5
Over 365 days #4365 H — 112
27,652 40,000
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set JRE AT B o JEL At JRE AL 9 VL 194 Y (L ST 5 1%
out in Note 36(b). O M EE36(b) ©
Cash and cash equivalents represent bank balances and cash on hand B4 R Bl & S5 e SRAT A5 0 X T Bl 42
and bank overdrafts. Bank balance and bank overdrafts carry interest at K SRAT 5557 o SRAT 4 B8R M SRATIE SR BiAT
prevailing market rates. Qi EE S
Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in Note SRAT &4 R 1) W (R ST AG R R B 5E 36(b) ©
36(b).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

2024 2023
e~y 111 —E =

HK$°000 HK$’000

T#0 T

Trade payables JRE A B K 2,357 3,040

Salary and welfare payables JEAS) 38 4 B A A 10,327 13,957

Accrued advertising expenses JRE Tt B 2 B S 3,626 1,802

Other payables and accruals At A 35 T S I T 2,480 3,971

Interest payable on bank and other borrowings M f #247 K& HoAth £ 3K ]S 1,299 654

Deposits from tenants F 24 1,000 1,048
Receipt in advance for leasing of an T — JE 4% 8 W 2 1) TR UGRROE

investment property 5 130

21,094 24,602

The credit period on trade payable is ranging from 0 to 90 days.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice

AT IR AR5 BN FOZE 90 H -

VAT 5 ME AP MR RE A S 52 S B i 2

o

date.
2024 2023
ZE Y4 —EF =4
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T
0-30 days 0%F30H 919 1,525
31-60 days 31260 H 1,006 548
61-90 days 61290 H 178 134
91-180 days 91 %180 H — 496
181-365 days 1812365 H 2 20
Over 365 days 365 H 252 317
2,357 3,040
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

Provision for long service payment

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 was enacted in June 2022 which
abolishes the use of the accrued benefits of employers’ mandatory
contributions under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
and/or Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance to offset severance
payment and long service payment (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).
The abolishment of the Offsetting Arrangement would increase the state
benefits that affect the long service payment payable by the employer.
In accordance with the requirement of HKAS 19, management has
re-measured the provision for long service payment to reflect the
financial impact of the abolishment of the Offsetting Arrangement. As a
result, a provision for long service payment in an immaterial amount of
approximately HK$816,000 has been recognised at 31 March 2024
(2023: Nil) which is included in “salary and welfare payables” above.

0 R s < B s
202248 1 B HR AR 5T 8195 491 (31K 81 %2 Hk)
(ERT) W ) i — % = 4 X H M > JBE
W 7 AR o e A BE A nt BRI KB
O ZE AR ARG B e 5 ) JE T i 7 3= o ol
PR B R 5 A 3 I A WO = A R
S (FERRZHE D) o BT 3 02 BR 7 1 B
FAEA » H R T 3T 1R IR &4
2o RPEF G EIERE 195 M -
YEC BT R IR & B - DAt
TR S 0k & BE R A S 2 o R > B
T OVEZH =+ — HiEsRIEE K EHA
816,000%5 70 1 1= WA MR 75 = gl (=% — =
) s MR B SCTER A AR
Fl ] e

2024 2023
TR TR TEA
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#0 T T
Advances received from customers: [a] % 7 R GE A KA -
Health and beauty supplements and products R i B % 75 4 ot B i SE
business 36 84

Revenue recognised during the current year included the whole amount
of contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period amounted
to approximately HK$84,000 (2023: HK$126,000).

The contract liabilities were expected to be recognised as revenue in the
next 12 months. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied contract which has an original expected

duration of one year or less is not disclosed.

A A A JBE e w1 i 2 B 3 T A TR B 40
B A A 4 A 484,000 TT (—E — =
4E 1 126,000% 7T) ©

i # BT R R A 1248 T TR it R A i
Ao AN U A R Y SR 1S R AT A A
0 BE T JRUE T AR A — AR B DA T IR TR
T8 #1009 28 5 FEL A% Al S 4 %
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

The amounts due to a shareholder are unsecured, bearing Hong Kong JE AT — 44 11 ORI 2 MEHCAT > 45 P B 4R AT
Dollar Prime Rate of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited minus 2% (Fr i) A BR /A 7 s e e P B R 36 3 13 47 2 %
per annum and repayable on demand. FT R R BEOR R
The shareholder also is an executive director of the Company during BRI B AN A E ZF M & =%
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. CEFEAET A EFENRATES -
2024 2023
-~y 11 = TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T TH# T
Bank borrowings, secured SRATAG 3K > A L 110,965 61,737
110,965 61,737
Other borrowings: H Al
Unsecured notes (note (b)) SEHCH 2L 0E (B G (b)) — 18,000
— 18,000
110,965 79,737
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

2024 2023
TR T4 SE A
HK$’000 HK$’000
T THs T
The carrying amounts of the bank AL 0 S SR 7 AR AR 1 BRAT A K
borrowings that contain a repayment on F MR R B AL T
demand clause (shown under current B ) 5 ZEHF DL B A R
liabilities) repayable:
Within 1 year — 4R 20,200 8,929
More than one year, but not exceeding A — A > B R A AR
two years 10,761 8,019
More than two years, but not exceeding R A PR AR H R R AR
five years 27,296 21,754
More than five years R A 52,708 23,035
110,965 61,737
The carrying amounts of the other At AV 35K vy MR G A 28 DL 9 T
borrowings are repayable: R -
Within 1 year —4ER — 18,000
— 18,000
110,965 79,737
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under ¥ : i 8) & fif i /8 — 4 A 2 1
current liabilities L (110,965) (79,737)

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities FE R B TR & — —
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214

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Ff 3E
The exposure of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are as follows: (a) A% 45 [ Y SRAT B At £ SRR G0 R
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
Fixed-rate borrowings [ 7 ) A K — 18,000
Variable-rate borrowings ] 58 I R AE K 110,965 61,737
110,965 79,737
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry interest range MEFEZNE=ZH=+—H > AL A5
from 4.33% to 6.13% (2023: from 3.70% to 5.63%) per annum. Fil Al AL AT F433%86.13% (. F
T4 A T370% %5.63%) #HE. o
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contractual AR TS SR B R A 26 (TRARE 7Y & B9 F )
interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows: HWEMT
2024 2023
TR &R
Effective interest rate per annum: BB FIR
Fixed-rate borrowings If] 72 ] 26 3K 3.00% 3.00% to 10.00%
3.00% 3.00% %.10.00%
Variable-rate borrowings ] 5 R R A K 4.33% to 6.13% 3.70% to 5.63%
4.33% %6.13% 3.70% %.5.63%
As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s unsecured notes with an aggregate amount (b) MIFZ=F=H=1—H  REHGFHEL

of HK$18,000,000 carry coupon rates at 3% per annum and repayable within
one year. The unsecured notes were fully repaid during the year ended 31
March 2024.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % — & " U4 = H =+ —H IL 4

2024 2023
TR TR
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T
Lease liabilities payable: JRE A AR B £ 1 -
Within one year — R 4,754 2,692
Within a period of more than one year but not £ M —4F LA b > {H A K 7 1 4F
more than two years 3,429 2,446
Within a period of more than two years but not £ H W 4F DA | » {HAS B8 4 i 4F:
more than five years 3,031 1,630
11,214 6,768
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months ¥ : 8 & & Frs it -+ 8 H A 2
shown under current liabilities A& 2 IR (4,754) (2,692)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months P ) = -5/ i e [ ) I
shown under non-current liabilities A4k 2 BE 6,460 4,076

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from
3.72% to 6.06% (2023: 3.27% to 5.72%) per annum.

5.72%) °

2 LR R R P 8 R AR R P A A
3.72%%6.06% (% — =4 :3.27% %
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % % “JU4FE=H =+ —H ILFE

2024 2023
fant- Junl 11 —E =4
HK$°000 HKS$°000
Tt Tt
Refund liabilities FE =K
Arising from right of return B E A 1,260 1,274

The refund liabilities represents the Group’s right to recover products
from customers where customers exercise their right of return. The
Group uses its accumulated historical experience to estimate the number
of returns on a portfolio level using the expected value method. At the
point of sale, a refund liability and a corresponding adjustment to

revenue is recognised for those products expected to be returned.

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised

and movements thereon during the current and prior year:

BEA IR AR WAL R 5 AT (R B R 1)
%5 1] E i G RE A o AR 4 T B O AR
O JEE S KB o 8 T TR (L vk A R AL A T T
MR B R o RS > BT E BB Y
TEE fity TEE AR 1 R B WA i R

VLR 3 AN 4R B2 T 1 4F B2 Rl AR Y 2 R S
BUH (B &) ARKILEE)

Accelerated
tax Lease Right-of-use
depreciation liabilities assets Total
i 28 7 0 A7 4 L £ 4 32 At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tk Tk Tk Tk
At 1 April 2022 MZFZZAENH—H 35 (396) 396 35
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss  (FFA)/Fnkk A 18 %%
(Note 12) (fff3E12) (30) (713) 713 (30)
At 31 March 2023 RoFRTEE
=ZA=+—H 5 (1,109) 1,109 5
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss ~ FMFXH,/ (FFA) H 4
(Note 12) (BF5E12) 695 (677) 730 748
At 31 March 2024 g Ja S
=H=+—H 700 (1,786) 1,839 753
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabilities A 90 A5 T e N LR R S R
2024 2023
e <y 111 F2 SRS
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THs T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the T BR A BB IR D 2 T il R Y
consolidated statement of financial position A SIE B TR o U AE (13) —
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the A5 G BATS IR UL 2R 0 HERR 1
consolidated statement of financial position 30 SiE A T 8 VS AR 766 5
753 5

At 31 March 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$55,261,000
(2023: HK$54,699,000) available to offset against future profits. No
deferred tax has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2024
are tax losses of approximately HK$2,579,000 (2023: HK$4,048,000)
that will expire within 5 years from the year of originating. Other tax

losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary
difference from continuing operations of HK$11,128,000 (2023:
HK$11,924,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the deductible temporary difference from continuing operations of
HK$11,128,000 (2023: HK$11,924,000) as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences can be utilised.

RO EDPESA = —H s AEFEA R
B A B 75 5 $255,261,0009 70 (—F — =
4F 1 54,699,000 J0) AT F 1 K 8 2R 2 i
I o ph S 48 3 T U A A i A B IR o T 4
MERRIEIERITE » A =B T E=H =+ —
H > o fle sl BB s 48 6 351 1A 2 A= 4 B e
LA A JiE T B S i 1E 49 2,579,000 % ot
(T =4F 04,048,000 70) o HABBE B
T 45 T 0 PR 5 o

R IR AR AR A R AR 2R
A 096k BT IR 2 A 511,128,000 UG (&
TS 011,924,000 70) o BRI REA
JRE SRRt ) A IG5 T 0 Bk BT R 2SR
S S A [ AR A A A S 0 AT s R 2R
A11,128,0007 7T (% = 4F 1 11,924,000
WET0) THE BRI JE Bl I 8 o
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Nominal value Number Share
per share of shares capital
A B T A B4 e H JBeA
HK$ HK$’000
T T
Authorised: WEIE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, MZEZ_FMNA—H
and 31 March 2024 *I:*@ H=+—H8 kK
ZENE=ZH=+—H 0.0025 4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: C#ETRBE -
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, Hﬁ:?::ilﬂl H—H-
and 31 March 2024
0.0025 3,107,893,440 7,770
2024 2023
R TYE e SE B
HK$°000 HK$000
T#T T
Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of T FT#{H R AE&E & MR
property, plant and equipment contracted for but R Y B 2 - i B
not provided in the consolidated financial A A B B B AR S
statements 315 2,377
The Group as a lessor AR A 25 AL

All of the investment properties held by the Group for rental purposes
have committed lessees for the next one to third years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

31 March 2024

R ORI B 3

AR E g2 A SaEy e
AR — 2 = AR N ORGE -

RIEIR

31 March 2023

TR Y4 S

=ZH=+—H =EH=4—H

HK$000 HK$°000

T THsTT

Within one year —AER 4,672 3,502

In the second year TN AR 2,898 1,799

In the third year A = AR 141 1,000

Total st 7,711 6,301
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

The Group’s borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s

assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets are as follows:

A B2 [ 9 £ 3K el A 42 T O A RE AR 4R
o MBS EMIREENT

2024 2023
TERTYE TR
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
Fi Tt T#T

Property, plant and equipment W~ R R
— Leasehold land and buildings — FHE - M Rt 18 7,496 66,072
Investment properties ®EWE 17 207,100 =
214,596 66,072

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. The
capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other borrowings
and lease liabilities disclosed in notes 27 and 28, respectively, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, accumulated losses and other

reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the management considers the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the management, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well

as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

A SR T H AT A B > LURE (R A S I
TR 25 S BB A0 Fr AR o IR IR R AL A
5 B JBEHE 14 -7 doe R AL BB R ] - A 4R 1
4 A B B B b — 4R LA SR AL o AR
T ) T A L 468 B k27 T 28 T 0 1l 4
4 SR AT T LA £ L B A B A N ERE
& BB HEY LLRA N FHEA N REALHE
i o LR COBAT A ~ R EH s 1 KA
o

B AR B AN o R
YCHF B A — 853 > A L 2 AR A T
BEL 2% 5 LA R I ) By o AR A B )
wf o A% A 9 A AR PB4 e B 1) M
A K2 8R4 40 8 2 B0 1) B0 A 5 DA -
T AL -
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(@)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments (a) T RS
2024 2023
TR TPYAE ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fusoo THT
Financial assets 4 i A B
Financial assets at amortised cost P B AT B 2 A Rl A R 52,122 66,953
Financial liabilities 4 il 21 1%
Amortised cost Tk 5 1 A 157,147 184,118
Lease liabilities NN 11,214 6,768

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings, refund liabilities, amount
due to a shareholder and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out

below.

Market risk
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk

during the year.

(1) Currency risk
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases and bank balances which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. They are mainly
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entity making the sale or purchases,
i.,e. USD or RMB.

Annual Report 2023/2024 4 #i
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1) Currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(b) o K B R R BOR ()

17 53 B (#)
G) R )

AR [ DA A RS S HE ) B R
T 5 e RN S A U A B T
T -

Liabilities Assets
F18 #E
2024 2023 2024 2023
—ERIONE F = —ERONE =

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

T#T THT T#T THT

USD N 790 1,135 16 347

RMB NG — = 62 54
The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange 7 A% 18 B i S A A FE 35 P g

hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

The directors of the Company consider that the overall
currency risk is not significant as there are no material
foreign currency risk exposure of USD as the USD is
pegged with the HKD and the bank balance of RMB is
minimal. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is prepared
and presented.

W o BRI - AR [ R B
HIREEJEVgE - A IR A e R
JiE ) O I J B

AR S S R A T B
WAEER > FIECEECH
LR SOV G NG )
B o TN RRE SR AT &S BROFAS
Z o A - S AR 3 T 2 5
BREE ST -
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (Note 27),
lease liabilities (Note 28). The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (Note 23), variable-rate bank borrowings (Note
27) and amount due to a shareholder (Note 26). The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on borrowings and
amount due to a shareholder. The Group aims at keeping
borrowings and amount due to a shareholder at variable
rates. The Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of borrowings in
fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within

reasonable range.

Interest expense on financial liabilities not at FVTPL:

S 5 I o Y B ) A B BOSRE ()

B I 57 (4
(i) I

A 85 T B L i 7 ) R SRAT I
A A B (B RE27) ~ AR &
o (BfF 5E28) A7 Bl (9 2 ~F 2 7
B s SE PN A
H S SRAT 45 8k (B 5E23) ~ W)
5 M) R ARAT 15 K (M 5E27) K
JBE A — 45 e R A (Hf 5E26)
A B B A AR o AR
P S 0 L ) 3 By A v
TEAE ORI 2 14 5 B) B AT — 44
JBHRCEKIR » A SE B Y H AR AR
TR B0 B M A — 42 P ARk
TH o 7R B FH 7 R AR A A< K-
e iy S5 ik A ) 3 58 ) i 1
TR S 2B A B EL R SRy o
AL 7 o A T R T i A
R LA o S AR LR IR
HEE A -

RI AR I W S E A DA
BEF P

2024 2023
TR —E =
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#t THIT
Interest expense FE B X
Financial liabilities at amortised cost PR AT R Z &
B 7,157 4,857
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % — & " U4 = H =+ —H IL 4

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i1)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
100 basis point (2023:

decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings and amount due

100 basis points) increase or

to a shareholder represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
borrowings and amount due to a shareholder is

insignificant.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended
31 March 2024 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,143,000 (2023: HK$1,183,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank borrowings and amount due to a

shareholder.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased
during the current year mainly due to the increase in

variable-rate bank borrowings.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF & 2 B (

(b)

S 5 L o Y B ) A R BOSRE ()
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and

other receivables, deposits and bank balances.

Trade receivables arising from contract with customers
In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue

debts and the management considers that the Group’s credit risk

is significantly reduced accordingly.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 97% (2023: 98%)
and 97% (2023: 98%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk,

management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for

determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables with significant balances
individually. Except for debtors with significant balances, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to the Group’s aging of
outstanding balances. Impairment of HK$51,000 (2023:
HK$709,000) is recognised during the year. Details of the

quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance

was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that there is no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition due to the
amount defaulted and unsecured and the Group provided

impairment based on 12m ECL.
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

(b) o E K B R R BOR ()

15 B K (A7)
A A T A TR WAl B4 P B A LB

5 LR R

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
A £ T AR ik JE Wi Bk Al
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts — not credit-impaired
K2 B BT 07 HE AR - B RAE Aa O 2EEEEEE 128 7 S5 e 4R
— LS A
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
usually settle in full — not credit-impaired
BELR EHAGHEEIW A ZER  HE%20EH 2UHENGEEER 128 7 T F i 8
— i A5 E A
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
risk since initial recognition through — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
GE 3 B A3 P B ) R BN BRI R L 2 IS B R EWFIE R
A i IR L — A AE A — A A
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
fis RN G R R W ME EEE WM E i HE
— R B E — R
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery
s ARBEAEEARARERMHERELASE MG HEH S A B
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s

financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

S 5 L o Y B ) A R BOSRE ()

15 B K (A7)

R R A A < R £
B ZROEAT FI(S SR IR ATAY -

2024 2023
External Internal R E TR C=E
Credit rating  Credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying Gross carrying
SV AL AR 124 H 52 1 amount amount
AR i B e T 40 R T 4 i
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
Mt 7 Tl Tk
Financial assets
at amortised cost
RGN AR 0 A
Trade receivables (note (i) 22 NA Low risk Lifetime ECL 28,333 40,808
— not credit-impaired
(individual assessment)
Lifetime ECL 803 025
(collective assessment)
JE R (B ) N1 1B Y B EEHE
— O SfE B
(B L 3 A5)
Y BN EREE
(SR FTAL)
29,136 41,433
Other receivables and deposits 22 N/A (note (ii)) 12m ECL 11,931 13,855
JMME R Rdk & AR (B3 i) 12 A T 15 S 4
Bank balances 23 AA N/A 12m ECL 12,700 13,108
AT R AA NG 124 7 T 5 HE s
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Notes:

@) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
debtors with significant balances or credit impaired which are assessed
individually, the Group determines the expected credit losses on these

items collectively, grouped by past due status.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
ageing to assess the impairment of trade receivables from the remaining
customers because these customers share common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL

(not credit-impaired).

S 5 I o Y B A B BOSRE ()

15 B AR (A7)
W

@) ORGSR = - AL RN A
B B v 5 0 9 e A AL 7
VA5 8 2 JU T390 £ B0 M 4R O i 1R 30
i o B AT R A R B B8R i
B N CHLME BB AT A7) 1 o A< SR [
AR DL AL > e E %R R E
Y B (5 S -

AE T A 4 T {5 65 JEL B A 3 A — 38
G > 74 S I R G5 A B A4 R
&R R O - R A AR
%P AA IR REEF
i BB #0033 0 A R Y
AE ) o T R A B AR 4R I HE iR
S R R I B R % S R
DR A A SR G
e BEUAR) TR0 A 4 B SR o

Average Gross carrying
loss rate amount
-4 i 4 R R T 48 L
%o HK$°000
% T#x

31 March 2024 R WE=ZA=Z+—H
Current B 4 - -
Less than 2 months past due b 28 A 12.01 78
2 to 3 months past due w2 Z= 3 A — —
Over 90 days past due A0 K DA 100.00 725
803
Average Gross carrying
loss rate amount
T34 i 18 % iR T A8 (E
% HK$’000
% TH#IT

31 March 2023 ZEI=EF=EZHA=1—H
Current B 3 0.02 2
Less than 2 months past due i 248 A 5.78 12
2 to 3 months past due i 12 2 340 H 41.38 6
Over 90 days past due o0 K DA I 84.85 605
625
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

@

(ii)

(Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant

information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised an
impairment of approximately HK$51,000 (2023: HK$709,000) for trade

receivables.

In determining the ECL, the Group has taken into account the historical
settlement record, past experience and forward-looking information as
appropriate. There had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. During the year ended 31 March 2024, an
impairment of approximately HK$152,000 (2023: HK$6,000) is
recognised on other receivables and deposits. For the remaining other
receivable balances, the Group has considered the consistently low
historical default rate in connection with payments and concluded that

credit risk inherent in these balances is insignificant.

(b)

S 5 L o Y B ) A R BOSRE ()

15 B B ()
Bt 5E © (4)
(i) (#8)

(ii)

il T s 48 3 B FRUBE N TR 4 0 0
TR A R AT AT 8 2 A
o 5% g B AT A B W A R A
S o A L @ S AR R B S AR
AR 1 52 0B A AR B R A DL SR
o

WEWE R NE=H=1—H1t
AR RE 5 A 45 I it R M AR S Y
51,0009 7T (22— =4F 709,000
Jo) °

AR E TG SRR > AL E
1% 5 i JE L A5 A ek AR
S0 T T S VR R o B R TERE DA
2 > 5 4 T Bt Sl 0 B A e A AR
EOERONE=H =1+ —HIEH
BE o R At JRE i R TE K 4
I (E 47152,000%5 76 (% = = AR ¢
6,0007C) AR T 1Y H AL IR
AR S o A 5 R B B S A A
B 1 R S 3 4 R — B ARG A5 o &%
Hi o AL ERI AR SRR A K o
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) B b A5 L R R BOR ()
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) 1 B B ()
The following table shows the reconciliation of loss allowances R O R R R 8 5 O i
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the it 8 114 fles 4928 A AR -
simplified approach.
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
2 W
5 s 1R
(Olf 4 £ B oUAFL)
HK$°000
T
As at 1 April 2022 W_F__FWH—H 828
Changes due to financial instruments recognised A FE AN A —H C R

as at 1 April 2022: PR 46 il L A 1 s )

— Impairment loss reversed — BRI EEE (828)
New financial assets A R 1,433
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2023 WEE D CEZA=ZF—H K

—EF-=HDIA—H 1,433
Changes due to financial instruments recognised AZEZZFMA — B E R

as at 1 April 2023: [H] 4 T T EL s A i sl

— Impairment loss reversed — OB A 1R (1,433)
New financial assets B4 il 1,484
As at 31 March 2024 RZFEZWEZH =+—H 1,484
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern
basis

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major lenders to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and

longer term.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$79,545,000. The Group’s bank balances and
cash as at 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$12,700,000 as compared to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings and amount due to a shareholder of approximately
HK$110,965,000 and HK$25,909,000 respectively, of which
approximately HK$20,200,000 are repayable within the next
twelve months from the end of the reporting period. In view of
this, the directors of the Company have given careful

consideration to the future liquidity of the Group.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative

financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting

period.

(b)

S 5 L o Y B ) A R BOSRE ()

I 3 35 < B TR 25 A A 2 T o
#

A S 0 () TSR 2y A U 0 T A 7
W B0 B B R HEAR LR B TE
B AL B SRAERE
BB R A A R R L AN
R R B & /K -

HEF-NE=ZA=+—HI%
B AREFN BB ABTFHELRS
79,545,000 JC o AS4E H] ik — %
EZH = HRITE S S
#15512,700,000%5 70 - M 4 58 8] 1) $)
A7 B L Ath £ 3R DL R HE AT — 44 B R
KA 5> B #) £5110,965,000 % JC &
25,909,000 7G > L #1 %120,200,000
5 I 2B A e 4 A AR R A R AR
87 R ER - AR AN R E
FH O AL F A A A B 1 o

N R A S IR AT AR e AR
AR BREEN o RN A LM
JR ST B f S 2 A 1 R M B
<l B B 4 v AR R o A R AN
A <l B AR B EI ) F T LA B E 2R
H 5 B o

FZROFAAFE LA GHEWE -
TEFE &R Z SR T - K5
B B WO R R G -

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M & 24 B (¥ 1) 4 FR 23 W] 231



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao 1 S 205 i I

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) B R b B B AR & BOR ()
(Continued)
Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern T B B 452 M B e 34 A A A8 i A
basis (Continued) ()
As at 31 March 2024 WZFE D E=H=—+—H

More than More than

Weighted 1 year but 2 years but Total
average Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

T AR AR K M5
RRZLIES HEER —4H SPRWE AORLE  BEREEE T £

% HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T

Financial liabilities included in 5T A [ERTHRK B I {E

“trade and other payables” FHEOR ] & B A - - 20,273 - - 20,273 20,273
Bank and other borrowings SRAT R At 2 548 110,965 - — — 110,965 110,965
Amount due to a shareholder & i — 4 1 SR OB 3.88 25,909 - — - 25,909 25,909

136,874 20,273 - - 157,147 157,147
Lease liabilities A 3.72-6.06 - 5230 3,691 3,129 12,050 11,214
As at 31 March 2023 RoFE DDA =1—H
More than More than
Weighted 1 year but 2 years but Total
average Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
it B — 4 bl KB
RRLIES JEZ K —HR DRWAE EPREE BRENEAE R (B

% HK$°000 HKS000 HKS 000 HK$°000 HKS000 HKS$'000
THT THT THR THT THT THR

Financial liabilities included in AT TREAT B 3 B L e

“trade and other payables” R | 4 R £ £ = = 24,472 = = 24,472 24472
Bank and other borrowings AT BRI AR 497 79,737 = - — 79,737 79,737
Amount due to a shareholder T — 4, I R AR 3.63 79,909 = = = 79,909 79,909

159,646 24472 — — 184,118 184,118
Lease liabilities MEaR 3.27-5.72 — 2,905 2,553 1,690 7,148 6,768
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) B i A L R R BOR (A
(Continued)
Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern T B B 452 M B e 35 A A A
basis (Continued) ()
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are I A 47 B SRR 2 A R 1 RAT A KR
included in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity A b SCEHH 2B TR IR R
analysis. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate carrying amounts HEA R F WE=H=+—
of these bank borrowings amounted to HK$110,965,000 (2023: H o> 5% % SRAT M85 3K 00 S i 44 (E 5
HK61,737,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial 110,965,000 % JG (= & = = 4 :
position, the management does not believe that it is probable that 61,737,0004% 70) o £8°% [ A 4L [H )
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand MBS AR - S HER  SAT AR
immediate repayment. The management believes that such bank K AT R AT fdE 15 HE 2K S R
borrowings will be repaid after the end of the reporting period in AN o B LG AAGE » RS SRAT IS UM
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the R B 3 Toh e T i 2 T 2 R K A
loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below: B TR R R AER > SRR
&R
Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings with a repayment on B H T — BT R ARG
demand clause based on scheduled repayments B SRAT A5 R (B A st (82 19 L)
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but Total
Within less than less than More than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash outflows amount
147 24 RUEBBLE
RUER  EAR2E HDRSE IS4 i 48 e T i
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000

TET Ti#T TET Ti#T TET Ti#T
31 March 2024 ZETNE=ZH=+—H 15,426 15,426 38,192 64,610 133,654 110,965
31 March 2023 SERCEEEAEt—H 11,540 10,234 26,122 24,936 72,832 61,737
Fair value measurement of financial instruments (c) & THMAFHEF R

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts

of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the

consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF & B4 B (¥ 5 ) f BR 2 ®]

AN HEERS > ARSI HE
it R ) < L E B 4 B AN R
T L B P (AR A
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The table below details the changes in the Group’s liabilities from I FERE I AP T S ) BT E A A A
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. By > WA K IE B E) o BUE S B A
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash FE AR B B i SRR B B
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s AREEZ 4 AR ER N EHE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing WHE 2B EREZ AR -

activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BB R OPUUE=H=1+—HILFERE

Interest payable

on bank
Amount and other
Bank Other due to a borrowings and Lease
borrowings borrowings shareholder  a shareholder liabilities Total
TE A 8RAT
RHAL
R —% s R—%
AT fE e flfii JRe sk JBe SRA HE R K it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#x T#x T T#x T#x T
(Note 27) (Note 27) (Note 26) (Note 24) (Note 28)
(HE27) (H3E27) (Hf3E26) (Hrzk24) (Hff3E28)
At 1 April 2023 REZFZ=HMA—H 61,737 18,000 79,909 654 6,768 167,068
Financing cash flows MEH &R 49,228 (18,000) (54,000) (6,512) (4,815) (34,099)
Non-cash movements FH 8
Interest expenses FE B % - - - 7,157 620 7,771
New lease entered el E — - - - 8,641 8,641
Total other changes oA 5 8y AL A — — — 7,157 9,261 16,418
At 31 March 2024 i S 2
ZH=+—H 110,965 — 25,909 1,299 11,214 149,387
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BRER_=EZH=EHA=1T—HIESEE
Interest payable
on bank
Amount and other
Bank Other due to a borrowings and a Lease
borrowings borrowings shareholder shareholder liabilities Total
JE i 4T
B
JEr—%  ERUE—%4
HAThE R HAufax & A IE & il L& f M5t
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000
TH#T T T TH#T T T
(Note 27) (Note 27) (Note 26) (Note 24) (Note 28)
(Mf3E27) (W3E27) (Fif7E26) (Mf3k24) (Hf3E28)
At 1 April 2022 REZZZZHENH—H 71,993 28,000 = 1,413 2,579 103,985
Financing cash flows MER SR (54,156) (10,000) 79,909 (5,616) (2,690) 7447
Non-cash movements ;E }Rﬁ %Eﬁ
Interest expenses BB = — — 4,857 111 4,968
New lease entered B HHE = = — — 6,770 6,770
Exchange realignment T 56, 3 — - - - 2 )
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y — B 2 A 43,900 — — — — 43,900
Total other changes Hofth 2 B A 43,900 — — 4,857 6,879 55,636
At 31 March 2023 REFZ=A
=H=+—H 61,737 18,000 79,909 654 6,768 167,068
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On 13 March 2023, the Group acquired 100% interest in Daisyluck
Industries Limited (“Daisyluck”) which is a property holding company

with its investment property located in Hong Kong.

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test in
accordance with HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and concluded that
the investment property is the single identifiable asset. Consequently,
the Group determined that substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a group of similar identifiable assets
and concluded that the acquired set of activities and assets is not a

business.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition

W ZAE=ZHH=H > A E S
HIEZEARAR (T4 K100%H#E &5 -
HA— MY EERAT > EEEWZENR

7 4 R 25 45 AR A 9 O G AR R U2 3 9%
[ER5 & BF JRORLE > PR T4 0 42 B3
Al o BT E SR Y A B — A B E
FOA% - A SR A E O WS008 B 1 P
AR AT o3 4 vp A — ALY R A E
f7 7 AT P 15 Bl B Al I — TS

TP WA B 0 e A e LR

HK$°000

T

Investment property [id<g//E A 125,000

Prepayments and deposits TE A O R 4% 4 1

Trade and other payables, and accruals R AT B 3 e HE At R A5 K I DA K% e ST (1,031)
Receipt in advance for leasing of an LS 15 0 ) 3 4 T R

investment property (162)

Bank and other borrowings SRAT S HAE (43,900)

79,908

Net cash outflows arising on acquisition of Daisyluck

WA B 5% B i A ) B O A

HK$°000
BRCED

Consideration paid in cash

VLB & AT o AR AR

79,908
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % — & " U4 = H =+ —H IL 4

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions and

balances with its related parties during the year:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed

in Note 10 and other senior management of the Group are as

I 17 7S B 15 0k 2 LA 36 0 B0 8 1) 28 5 I A
BRAN > A B [ B B9 Oy 9 4R TR B A2 B I A
RN ¢

(a) EEEHABH WM
A48 ) 3 A TN B BRI AL 4 MY 5
1077 9% % £ A A 2 7] # 35 g A 4 )
St 8 4 L KO R

follows:

2024 2023
TR —E =

HK$°000 HK$’000
T#T T#T
Short-term employee benefits 548 B AR A 10,895 16,757
Retirement benefit IR AR AE A 157 152
11,052 16,909

In addition to the amounts above, the Group also provides other
non-monetary benefits (such as accommodation) to key
management personnel. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
no depreciation of property, plant and equipment in relation to
these non-monetary benefits (2023: HK$800,000).

B LAl B RS > AR R 1 R
N B4R A IR B AR A (nfE
185) e WE_FZ _WFE=H=1+—H
R4 BT - B 5% 4 I B W AR U A
W2 ~ OGS Dol g 5 (%
Z=4F £ 800,0005 7T) e
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H Ik 4 £

238

(b)

Transactions with related parties (b) BAPETTR S
2024 2023
Name of Nature of balances/ ZRI4 R
related parties Relationship transactions HK$’000 HK$’000
B L5 4 : o L A T T
Palaeontol B.V. An entity where Mr. Cheung Rental income
Siu Fai, the chairman and
executive director of the
Company, is having
significant influence 3 =
ANFERHBTERROE HERA
SAERAERYENZ TR
Greatmax Investment An entity wholly owned by Ms. Rental expenses
Limited Leung Lisa, a substantial
shareholder of the Company 80 —
FELEARAE Anul FEREREEMR L L HEMX
2EWMAZHE
Sunex Limited An entity wholly owned by Interest expenses on
Mr. Chan Yan Tak, a lease liabilities — 4
substantial shareholder of the
Company (Note a)
A R A A ) O R S A BA A B X
BEEA 2 (W 5Ea)
EC Star Trading Limited ~ An entity wholly owned by Interest expenses on
Mr. Chan Yan Tak, a lease liabilities — 3
substantial shareholder of the
Company (Note a)
BH 5 A RAF Apm TERRMEEEE  AEAEANEHL
REWA L (Hita)
Galaxy Centre Limited An entity wholly owned by Interest expenses on
Mr. Chan Yan Tak, a lease liabilities _ 4
substantial shareholder of the
Company (Note a)
B A R A AR EEBRMBEEE  HEAMASHX
EEHA ZHRE (Hita)
Excel Galaxy Limited An entity wholly owned by Interest expenses on
Mr. Chan Yan Tak, a lease liabilities _ 4
substantial shareholder of the
Company (Note a)
B IR AL/\?i%&%KFﬂi@F?ﬁtt B & A 8P
(T3 ) BEHA ZHE (Hika)
Supremium A subsidiary of Aggressive Sales of products to
Bio-Technology Resources, an associate of Supremium — 65
Limited the Group (Note b) mﬁ.rﬁl@ﬁ FE An
(“Supremium”) Consultancy fee paid
JEEAMBHARAR  AEENEEAR Aggresswe to Supremium — 25
([Jf 1) ResourcesH’J WJ% 1) i ] S A5 7 o 2
(FffiEb)
Hammer Capital (Hong Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, an Sales of products to
Kong) Limited executive director of the Hammer Capital
(“Hammer Capital”) Company, is also a director
of Hammer Capital — 549

BISEAR CFik) AIR
KFETBREEAR])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % — & " U4 = H =+ —H IL 4

(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
Notes:

a. Mr. Chan Yan Tak ceased to be a substantial shareholder on
7 November 2022. Accordingly, all these transactions amounts

disclosed were up to 7 November 2022.

b. Aggressive Resources ceased to be an associate of the Group with effect
from 20 June 2022.

(¢) Interest on amount due to a shareholder
During the year, interest expenses amounted to approximately
HK$1,266,000 were incurred for amount due to a shareholder
(2023: HK$182,000).

Details of amounts due to a shareholder is disclosed on Note 26.

(d) Balances with related parties
Rental receivables of approximately HK$3,000 was due from
Palaeontol B.V. as at 31 March 2024 and as included as trade

receivables in Note 22.

The Company operates a share option scheme under which options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company are granted to selected
eligible participants.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 September
2023, the shareholders of the Company approved a new share option
scheme (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) and the 2023 Share Option
Scheme was adopted by the Company on 27 September 2023 upon a
listing approval from the Stock Exchange, where the share option
scheme adopted on 11 October 2013 (the “2013 Share Option
Scheme”) was terminated on the same date. No share option was
granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed or outstanding under the 2013
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024 when it
was terminated with effect from the adoption of 2023 Share Option
Scheme on 27 September 2023. No further share option could be
granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme after its termination.

(b) BB TR 5 ()
B

a. BREBEMEEER _F_—_4F+—At
HOR A L Z R - Hk > fr
BB ZELH ML E %
—ZE+—HLH-

b. H_Z__#~"A_+H#:
Aggressive Resources AN i J& 7 45 [#]
O] k= /ARSI

() MEAT—2 B AGKIEZ R B
AN R AT — 44 R R T E AR R
BB S 491,266,000 70 (—%F — =
4F 1 182,000%5 7C)

JREA5F— 42 B R0 T R A A B 326
Pz -

(d) PR &5 6%
JRE Wi FH 4 93,0005 JC H Palaeontol
BV. A F MNE=H=+—H&
R N T B 22 R B 2 B A AR K

Zli’\j A W e T %Tﬂt ALY
Y I PSR A A ’JAféff%
,/\%‘

ARNFRZF =A== H BT
FORAFER G E > AL TR HE B I R A
At & ([ AR sl ) > 7ER
B pr LT HLHERR » AAFR 2 EF 2=
JUH =+ £ B R =% = = A I e s
B MR = F = A BRI
JR R G ) ([ 22— =40 i A i et 3 ) R 1)
HA L o 8 =% — AR R R Rt B4 0k
HEZ =R R —F —=F 0
HZ+EHEEME  BE_F NFE=
H=+—H1LFE - Mm% — =M
RERFH T 09 M BEHEC A2 b~ 4708 ~ GRS
B RATE - *%—iﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%%iﬂ
HAELME > MREEARRHIE — PR B
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

Movements of share options Vi B WEE 5 )

2013 Share Option Scheme R EAEER A

Movements of the share options during the years ended 31 March 2024 BE X PER R EFEEH =
and 2023 are listed below in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing HRAFRE - AR iR 0 58 17 3 Jo R R
Rules: HIE T Tt IR RE R S B T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #EZEZ A=A = — HIEFEE

Number of share options

i B A 0
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Exercised Lapsed as at
Category 1 April 2023  during the year  during the year 31 March 2024
) R S T E AR
WH—H =ZH=+—H
il RAT AERATRE ERRRK RAT
Continuous Contract Employees FEGHREE — — — —
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_F =] = — HIFFEE
Number of share options
S s A o
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Exercised Lapsed as at
Category 1 April 2022 during the year during the year 31 March 2023
WoF 4 RoF =4
WA —H EH=—F
il RAT AT R RAT
Continuous Contract Employees FEAHEE 12,000,000 = 12,000,000 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % — & " U4 = H =+ —H IL 4

Movements of share options (Continued)

2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their
weighted average exercise prices for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

Jilh JBC M B ) ()

DR =R A (4

RBE-Z-MER B - ZF=H
S BIRARTE AT BRI
T 447 G 2 BB

Weighted Number of
average shares issuable
exercise price under options
per share granted
A% i 452
BEIRRE B AT AT
T3 47 5 4 Z B A
HKS$
It
At 1 April 2022 RZFEZ_AEMA—H 0.18 12,000,000
Lapsed during the year GNP R 0.18 (12,000,000)
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 ﬁi\:?*jﬁjﬂ =t—HK
“ECNE=H=+—H — —
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were no share options that were M oFE T WNER -FE CFEZH =+

outstanding and exercisable.

2023 Share Option Scheme
During the year ended 31 March 2024, no share option was granted,
exercised, cancelled, lapsed or outstanding under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme (2023: N/A).

’IW* T B T AT 8 22 i PR A

DR AR A
MEE-FNE=A=+—HILFE -
ML — = AR RO R BT 0 B b
B~ AT FEEY - RBEE R AT (S F
TEAE AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 and 31 M_FZPUE=ZH = —H A ZF =
March 2023 are as follows: ZA=E+T—H > FEMBAR LG
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment Class of issued and paid-up
Name and operation shares held capital  Percentage of equity attributable to the Company Principal activities
kL, DRI RAE
H i A REE S A bR IR A 7R WEAY 5 43 ER =]
Direct Indirect
Hik 1 B
2024 2023 2024 2023
CERINE SERDCE CFRONE SR
% % % %
Able One Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - — 100 100 Provision of original equipment
manufacturing services
HREARA R ik Lyl it SRR A A RS
Best Billion Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 — — 100 100 Provision of general administrative
services
EEARA i & 10,0003 7 R M AT BB
Creation Chance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - — 100 100 Sale of health and beauty

supplements and products and
provision of general
administrative services

KA A i il L SR B A O i AR
it — BT BUR B

CULegend Company Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 Trading of health and beauty
Limited supplements and products
e RPERRER & i LT B AR T A R
AT (R - 5 R
PERRARAT)
Daisyluck Industries Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$4,000,000 — — 100 100 Property holding
SEMHEARAR it TiE 4,000,000 7 ESEE)

Eastern Bright (Asia) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - — 100 100 Provision of management services
Limited to other Group companies
FHE (B HIRA i il i T At 5 A 20 S A3

%
Giant Bloom Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 Property holding
Limited
FREMARAR R i LT LESSE]
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment Class of issued and paid-up
Name and operation shares held capital  Percentage of equity attributable to the Company Principal activities
kAL DRI R4
1 A REEE ARG ER TR AR AN T REAG HE R T 43 b FEEH
Direct Indirect
Hik I £
2024 2023 2024 2023
“ERONE SR =F CFONE SF =R
% % % %
Health Proof International Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - — 100 100 License holding
Company Limited
R R PR A RN i EE 177t FEA MR
Hong Kong Ever Spring Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - — 100 100 Manufacturing and sale of health
Medicine Factory and beauty supplements and
Limited products
BN ENERARAR & il 1Tt e BRI R E A R
E IIY:I‘Y
Medalist Limited BVI Ordinary USS1 - — 100 100 Trademark holding
KRELHE B IS FEH R
Power Regal International Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 — — 100 100 Property holding
Limited
N B BA R i il 1T WERH
Rich Sunny Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HKSI — — 100 100 Property holding and
Limited investment holding
HHRE A R i i it WERH R EHR
RM Group Holdings Limited ~ BVI Ordinary USS11 100 100 — — Investment holding
METEMERARART  HEELHE L@ e BB
RM Investment Holding Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$101 - — 100 100 Investment holding
(H.K.) Limited (former
namely: Wisdom Come
Medical Group Limited)
HEEREER (Fik) ik T 1017#7T BB
AR (RIRE -
WEEMARAT)
Royal Medic (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 — — 100 100 License holding
Limited
e () ARAT Kk HE 1003#7C A
Royal Richly (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS!1 — — 100 100 Property holding
Limited
5 (B HRAR ik T LT LR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment Class of issued and paid-up
Name and operation shares held capital  Percentage of equity attributable to the Company Principal activities
Ak AR AL, CRITRER
H AL R R R AR JReA A RO T REAG HE £ T 43 b FEEH
Direct Indirect
B GiEES
2024 2023 2024 2023
CEONE SF O CRONE R CCE
% % % %
Wisdom Health Products Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 — — 100 100 Trading of health and beauty
Company Limited supplements and products,
and investment holding
RUB R AR AT i i 27T DRI R 2 A 4 o O 2 5
BB EHR
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the b RGN BEAR S ) R R Ay e B A A [ AR
opinion of the director of the Company principally affected the results BOE R R BRI AR F) B A F] o AR
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in NEIE SRR A o PR AR B A\ B FE G
the opinion of the director of the Company, result in particulars of EEHREREAR -
excessive length.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the HELEE T B N B AME 45 H B TSRS i 2 -
year.
No financial information of the non-wholly owned subsidiary is 4T IF 2 5 I B 2 7] 1 B RS R A 4 4 B
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements as the non-controlling TR E > BTy N IE e RE 25 S A 4R
interest is not material to the Group. B A E A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ — % U4 = H =+ —H IL 45

2024 2023
TR TR R =
HK$000 HK$°000
T T T
Non-current assets I B A
Investments in subsidiaries T BT T8 2 Y 4% 38,561 38,561
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRRE Wiz i Jogg /A ) 3 B 285,135 289,847
323,696 328,408
Current assets N
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TAAT R ~ 40 4 B Al JRE iR 336 522
Cash and cash equivalents Bl B EY) 1,496 1,307
1,832 1,829
Current liabilities i B A 1R
Accruals and other payables JRE T ) % F Al A5 5 I 3,210 5,603
Bank and other borrowings SRAT B HA 5 3k 52,857 78,446
Amount due to a shareholder A — 4 B Rk R 25,909 79,909
Amounts due to subsidiaries JREASF B Ja 2 ) 5k 0E 304,043 225,607
Tax payable JRE A ol 1L 40 —
386,059 389,565
Net current liabilities T B A (384,227) (387,736)
Net liabilities FAE T (60,531) (59,328)
Equity B2
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN A N TEAG AR
Share capital AR 7,770 7,770
Reserves it i (68,301) (67,098)
Deficiency in capital & A g Al (60,531) (59,328)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # % —F " JU4E = H =+ —H L4

Movement in the Company’s reserves N/ A
Share  Contributed  Share option  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
B A3 ¥t 20 N AatiEH At
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
Tt T Tt T Tt
(Note a)
(i 3Ea)
At 1 April 2022 REFEZZFNH—H 424,497 38,541 4,340 (546,362) (78,984)
Changes in equity for 2023: RS
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4 X i Il % 4 T ¢ 4t 488 = = = 11,886 11,886
Share options lapsed B K I — - (4,340) 4340 —
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 REFZZFEZA=ZF—HE
“ETZFNA—H 424,497 38,541 - (530,136) (67,098)
Changes in equity for 2024: RIS
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year 4 [A 518 K 22 1T B 52 404 - — — (1,203) (1,203)
At 31 March 2024 B oEZNE=ZA=Z+—H 424,497 38,541 — (531,339) (68,301)
Note a: Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value of the MiiiEa : BIABERIEA A A ST I8 2 T B

ordinary shares issued by the Company and the net asset value of

subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group

reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of

the Stock Exchange.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
E IR

Attributable interest

Location Use Tenure of the Group

Ao Fl & LA A A B A R i

No. 127 Kweilin Street, Kowloon, Commercial and residential Medium term lease 100%
Hong Kong

s SUREAE AR 12758 7 A Hh S AE 49 100%

7th Floor of “11 Macdonnell Road”, Residential Medium term lease 100%
No. 11 Macdonnell Road, Hong Kong

TWAEBEIVRN [ FESELIR]  EE T 4 100%
7HE

27th Floor of The Galaxy, No. 313 Industrial Medium term lease 100%
Castle Peak Road, Kwai Chung,
Hong Kong

TR E LI AMIBW R P 027 T2 AT 49 100%

21st Floor of Man Shing Industrial Industrial Medium term lease 100%
Building, No. 307-311 Castle Peak
Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

FWZME LA BK307-311 5881 L3 13 HAE 100%

KE 21

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JIF & B4 B (¥ 5 ) f BR 2 ®]
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

St 755 Bt 2

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“ECRE R —FE-C SECCE S RTUE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
RV R P ARV RV T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: R EET -
Revenue i 35 303,854 223,147 155,639 216,127 235,586
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrBir (Rs 18tk A1 (5,327) (116,325) (38,494) 43,766 4,574
Taxation BiIH (5,424) (7,770) (2,755) (2,590) (4,056)
(Loss)/profit for the year from FFEREETZ
continuing operations R (B 1R) /i (10,751) (124,095) (41,249) 41,176 518
DISCONTINUED DRIEBEEE
OPERATIONS:
Loss for the year from discontinued £ #% IF §848 27 2
operations N R (140,916) (1,573) (3,136) (423) —
(Loss)/profit for the year N (EE) R (151,667) (125,668) (44,385) 40,753 518
(Loss)/profit for the year AN R A REAG
attributable to owners of the EN(ER), A
Company
— from continuing operations — RARERE
S (10,966) (126,010) (41,379) 41,296 571
— from discontinued — RHERILEE
operations EHK (128,724) (1,367) (2,509) (260) —
(139,690) (127,377) (43,888) 41,036 571
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
CERCEE SR DECE SR CFE R
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THIT Tt T-H T THIT T
Total assets B 438,857 208,328 246,773 339,446 344,334
Total liabilities B8 =R (306,044) (189,291) (144,118) (196,036) (172,726)
Total equity HE 25 132,813 19,037 102,655 143,410 171,608
Equity attributable to owners EVNIE: 2PN T
of the Company 1 2% 142,713 21,054 105,159 146,007 172,887

BE-Z RFR_F_—F=ZA=Z1+—HIk
A FE Y bL B RN 48 T 5 > DA FI 2 %) Advance
Rider 4 [#] (1F 2% 4 IR 4878 675) 92645 -

The comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2021
have not been re-presented to separately present the results of Advance Rider

Group as discontinued operations.
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